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Our Mission

Contribute to a safer Western Australian community

The key focus for the Department of Corrective Services is to contribute to 
community safety by upholding the integrity of custodial and non-custodial sen-
tences and by positively influencing offender behaviour to reduce re-offending.

To help us achieve these key outcomes we will enhance our capability and 
strengthen partnerships with those who also contribute to our outcomes and 
mission, with a focus on fulfilling our corporate social responsibilities.

The outcome we aspire to achieve

A safe, secure and decent corrective services which contributes to  
community safety and reduces offenders’ involvement in the justice system.

The Department’s outcome describes what we aspire to achieve for the com-
munity. All the work we do aligns to this idea and is reinforced through our busi-
ness outcomes which are:

n contributing to community safety

n reducing re-offending

n contributing to community wellbeing through our service activities

n  fulfilling our obligations as a government agency through operational compli-
ance and enhanced capability.

Our Values

Teamwork
n Working positively together with unity of purpose

n Supporting, trusting and respecting each other

n Recognising positive outcomes require a collaborative approach.

Achievement
n Doing what we say we are going to do

n Recognising and celebrating our achievements

n Delivering innovative and effective services.

Professionalism
n We have a clear understanding of, and focus on, our business outcomes

n We are honest, open and accountable

n We value our integrity

n We make socially-responsible decisions.

People
n Recognising the importance of staff and their wellbeing

n Recognising and valuing differences

n Treating all people with understanding and empathy

n  A workplace that is free from bullying, harassment, discrimination and a 
blame culture.

Partnerships
n Across Departmental divisions

n With the community

n With State and national government agencies

n With non-government organisations.

–––

ABOUT US
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Corrective Services is a dynamic and challenging environment that is vital to 
maintaining an effective criminal justice system and community safety. Being 
charged with managing some of the State’s most challenging people provides 
inevitable lows along with some wonderful highs.

 This year was no exception to the many and varied challenges historically 
faced by staff from across the Department that operates throughout Western 
Australia. I am also very proud to say it was a year of significant achievement, 
more detail of which is in the following pages.

Three areas of particular focus this year were self sustainability, acknowledging 
our corporate social responsibility and making a positive difference.

 

Self Sustainability

The focus on self sustainability will continue to grow as we make every effort to 
utilise the skills and experience of staff 
and offenders to meet the growing 
needs of the Department.

Significant progress has been 
achieved during the past year with 
food production (market gardens, or-
chards, bakeries, dairy production and 
an abattoir) a key focus.

Prison industries and offenders on 
community work orders manufacture 
goods used throughout the system - 
everything from furniture to prisoner 
clothing, printed material, corporate 
gifts and in some instances signifi-
cant infrastructure, construction and 
maintenance.

The various talents and experiences 
of staff are also utilised to provide 
training, develop programs and carry 
out tasks often outsourced in other 
areas of Government such as photog-
raphy and graphic design.

The economic and social benefits of such activities are enormous, saving tax-
payers’ money, providing constructive activity and increasing the employment 
skills of offenders, as well as lifting self-esteem and teamwork.

Corporate Social Responsibility

There is a long history in WA of offenders in the community and custodial 
settings “repaying” their debt to society through community works. This ranges 
from dune and land conservation to maintenance of historically important land-
marks, working in charitable organisations, manufacturing furniture for people 
with a disability and a range of other activities in between.

Offenders undertaking such work for the benefit of the community are learn-
ing valuable job skills and the value of doing things for others, which increases 
their levels of respect and empathy. These important outcomes play a large part 
in reducing the risk of reoffending, which meets the Department’s mission of 
contributing to a safer Western Australian community.

Making a positive difference

There are many reasons why people commit crimes and come under the care 
and supervision of the Department. Many offenders come from dysfunctional 
backgrounds (family and community) and present with a range of health and 
psychological issues with substance abuse and mental illness very prevalent.

There is a widely-held public misconception that the Department can “fix” peo-
ple; that by delivering a program that focuses on substance abuse or offending 
behaviour, an offender can be “cured” and adopt a law-abiding lifestyle.

Of course the reality is vastly different. Offenders’ behavioural attributes may 
have developed over many years. For most, the period of time they are under 
our management will be relatively short and unfortunately they return to the 
same dysfunctional lifestyle that inevitably leads to reoffending. 

Our key focus is to positively influence offender behaviour to reduce reoffend-
ing. We have many interventions, and the people to deliver them, that will make 
a positive difference in some form including education and vocational training, 
employment skills, program intervention, healthcare, life skills, counselling and 
providing a structured day.

2008/09 has been yet another memorable and challenging year. I take great 
pride in leading the dedicated and professional staff who are doing a tremen-
dous job and are committed to making a positive difference to ensure a safer 

COMMISSIONER’S SUMMARY

Ian Johnson
Commissioner
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Western Australia.

OUR LOCATIONS
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION

We will underpin all our work endeavours with a philosophy of partnerships and cooperation, whether it be within and across the Department, state and national government agencies, non-
government organisations or the community. We will fulfil our corporate social responsibility by contributing to community wellbeing through our service activities and by taking responsibility 
for the impact of our activities on clients, staff, the community and other stakeholders, as well as the environment.

KEY BUSINESS PHILOSOPHIES:

MISSION

CONTRIBUTE TO A SAFER WESTERN AUS-
TRALIAN COMMUNITY

The key focus for the Depart-
ment of Corrective Services is to 
contribute to community safety 
by upholding the  
integrity of custodial and non-
custodial sentences and by 
positively influencing offender 
behaviour to reduce  
re-offending.

To help us achieve these key 
outcomes we will enhance our 
capability and strengthen part-
nerships with those who also 
contribute to our outcomes and 
mission, with a focus on fulfill-
ing our corporate social respon-
sibilities.



Strategic Plan

The Department adopted its first strategic plan in mid-2006 to help in the estab-
lishment of the Department of Corrective Services as a recently-formed organi-
sation under a new management structure and governance framework.

The first phase of the reform agenda titled Building the Foundation – 2006-
2008 focused on core issues including standards, structures, safety and security 
as well as the need for strong leadership and governance at all levels.

Securing the future

During 2008/09, the Department developed the second phase titled Securing 
the Future 2008-2011.
As the Department consolidates its achievements, the business focus will be 

on securing the future by improving the quality and effectiveness of service 
delivery to the community of Western Australia.

Key result areas and strategies
n  Contribute to a safer community through the effective management of of-

fenders in accordance with assessed risk and need.

n Reduce re-offending through a positive change in offender behaviour.

n Enhance business capability through our people.

n Enhance business capability through the way we work.
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION

Department outcomes

The Department remains focused on three key areas:

n Improved community safety:
•	 effective use of sentencing options
•	 manage offenders safely, securely and humanely
•	 uphold sentence integrity - custodial and non-custodial
•	 victims of crime are supported.

n Reducing re-offending:
•	 offenders’ rehabilitation needs are addressed
•	 offenders acquire employment skills and qualifications
•	 offenders’ re-integrative needs are addressed
•	 preventative programs and services delivered to those 

at risk of reoffending.

n  Fulfilling the Department’s obligations as a government 
agency:

Achieve operational compliance and enhanced capabiity 
through the implementation, maintenance and review of 
rigorous:
•	 professional compliance standards
•	 program and service effectiveness and efficiency re-

views
•	 strategic planning and review processes
•	 compliance with Government policy, programs and 

initiatives.
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Commissioner – Ian Johnson

Commissioner Johnson has had a long and varied career in the justice system. 
Before joining the Department in April 2005, he worked for WA Police for 29 
years and reached the rank of Assistant Commissioner. During his career he 
was involved in operations, training, major projects and strategic and corporate 
development.

He is a graduate of the FBI National Academy (Quantico 1995), the Police 
Executive Leadership Program (Manly 2002) and holds a Graduate Diploma in 
Business (Management).

Mr Johnson is committed to improving public awareness and understanding of 
the challenges and complexities of the corrective services environment and to 
promote the professionalism and dedication of correctional staff who are com-
mitted to making a positive difference in rehabilitating offenders.

ADULT CUSTODIAL

Deputy Commissioner – Ian Giles

The Deputy Commissioner of the Adult Custodial Division is Ian Giles. The Divi-
sion is responsible for the custody, control and welfare of adults in prisons and 
work camps.

COMMUNITY AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

Deputy Commissioner – Heather Harker

The Deputy Commissioner of the Community and Juvenile Justice Division is 
Heather Harker. The Division has responsibility for reducing re-offending, com-
munity protection and rehabilitation, community justice services and juveniles in 
custody.

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Deputy Commissioner – Jackie Tang

The Deputy Commissioner of the Offender Management and Professional 

Development Division is Jackie Tang. The Division is responsible for  
offender and sentence management incorporating education and vocational 
training, program delivery and health services, professional development and 
training, counselling services and the Aboriginal Visitor Scheme.

CORPORATE SUPPORT

Assistant Commissioner – Graeme Doyle

The Assistant Commissioner of the Corporate Support Division is Graeme Doy-
le. The Division provides the Department with corporate support in the areas 
of human resources, strategic asset services, financial management, business 
systems, contracted services and knowledge management.

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS

Assistant Commissioner – Terry Buckingham

The Assistant Commissioner of the Professional Standards Division is Terry 
Buckingham. The Division is responsible for standards and compliance, risk 
management, corruption prevention, proactive compliance and integrity testing, 
quality assurance, complaint investigation and assessment.

ABORIGINAL JUSTICE

Assistant Commissioner – Neil Fong

The Assistant Commissioner of the Aboriginal Justice Directorate is Neil Fong. 
The Directorate takes the lead in improving Aboriginal offender services and 
reducing high levels of Aboriginal imprisonment.

STRATEGIC AND EXECUTIVE SERVICES

Director – Angie Dominish

The Director of the Strategic and Executive Services Division is Angie Domin-
ish. The Division is responsible for media and public affairs, reform, policy and 
legislation, ministerial liaison, performance and statistics and research and 
evaluation.
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Legislative Changes

The Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Amendment Act 2009 and the Sentence Ad-
ministration (Interstate Transfer of Community Based Sentences) Act 2009 were 
introduced to and passed through Parliament during the 2009 Autumn session.

The Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Amendment Act 2009 came into operation 
on 18 April 2009. This Act amends the Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Act 1983 
to introduce nationally agreed changes that broaden the factors the Minister for 
Corrective Services may have regard to when considering a request by a 
prisoner to be transferred to or from another state or territory.

The Sentence Administration (Interstate Transfer 
of Community Based Sentences) Act 2009 follows 
national and model legislation and provides for WA to 
participate in the formal transfer and enforcement of 
community-based sentences between Australian jurisdic-
tions. It is intended the Act will be proclaimed in the next 
financial year once the associated regulations are finalised.

Drafting of the Corrective Services Bill, which will amalga-
mate the Prisons Act 1981 and the Sentence Administration 
Act 2003, progressed during the year. This Bill introduces 
clear objectives and guiding principles for the Act, transfers the 
employment of prison officers from the Minister for Corrective 
Services to the Corrective Services Commissioner, modernises 
the processes for managing prisoner discipline and makes other 
amendments to improve the administration of corrective services.

Legislative compliance
Legislation administered by the Department of Corrective Services:

n Prisoners (International Transfer) Act 2000
n Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Act 1983
n Prisons Act 1981
n Sentence Administration Act 2003 (Pt1, Pt2, Div2, Pt5, Div1-3, Pt6,7 and 8)

n Young Offenders Act 1994.

10
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Effectiveness

Escape Rate (Adults)

The graph shows the escape rates from custody and transport vehicles. 
Despite significant growth in the prisoner population, the escape rate was at 
its lowest for three years and included no escapes from maximum or medium-
security prisons. There were 11 escapes for the financial year, down from 28 in 
2007/2008. 

Successful Completion of Community Corrections Orders (Adults)

This indicator measures the completion rate of community corrections orders. It 
is an indicator of offenders’ responsible and law-abiding behaviour while under 
the Department’s supervision. Successful completion rates show continuing 
improvement.

In 2008/09, greater stability in the adult community justice workforce and the 
implementation of a number of workload management changes may have been 
contributing factors to the increase in successful completions of adult commu-
nity corrections orders. The 2008/2009 result was 62.1%, up from 58.83% for 
2007/2008.

Average Out-of-Cells Hours (Adults)

Time spent out of cells provides a greater opportunity for prisoners to partici-
pate in activities such as work, education, wellbeing, recreation and treatment 
programs, visits and interaction with other prisoners and staff.

The average out-of-cell hours per day for 2008/09 was 11.81 hours. This figure 
is above the target of 11.70 hours.

PERFORMANCE OUTCOMES 2008/09
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Escape Rate (Juveniles)

This indicator measures the escape rate from all juvenile detention centres. It is 
a measure of the protection provided to the community through the provision of 
safe and secure custodial systems. It is also indicative of effective management 
and assessment policies and practices. There were no escapes from juvenile 
detention centres in 2008/09.

Successful Completion of Community Corrections Orders (Juveniles)

This indicator measures orders having run their full course without breach 
action finalised or pending. It provides an indication of the completion rate of 
community corrections orders and an offender’s responsible and law-abiding 
behaviour, while under the supervision of the Department.

Successful completion of community corrections orders for juveniles was 
66.16%, which was above the target range of 66% for 2008/09. The imple-
mentation of a number of workload management changes may be contributing 
factors to the increase in successful completions.

Efficiency

Cost per Day of Keeping an Offender in Custody (Adults)

This indicator measures the full cost of managing an adult offender in custody 
per day. The cost per prisoner per day in 2008/09 was $273.17 which is well 
within the yearly target. 

PERFORMANCE OUTCOMES 2008/09
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The Department’s primary source of funds to meet the cost of services is via 
Parliamentary appropriation. In 2008/2009, $523m was provided from recurrent 
appropriations towards total activity costs that amounted to $579m. 

The Department was also required to meet savings targets as a result of the 
Government’s 3% efficiency dividend. The reduction in appropriations of $7.6m 
across the Department represented a six-month impact with savings of $15.5m 
targeted for 2009/2010.

The budget for the asset investment program of $50m exceeded the actual as-
set purchases of $44m. The most significant contributor to this underspend was 
the West Kimberley Prison Project which was underspent by $3m during the 
period. The project remains on schedule and on budget.

The cost of services in 2008/2009 was $579m (2007/2008 $498m). Employee 
benefits expenses increased by $48m from last financial year due to a number 
of factors, including pay increases with backpay for public servants, an increase 
in prison officer numbers and an increase in overtime as a result of the in-
creased prison population.

During the period the adult prison muster increased from a daily average 
population of 3803 in 2007/2008 to 4012 in 2008/2009. The Department was 
fully funded for this increased prisoner population. The significant increase in 
the prison population was the primary driver of expenditure increases during 
2008/2009.

The weighting of costs between juvenile and adult offender services was af-
fected by changes to corporate allocations during 2008/2009. In addition, a full 
year of operational costs for the new Regional Youth Justice Services centres in 
Geraldton and Kalgoorlie were also included in juvenile offenders service costs  
for the first time in 2008/2009.

Major spending on capital works in 2008/2009 included infrastructure main-
tenance ($4.5m), infrastructure upgrade and replacement ($7.9m), the West 
Kimberley Regional Prison ($3.5m), additional temporary accommodation bunk 
beds ($3.3m), information and communications technology infrastructure pro-
gram ($2.6m), and replacement of the Pilbara community justice facility ($2.6m).

FINANCIAL OUTCOMES 2008/09
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2008/09 2007/08

$m $m

Sources of Funding

Government Appropriation 523 456

Other Government Revenues 14 13

Commonwealth grants and contributions 1 1

Other revenue 34 32

Total 572 502
Activity Costs

Adult Criminal Justice Services 499 439

Juvenile Criminal Justice Services 80 59

Total 579 498
Expenditure

Employee benefits expense 317 269

Supplies and services 153 142

Other expenses 76 58

Capital user charge 0 0

Grant subsidies 7 6

Depreciation 16 15

Accommodation 10 8

Total 579 498
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Corrective Services focused on three main priorities for the 2008/2009 
financial year. These were improving community safety, reducing re-
offending and ensuring the Department met its obligations as a govern-
ment agency as it achieved its correctional outcomes.

The following is a summary of the Department’s achievements and perform-
ance outcomes for the fiancial year.

Sustainability and corporate social responsibility

The Department focused heavily on its Sustainability Action Plan over the past 
year, and continues to seek new solutions to deliver better social, economic and 
environmental outcomes.

Some of this focus included the undertaking of a Critical Occupations Forecast 
to address future staffing issues.

Reducing energy consumption has been a focus for the Department and 
was reflected in a number of key initiatives. The Westralia Square refit project 
incorporated energy saving principles in its design including sensors in meeting 
rooms, open plan areas near windows to maximise natural light and rationalisa-
tion of printers and photocopiers into designated utility rooms.

Large capital projects also took into account environmental considerations 
including a recent expansion of Bandyup Women’s Prison. Environmentally sus-
tainable design principles were used in hydraulics to minimise water use, and 
in electrical and mechanical ares to minimise power use.  Plans for the West 
Kimberley prison include environmentally sustainable principles.

Both Wooroloo and Karnet Farms now recycle all their grey water onto their 
orchards, and prisons are recycling their cardboard and aluminium cans.

The Department undertook a range of sustainable activities to provide sustain-
able prison industries, including the working farm at Karnet which supplies a 
sizeable amount of produce for the prison system.

The Department aided the community through a number of projects throughout 
the year, including recycling bicycles through the Activ Foundation, providing 
handyman-type activities for seniors in Derby, recycling/refurbishing read-
ing glasses for overseas aid programs and producing under-arm cushions for 
breast cancer surgery patients through Zonta International.

Work Camps

In October 2008, the Department’s work camps won the Strengthening Region-
al Western Australia category of the 2008 Premier’s Awards. Work camps have 
operated in WA for 11 years and are widely acknowledged as a leading correc-
tional innovation. The Department developed a new operational model of work 
camps during the year, incorporating a mobile capacity. This model will help 
service remote Aboriginal communities and is expected to make work camps 
more attractive to Aboriginal prisoners by enhancing opportunities for prisoners 
to undertake reparation in their own communities.

In 2008/09, work camps contributed more than 54,349 hours of work to local 
communities with a total estimated value in excess of $1.8 million.

Corrective Services Administrator’s Conference

The Department, in conjunction with WA Police, hosted the annual Corrective 
Services Administrator’s Conference (CSAC) on 15 and 16 April 2009 at the 
Burswood Convention Centre. CSAC is attended by corrective services leaders 
from throughout Australia and New Zealand to discuss issues of national and 
strategic importance. 

 

Corrective Services Minister’s Conference

The Corrective Services Minister’s Conference (CSMC) was hosted by the De-
partment on 18 June 2009 and attended by Ministers and Commissioners from 
Australia and New Zealand. Agenda topics focused on prison and community-
based corrections as well as future directions and technologies. 

These conferences are part of the Ministerial Council on the Administration of 
Justice (MCAJ) suite of meetings held in a different Australian jurisdiction each 
year. 

Intelligence gathering

The Adult Custodial division developed strong networks with external stake-
holders, resulting in successful intelligence operations run with WA Police, the 
Corruption and Crime Commission and Customs. These operations helped 
reduce the supply of drugs into prisons and have assisted with public safety 
through the sharing of intelligence related to organised crime.

      ACHIEVEMENTS
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CJJ Realignment

The Community and Juvenile Justice (CJJ) division commenced a major rea-
lignment of its services in the metropolitan area to improve its focus on youth 
justice, creating a balance with adult community corrections issues. The realign-
ment will result in distinct service delivery locations for youth justice services 
(four centres) and adult community corrections (seven centres).

Prisoner Accommodation 

The Prisoner Accommodation Steering Group was established to determine 
and implement acommodation solutions for prisoners in the short term.

Regional Youth Justice Services

Extensive resources were placed into increasing the Department’s focus on 
early intervention and diversionary programs and initiatives to divert young peo-
ple away from the justice system. This included the establishment of Regional 
Youth Justice Services Centres in the Mid West and Goldfields to provide a full 
range of services, including outreach support, bail and emergency accommoda-
tion, that focus on all aspects of a young person’s life and also offer support to 
their families.

Prisons Performance Reporting

The Department developed and implemented a new performance reporting 
framework for public prisons to better manage each prison’s performance. Key 
features of the new process include centralised production of prison perform-
ance reports and standardised performance indicators. The new performance 
reporting framework commenced in April 2009.

Recruitment and Training 

The Department expedited the recruitment and training of prison officers in 
the light of the unprecedented prisoner population increase. The September 
2008 prison officer recruitment campaign attracted 470 applicants. Six training 
programs were conducted and from this, 184 entry-level recruits and 21 experi-
enced officers have been posted to prisons throughout the State.

A total of 71 community corrections and juvenile justice officers completed the 

Core Operations Foundation Program (as at April 2009). Two training programs 
for juvenile custodial officers were held, training a total of 41 staff.

The Training Academy also provided ongoing courses and programs to en-
hance and maintain the proficiency of Department staff during the year. This 
included the provision of training in workplace skills such as business writing, 
computing, suicide prevention, selection panel training and first aid skills.

Recognition and Development

The Department continued to take decisive steps to increase employee en-
gagement and encourage them to “go to the extra mile” through recognition 
and rewards such as the annual Corrective Services Awards and Long Service 
Recognition Awards.

Principal Officers 

The Department established a Principal Officer position within the prison officer 
rank at each prison in the State. These positions were the result of the 2007 
Enterprise Bargaining Agreement negotiations with a focus on improving quality 
and ensuring work is completed properly and to a high standard.

Aboriginal Justice

The Department established the Senior Aboriginal Reference Group (SARG) 
and Aboriginal Impact Statement (AIS) to ensure appropriate Aboriginal con-
sultation and negotiation processes are undertaken and the needs, issues and 
circumstances of Aboriginal people are addressed in policy and program devel-
opment and review.

Women-Focused Services

The Women’s Intervention Model of service delivery was developed for female 
prisoners to ensure they are offered interventions and services that meet their 
unique needs, particularly those of Aboriginal women. The Department also 
progressed the final components of the comprehensive Women’s Way Forward: 
Women’s Corrective Services Strategic Plan 2009-2012.

ACHIEVEMENTS
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Prison Security

Biometric iris-scanning technology was introduced at three metropolitan prisons 
and one regional prison to improve security by definitively identifying visitors 
entering and leaving each facility. 

Radio Communications

The Department signed a Memorandum of Understanding with WA Police and 
commenced work on the creation of a joint digital communications network. 
Through the sharing of the Police Metropolitan Radio Network and the construc-
tion of radio towers on prison sites, it will improve the security and reach of radio 
coverage for both agencies and bolster staff and community safety.

Prisoner Classification and Assessment

The Department initiated a project to develop and implement modified and/
or new assessment processes for security classifications, reintegration needs 
assessment and programmatic interventions. By June 2009, the modification 
of security classification tools was completed and implemented. Overall, the 
project aims to ensure offenders are assessed and classified appropriately to 
ensure community safety.

Offender Programs

Offender programs on offer in prison and the community increased significantly 
during the year. A comparison of program delivery during April 2008 and April 
2009, showed prison programs had increased by 128% and community-based 
programs had increased by 147%. In April 2009, 336 offenders were engaged 
in programs compared to 144 in April 2008.

Prisoner Employment Program

The Prisoner Employment Program (PEP) was introduced in September 2008 
to provide suitable prisoners with the opportunity to participate in employment-
related activities outside the prison environment. Minimum-security prisoners 
who have served half of their effective sentence and are within 12 months of 
their potential release date may apply to participate in the PEP. 

Community Work

In 2008/2009, more than 180,000 hours of community work was carried out 
with about 500 agencies benefiting. Community work orders enable adult of-
fenders to repay their debts to WA for crimes committed, by contributing to 
important not-for-profit community projects and at the same time improving their 
employment skills. 

Workforce Planning

The Workforce Planning and Strategy branch consolidated in 2008/09 following 
a Mahoney recommendation with staff recruited to progress workforce planning 
initiatives for the Department. A Workforce Strategic Framework 2009-2011 was 
developed and approved to guide workforce planning at various levels across 
the Department.

Career Development Program

The Department’s Leadership Development Program, designed to develop 
leadership skills of staff and assist in succession planning, was reviewed in 
early 2009 to broaden its purpose and rebadged as the Career Development 
Program (CDP). The CDP is designed specifically for highly motivated individu-
als who demonstrate a commitment to the Department and consists of internal 
and external training and professional development activities to enhance leader-
ship and management ability.

Internal Investigations Unit (IIU)

The IIU continued to provide the organisation with a quality investigation serv-
ice that ensures the requirements of natural justice and procedural fairness. The 
IIU significantly reduced investigation timeframes and its investigations satis-
fied the requirements of the Corruption and Crime Commission and other key 
stakeholders.

Reviews

The Department undertook internal compliance and business reviews resulting 
in more than 30 recommendations to improve the delivery of corrective services 
in WA and contribute to the safety of the WA community.
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The State experienced unprecedented growth in the prisoner population during 
the year, which presented significant accommodation challenges to the Depart-
ment. 

The adult population reached a record high of 4422 in June 2009, finishing the 
financial year with 4419 prisoners, 17.3% higher than the 30 June 2008 prisoner 
population of 3766. The rapid rise to date has remained within the domain of 
male imprisonment with the female prisoner population not experiencing this 
same spike in numbers.  

The daily average adult Aboriginal prisoner population for 2008/09 was 41.6% 
of the total adult prisoner population, compared to 3% Aboriginal population in 
the general WA population. The increase of 5.0% in the number of Aboriginal 
prisoners during 2008/09 was at a slower rate than the increase in the number 
of non-Aboriginal prisoners (+5.9%). The majority of prisoners were rated as 

medium-security (54.8%). Most prisoners were aged between 25 and 39 years 
(54.7%).

These high numbers placed a heavy load on current infrastructure, staffing, 
programs and services.  To address this, $655 million was allocated across 
forward estimates to create 1657 beds for the WA prison system, a significant 
proportion of which will be completed by 2011. The custodial infrastructure pro-
gram is the most significant accommodation program in the State’s history. The 
figure includes $12 million for an urgent and immediate prison accommodation 
expansion project to provide more than 600 beds in the short term, comprising 
a mix of double-bunking (two prisoners to a cell originally designed for one), the 
refurbishment of previously decommissioned cells and transportables. 

Additionally, funds were included for a new Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison, 
three new work camps, a young adults prison for 18 to 22-year-olds and expan-

sion of Acacia Prison to address prisoner 
accommodation needs.

In addition to investment in infrastructure,  
the Department invested heavily in recruit-
ing. The number of prison officers increased 
by 200 during the year through a range of 
recruiting campaigns, not only in WA, but 
interstate and overseas, most noticeably in 
New Zealand. An entry-level prison officer 
recruitment campaign in September 2008 
attracted a record 470 applications. 

From a community and juvenile justice per-
spective, the high numbers of young people 
being remanded in custody, particularly those 
in regional areas, continued to be a signifi-
cant issue for the Department. 

Extensive resources were placed into in-
creasing the focus on early intervention and 
diversionary programs and initiatives to divert 
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young people away from the justice system. This included the establishment 
of Regional Youth Justice Services Centres in the Mid West and Goldfields to 
provide a full range of services, including outreach support, bail and emergency 
accommodation, that focus on all aspects of a young person’s life and offer sup-
port to families.

The Community and Juvenile Justice Division commenced a major realignment 
of its services in the metropolitan area to improve its focus on youth justice. This 
will result in distinct service locations for youth justice services (four centres) 
and adult community corrections (seven centres). The realignment will occur in 
stages with a scheduled completion date of December 2009.

Another area of concern for the Department was high absenteeism rates among 
offenders on community work orders. However, a review of community work 
resulted in significant improvements in work attendance through increased 
vigilance of offender work monitoring and improved responsiveness following 
non-compliance.

Prison security was again a focus for the Department in 2008/09. Albany, 
Hakea, Bandyup and Casuarina prisons installed biometric iris-scanning technol-
ogy at their gatehouses to improve security by definitively identifying all social 
visitors entering and leaving the prison. Additionally, the Department upgraded 
perimeter security at Albany and Bunbury regional prisons and developed an 
Emergency Management Framework to help its facilities respond effectively to 
incidents such as riots and hostage situations.

Offender programs on offer in prison and the community increased significantly 
during the year. A comparison of program delivery during April 2008 and April 
2009, showed prison programs had increased by 128% and community-based 
programs had increased by 147%. In April 2009, 336 offenders were engaged in 
programs compared to 144 in April 2008.

The Aboriginal Visitors Scheme (AVS), which provides support and counselling 
for Aboriginal detainees and prisoners in prisons, juvenile detention centres and 
police lock-ups in WA, doubled the number of Aboriginal visitors on its books and 
visits in the 2008/09 financial year in the State’s two main prisons, Hakea and 
Casuarina, to address the incidence of self-harm rates. 
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Key Achievements and Challenges 2008/09

During the year, the Department:

n  managed an unprecedented growth in adult prisoner population with numbers 
peaking at 4422 in June 2009

n  began implementing the $12 million urgent and immediate prison accommo-
dation expansion project with more than 100 beds installed by 30 June 2009

n  won the ‘Strengthening Regional Western Australia’ category of the 2008 Pre-
mier’s Awards for Work Camps initiative

n  installed biometric iris-scanning technology at the gatehouses of three met-
ropolitan and one regional prison to improve security by screening visitors 
entering and leaving the prison

n  successfully completed a 12-month smoking reduction trial at Greenough Re-
gional Prison, which involved making enclosed areas smoke free and subse-
quently implemented the Smoking Reduction Strategy at most other prisons 
by 30 June 2009

n  developed the Emergency Management Framework to assist emergency 
planning for incidents such as riots and flu outbreaks at all sites, particularly 
those with contact with offenders and/or community members  

n  developed wider intelligence networks with external stakeholders, resulting 
in successful operations to reduce the supply of drugs into prisons and assist 
with public safety through the sharing of intelligence related to organised 
crime

n  established the Prisoner Accommodation Steering Group to place greater 
emphasis and co-ordination of the current population pressures

n  significantly advanced training and recruitment campaigns for prison officers 
in the light of prisoner population increases

n  developed and implemented a new performance reporting framework for 
public prisons to better manage prisons’ performance 

n  progressed the Women’s Intervention Model of service delivery to ensure 
female prisoners are offered interventions and services that meet their unique 
needs 

n  progressed the development of a strategic plan entitled Women’s Way 
Forward: Women’s Corrective Services Strategic Plan 2009-2012 to ensure 
services and interventions are woman focused 

n  opened a new 72-bed pre-release centre for men at Bunbury Regional Prison 

n  opened a new 36-bed self-care unit at Bandyup Women’s Prison, provid-
ing 28 general self-care beds and eight dedicated beds for pre-natal and/or 
mother/baby accommodation.

n  continued to focus on delivering a structured day for offenders, in terms of 
programs, education, employment, recreation and re-entry services, in the 
face of high prison numbers and staff shortages.
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Through its adult custodial services, the Department aims to protect the community, reduce re-offending and encourage 
prisoners to adopt law-abiding lifestyles. It manages 12 maximum-, medium- and minimum-security prisons, six in the met-
ropolitan area and six in regional areas, as well as seven prisoner work camps throughout the State. An additional prison, 
Acacia Prison, is overseen by the Department but privately operated by Serco Australia. Serco produces an independent 
annual report for Acacia and the Department produces an annual report on the contract service.
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Key Statistics

n  The adult prisoner population rose steadily during the first half of 2008/09 
and aggressively during the latter part, peaking at 4422 on 27 June 2009.  At 
30 June 2009, the adult custodial prisoner population was 4419 prisoners.

n  The daily average prisoner population for 2008/09 increased by 5.5%. 
There was a 5.9% increase in non-Aboriginal prisoners, a 10.4% increase in 
minimum-security prisoners and a 5.7% increase in male prisoners.

n  In the past five years, the daily average prisoner population increased by 
33.5%. During this time, the number of maximum-security prisoners in-
creased by 34.5%, compared with an increase of 37.6% for medium-security 
prisoners and 25.6% for minimum-security prisoners.

Increase in the WA prisoner population

Daily average prisoner population by security rating

Daily Average Prisoner Population by Security Rating 
2004/05 - 2008/09
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DAILY AVERAGE INCREASE OVER 5 YEARS INCREASE OVER 12 MONTHS

NUMBER PERCENTAGE NUMBER PERCENTAGE

PRISONER POPULATION

Total population 1006.3 33.5 209.7 5.5

Male prisoners 934.5 33.7 200.4 5.7

Female prisoners 71.8 30.6 9.3 3.1

INDIGENOUS STATUS

Aboriginal prisoners 572.4 52.3 80.0 5.0

Non-Aboriginal 

prisoners

433.9 22.7 129.7 5.9

SECURITY RATING

Maximum 173.5 34.5 -64.1 -8.6

Medium 600.5 37.6 166.3 8.2

Minimum 232.3 25.6 107.5 10.4



The Increasing Prisoner Population

Significant growth in the prisoner population during 2008/09 can mainly be at-
tributed to:

n  an increase in the number of offenders incarcerated by the courts. The 
growth in lower courts imprisonments was 26% (+366 prisoners). The higher 
courts increase was 12% (+288 prisoners). This correlates with reported 
increases in violent offending, drug offending and breaches over the same 
period.

n  an increase in the number of prisoners who have had their parole cancelled, 
suspended, deferred, denied or refused by the Prisoners Review Board, 
which restructured during 2008/09. For example, as at 30 June 2008, there 
were 495 prisoners in prison who had their parole cancelled, suspended, 
deferred, denied or refused. At 30 June 2009, this number had increased to 
856 (an increase of 72.9%).

Many factors that placed upward pressure on the prisoner population are likely 
to continue into the future. 

The consequences of the pressure of a high population include:

n  reduced ability to place prisoners in prisons close to their home residence 
where support can be provided by family and community

n  increased tension within the prisoner population which potentially impacts on 
the safety and security of the community and staff as well as prisoners

n increased pressure on ageing infrastructure

n  an impaired ability to deliver programs and services to support re-entry to the 
community, resulting in increased time in prison and consequently increased 
pressure on capacity

n increased risk of assaults, self-harm, suicides, and other critical incidents

n need for more prison staff and heightened industrial relations.

To help cope with the rapid increases in prisoner numbers, 600 new beds will 
be added to existing facilities in the 2009/10 financial year as part of an urgent 
and immediate prison accommodation expansion strategy. The beds will be a 
mix of double-bunking and refurbishment of decommissioned cells.

The Department also commenced forward works for the new 150-bed West 
Kimberley Prison near Derby. Expected to be complete by the end of 2011, it 
is the first prison in WA that will be built with the specific needs of Aboriginal 
prisoners in mind. The replacement for Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison and 
the expansion of Acacia Prison were also approved. These projects form part of 
the State Government’s $655 million custodial infrastructure program – the most 
significant custodial accommodation program in the State’s history.

Custodial Accommodation Program

In May 2009, the Government announced a $655 million custodial infrastruc-
ture program . It will fund the construction or installation of 1657 prisoner beds 
across the WA prison system. A significant proportion of the program will be 
completed by the end of 2011 to address the urgent need for additional prison 
capacity.

The program consists of:

n a new 350-bed prison to replace Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison 

n  creating an 80-bed young adults prison for 18 to 22-year-old males at 
Rangeview Remand Centre (80 beds for juveniles to be constructed at Bank-
sia Hill Detention Centre)

n an additional 387 beds added at Acacia Prison

n a new 150-bed prison in the West Kimberley

n  three new work camps in Wyndham, Warburton and the Wheatbelt
(building 90 beds)

n  the installation of an additional 600 beds across the system, including 64 
beds at Pardelup Prison Farm and 120 beds at Karnet Prison Farm.
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Prison Officer Recruitment

In August 2008, the Department was 
short approximately 170 prison officers 
and consequently, a more intensive 
recruitment strategy was undertaken 
with the aim of significantly increas-
ing prison officer numbers within a 
relatively short timeframe.

The September prison officer recruit-
ment campaign attracted 470 appli-
cants increasing applicant numbers by 
16%. One hundred and twenty six re-
cruits were selected and commenced 
the Entry Level Training Program 
(ELTP) in January and February 2009. 

Six training programs were conducted 
during the past 12 months. From these 
training programs, a total of 184 entry-
level recruits and 21 experienced offic-
ers were posted to prisons throughout 
the State. Another 37 experienced 
officers are currently undertaking the 
Bridging Course offered by the Depart-
ment and are due to be posted to vari-
ous prisons at the end of July 2009.

In May 2009, the Department em-
barked upon a specific regional re-
cruitment effort in the West Pilbara to 
combat staffing shortages at Roebourne Regional Prison. Nine applications 
 were received from local residents and are currently undergoing assessment. 

Prison Officer Enterprise Agreement

In June 2009, prison officers received the third and final instalment of pay in-
creases under the Prison Officers’ Enterprise Agreement 2007. Negotiations for 
a new agreement will be progressed over the course of 2009/10.
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Prison Career Structure – Selection and 
Appointment Processes

The new rank of Principal Officer was 
introduced in 2008. The selection and ap-
pointment process for the ranks of Princi-
pal and Senior Officer were developed in 
consultation with the WA Prison Officers 
Union (WAPOU) and prison representa-
tives.

Regional Prisons

Regional prisons met a number of chal-
lenges throughout the year. Among these 
were the increasing prisoner population 
and a lack of facilities available to enable 
program delivery and lack of facilities for 
female prisoners.

To help address the needs of the grow-
ing prisoner population, bed capacity was 
increased at a number of prisons and 
work commenced to upgrade Pardelup 
Work Camp to a minimum-security prison. 
The upgrade will increase the capacity of 
Pardelup from 20 to 80 prisoners. Addition-
ally, Bunbury Regional Prison successfully 
opened a 72-bed pre-release centre to 
help male prisoners prepare for reintegra-
tion into the community.

Building projects were completed at a 
number of regional sites.

These included:
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As the State’s prison and community-
based offender population continued 
to grow throughout the financial year, 
the Department is working to ensure 
it is well-placed to cope with the 
demands on staff.
At a special graduation ceremony in 

May 2009, the Department welcomed 
128 new recruits – the largest number 
of graduates in its history. 
The graduates represented a range of 

careers including prison and juvenile 
custodial officers, community cor-
rections and juvenile justice officers, 
bringing staffing levels to full strength 
for the first time in 10 years.
All officers are trained at the Correc-

tive Services Academy in Bentley and 

will transfer the skills and knowledge 
acquired to their new roles.

Human Resources Director Paul 
Wilding said the Department’s recruit-
ing team put in great efforts to get the 
graduates on board.

“Through the Department’s recruit-
ing and branding, we managed to 
gain large numbers despite the tough 
labour market at the time,” he said.

“This means our Department will 
have more success in the future when 
recruiting staff as our appeal has 
increased and we can look forward 
to greater diversity and experience in 
people wanting to come to a safe and 
secure employer.”

From the news chronicles

May 2009



n  new education/programs area and medical centre at Broome Regional Prison

n new educational centre at Roebourne Regional Prison

n  the establishment of a Women’s Camp so Eastern Goldfields
Regional Prison female Section 95 prisoners can participate in traditional 
Aboriginal women’s business in the community

n  a new education/program room in the male secure section at Broome
Regional Prison, which has allowed the prison to implement more programs 
and education opportunities for prisoners

n  a new recreational area in the male secure section at Broome
Regional Prison.

Significant inroads were also made in the provision of programs and projects to 
address offender behaviour. These programs include the Work Ready program 
run in conjunction with Rio Tinto and other community organisations to prepare 
prisoners to enter the work place.

Accommodation for Staff at Remote/Regional Prisons

The provision of suitable housing for staff has proved problematic in the Pilbara 
region. The Department continues to address this issue with  
Government Regional Officers Housing (GROH) and other stakeholders.

Reducing Re-Offending

Women’s Way Forward: Women’s Corrective Services Strategic Plan 2009-2012 

The Department is committed to providing programs, interventions, activities 
and services targeted to the unique needs of women in custody. In 2008/09, it 
progressed the development of a strategic approach to ensure its services and 
interventions are woman focused. It has articulated those principles, service 
strategies and anticipated outcomes in a strategic plan entitled Women’s Way 
Forward: Women’s Corrective Services Strategic Plan 2009-2012.  The plan will 
inform policy development and service delivery to women in custody.

Women’s Intervention Model

The Department developed a model of service delivery for women in prison, 
consistent with the Women’s Way Forward strategic plan.

The model is based on evidenced-based knowledge and attends to women’s 
needs in a holistic way. The model ensures women are offered interventions 
and services that focus on therapeutic interventions, skills development, per-
sonal development, education and vocational training, and employment. 
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Protecting the Community

Escapes from Custody

The number of unlawful absences reduced by 54% to 11 during 
2008/09, compared with 28 in 2007/08. Unlawful absences are:

n absconds, where physical security is not breached 

n escapes, where some form of physical security is breached

n unlawful releases from custody.

In addition to the 11 unlawful absences from the Department’s 
facilities, two unlawful absences by prisoners occurred from police 
premises after court appearances (one escape and one unlawful 
release from custody).

Enhancements to security made during 2008/09 had a positive 
impact on the number of escapes. Of the 11 unlawful absences 
from Departmental custody, six were from work camps, three from 
minimum-security prisons, one from a recreational outing and one 
from a metropolitan supervised work group. 

Actions taken to address the underlying causes of unlawful absenc-
es during 2008/09 included:

n  improving perimeter fencing and other enhancements to the 
maximum-security unit at Broome Regional Prison 

n  improved perimeter security at Bunbury Regional Prison for 
minimum-security prisoners

n  replacement of security systems at Albany and Bunbury prisons

n  installation of biometric iris-scanning equipment at Bandyup, 
Albany, Hakea and Casuarina prisons

n improved prisoner assessment practices

n  implementing an improved intelligence-focused security plan 
across all prisons.

Prisoner population of adult males by Aboriginality
July 2008 to June 2009
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Prisoner population of adult females by Aboriginality
July 2008 to June 2009

100

120

140

160

180

200

Jul 08 Aug 08 Sep 08 Oct 08 Nov 08 Dec 08 Jan 09 Feb 09 M ar 09 Apr 09 M ay 09 Jun 09

Months

Pr
is

on
er

 P
op

ul
at

io
n

Aboriginal females Non-Aboriginal females

ADULTS IN CUSTODY
Aboriginal Offenders

Although Aboriginal people comprise 3% of the general population in WA, the 
daily average adult Aboriginal prisoner population for 2008/09 was 41.6% of 
the total adult prisoner population. This was an increase of 5% or 80 Aboriginal 
prisoners from the 2007/08 Aboriginal population.

Prisoner population of adult females by Aboriginality July 2008 to June 2009

Prisoner population of adult males by Aboriginality July 2008 to June 2009
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Unlawful absences from Corrective Services Custody

Unlawful Absence from Corrective Services Custody
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Rate Per 100 Prisoners Daily Average Population

# Unlawful Absence includes Absconds, 
Escapes and Unlawful Release

Rate  Number
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03

2003 / 
04

2004 / 
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Deaths in Custody/ Coroner’s Reports

All deaths in custody are subject to a Coronial inquest on a date 
determined by the Coroner and include deaths due to natural 
causes as well as those attributed to suicide.

In 2008, the Department’s portfolio for Deaths In Custody (DIC) 
investigations was transferred from the Internal Investigations Unit 
to the Standards and Review Directorate. Since then, the Custodial 
Standards and Review team has conducted seven reviews into 
deaths in custody. One report was submitted to the Coroner’s Office 
and the remainder are at various stages of investigation.

The Department’s attendance at five coronial inquests was coordi-
nated by the Critical Reviews Unit (CRU). Three of the inquests re-
sulted in nine recommendations in total and the Department awaits 
the findings from two inquests.

Prison Security

The control of social visitors through the use of biometric iris-scan-
ning was introduced at the gatehouses of four maximum-security 
prisons – Albany, Hakea, Casuarina and Bandyup. The system has 
been operational since 1 May 2009. 

An upgrade to the perimeter of Albany and Bunbury regional 
prisons was completed during 2008/09. At Albany, the upgrade 
included the installation of a new early warning external detec-
tion system and at Bunbury, new electronic security systems were 
installed.

The Emergency Support Group (ESG) provided training to the 
Albany Regional Prison Security Unit to enable the prison to man-
age prisoners of elevated risk. The ESG was involved in numerous 



emergency management exercises and is committed to high-level training to 
maintain readiness for critical incident response.

In line with the recommendations of the 2007 review of the Canine Section, a 
new trainer was appointed to the Drug Detection Unit who brings substantial 
experience in detector dog training and assessment. 

Emergency Framework

During 2008/09, the Department developed an Emergency Management 
Framework that will help facilities effectively respond to emergency situations 
such as riots, fires and flu outbreaks. The framework provides templated plans 
that align across the State. 

The framework applies to all business areas, particularly those that have con-
tact with offenders and/or community members, ie. all prisons, detention centres 
and community justice offices. All procedures laid out in the framework will be 
audited to ensure the Department is compliant with State Government Emer-
gency Management requirements.

Intelligence Services

The introduction of an intelligence collator position at Albany Regional Prison 
provided considerable benefits to the Justice Intelligence Service, the prison 
and local law enforcement stakeholders. The recognised improvements to the 
information and intelligence exchange has provided the opportunity to develop 
three new collator positions at Bandyup, Casuarina and Hakea prisons to ex-
pand the information and intelligence exchange.

The 2008/09 financial year saw the introduction of a Justice Intelligence Model 
to help collate, evaluate and analyse intelligence information

The scope of the Justice Intelligence Service broadened considerably to en-
compass all divisions in the Department. In particular, there was greater empha-
sis on assisting the Community and Juvenile Justice division in assessing risk. 

Ongoing work continued with the WA Police and Corruption and Crime Com-
mission to ensure joint operations were managed appropriately and were of mu-
tual benefit.  Car park operations were conducted to prevent the entry of drugs 
into prisons and allowed the police to conduct searches of visitors for 

their own ends. The Department also worked with the police in identifying any 
risks to the Department from organised crime. The Department’s Drug Detec-
tion Unit worked closely with the police and Australian Customs to conduct drug 
searches at major events in the metropolitan area.

Rehabilitation Programs

Prison Industries
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From the news chronicles

June 2009

THE Department worked to 
expand and improve its prison in-
dustries during 2008/09 through 
separate reviews of offender 
employment of the industries 
themselves.
The reviews, still in progress as 

at 30 June 2009, aim to evolve 
the way the Department keeps 
prisoners busy, improves their 
chances of gaining employ-
ment upon release to reduce 
re-offending, and promotes self-
sustainability.
Prison Industries Man-

ager Kathy Csaba said during 
2008/09, prisoners continued to 
work in kitchens and laundries, 
produced uniforms, curtains and 
bed sheets in textiles and gar-
ments shops, shoes and thongs 
in boot-making workshops and 

cell furniture in cabinet-making 
workshops.
“They also operated market 

gardens, farmed animals for meat 
and dairy products and chickens 
for eggs production, prepared 
vegetables, baked bread and 
worked in a range of other arts 
and industrial workshops,” she 
said.
“Additionally, industries work-

shops fulfilled commercial con-
tracts and made corporate gifts 
on the Department’s behalf.
“For example, Wooroloo Prison 

Farm’s cabinet workshop pro-
duced furniture for a major WA 
retailer while Casuarina’s wood-
working shop made cheeseboards 
for guests at the 2009 Corrective 
Services Ministers’ Conference.”

The primary purpose of prison industries is to prepare prisoners for employ-
ment by ensuring prison workplaces replicate, as closely as possible, current 
community standards. 

It contributes to a significant reduction in the cost of running prisons through 
key areas such as food production, catering, laundry and clothing manufactur-
ing. 

Training is provided in all workshops, kitchens, laundries, farms and market 
gardens relevant to the job market and to industry standards. During 2008/09 it 
is estimated the value of internal (self-sufficiency) and external (retail) industries 
was in excess of $14.3m. 

The internal supply of goods and services is critical to the functioning and cost 
effectiveness of the prison system and is responsible for 87% of the total indus-
try output. This includes the production of meat, milk, eggs, fruit and vegetables, 
catering services producing more than 12,000 meals per day, laundry services 
and the manufacture of prisoner clothing, shoes, linen and bedding.

External sales and commercial contracts include furniture production and metal 

fabrication. The revenue from these contracts is used to offset the operating 
costs of each prison. 



Primary Industry Farms

Prison farms are located at Karnet and Wooroloo. The prison work camp 
at Pardelup is also a farming operation and these facilities collectively pro-
vide essential food products for the prison system. Karnet Prison Farm is the 
Department’s primary processing facility with an abattoir, dairy, chicken barn 
(approximately 4000 chickens), horticultural hot houses and orchard. Wooroloo 
Prison Farm breeds fat lambs for market and produces crops for livestock feed. 
Pardelup Work Camp is responsible for the Department’s breeding programs for 
beef as well as fat lambs for market.

Vegetable preparation industries operate at Bunbury Regional and Casuarina 
prisons. Bunbury processes and packages its market garden produce for use in 
the prison system and for sale in the South West. Casuarina acquires produce 
direct from prison farms and local market gardens for use in the prison system.

Over the past 12 months, new market gardens were established and others in-
creased in size to accommodate the growing prisoner population. The orchards 
at Pardelup and Wooroloo were expanded. The trialling of tunnel houses and 
hydroponic crops at Wooroloo and Karnet during the year were successful and 
it is expected production will increase with new tunnel houses to be established 
at a number of other prisons and prison farms. 

Work Camps

Work camps have operated successfully in Western Australia for 11 years and 
are widely acknowledged as a leading correctional innovation, particularly in re-
gards to providing reparation to the community preparing prisoners for release. 
In 2008, work camps won a Premiers Award in the ‘Strengthening Regional 
Western Australia’ category.

The aim of work camps is the successful re-entry of offenders into the broader 
community. This is achieved through ongoing collaboration with regional com-
munities to engage prisoners in meaningful and worthwhile projects, which 
enhance community life and maintain community assets and services.

Based in rural and remote communities, work camps are small facilities or-
ganisationally attached to a home prison. Work camps offer an alternative to 
traditional imprisonment for eligible minimum-security prisoners and are a prime 
example of the Department’s commitment to finding cost-effective, practical 
forms of custody.

Projects completed by work camps in 2008/09 included:

n  clearing tree branches and general assistance to the Wyndham Shire after 
Tropical Cyclone Billy damage in December 2008

n  a major restoration project at the Bungarun heritage site including repairs to 
the chapel roof, walls and floors; maintaining the cemetery; paint work at the 
old gaol; and painting and maintenance at the bunkhouse

n  assistance to Green Skills in Denmark in the construction of a 3km walking 
trail along the Denmark River

n restoration of Mt Morgans Cemetery in Laverton

n site works at Malcolm Dam shade areas in the District of Leonora

n  ongoing land care and maintenance projects and general assistance to the 
Department of Environment and Conservation at Millstream-Chichester Na-
tional Park in the Pilbara

n  removal of 18 tonnes of newspaper for recycling from the Kellerberrin Lions 
Club.

Two policies and a new operational model were designed to increase work 
camp participation and reduce population pressures on the prison system.

Reintegration Leave Policy
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This policy was designed to provide incentive for prisoners to apply for work 
camp placement. It allows work camp prisoners to apply for special leave within 
the community within the final months of their sentence. A further incentive for 
eligible prisoners to apply to go to work camps was the introduction of a special 
gratuity level making their pay the highest level within the system.

Mobile capacity for work camps

A new operational model with a mobile capacity for work camps was explored 
during the year. This will assist in servicing remote Aboriginal communities and 
is expected to make work camps more attractive to Aboriginal prisoners. The 
‘hub’ model to provide services to community-based offenders and work camp 
prisoners.

Decca Station Project

The Decca Station project has focused on refurbishing an existing disused 
communication facility, approximately 20 hectares in size, just outside Roe-
bourne, to help prisoners develop employment skills. 

During the financial year, Roebourne Regional Prison’s staff negotiated 
with training providers and mining companies and brought related agencies 
together to achieve improved educational outcomes for Aboriginal prisoners. 
Prisoner training was tailored to reflect industry needs.

 Nationally accredited training was provided by Pilbara College of TAFE 
where students completed units in the Certificate II Engineering, Certificate 
III Metalliferous Mining Operations, Aboriginal Environmental Health Workers 
Certificate, Certificate I in Horticulture, pertaining to machinery and equip-
ment operations, Certificate I Gaining Access to Training and Employment, 
Certificate III Civil Construction, Certificate II General Construction (which 
includes components of the Work Ready program). 

As a result, there were 35 successful employment placements post-release 
during the year, comprising 20 placements into the mining and construction 
industry areas and 15 into other employment areas of hospitality, construc-
tion, parks and gardens and health. Additionally, one ex-prisoner became 
self-employed.

Additional benefits from the project include the piloting of the 15-week Work 
Ready course at Roebourne Regional Prison during 2008/09 where successful 
candidates, following release, were offered employment through the Rio Tinto 
Aboriginal Employment Strategy Team. This was the first year a Work Ready 
course was held at a WA prison. 

Transitional Support Services

The Department continued to collaborate with non-government agencies to 
provide reintegration and re-socialisation programs for prisoners and services to 
strengthen family relationships.

Key achievements for 2008/09 included:

n  the creation and filling of 12 transitional manager positions – one at each 
prison. These staff provide a link to information and advisory services for 
prison staff and prisoners as well as other government departments, not-for-
profit service providers and the community.

n  providing additional funding to non-government service providers to enhance 
existing re-entry programs throughout the State. It resulted in the expansion 
of accommodation initiatives and transport options to return prisoners to 
remote communities. 

Child Protection

A review of the Memorandum of Understanding between the Department and 
the Department of Child Protection (DCP) was undertaken to more specifically 
target the unique needs of children of prisoners.  A DCP senior field worker will 
be appointed to work within the prison system across the State.  This position 
is expected to be filled by October 2009 and will deal with all protection matters 
relating to children of prisoners, particularly those residing with their mothers in 
custody.
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New Women’s Accommodation at Bandyup Women’s Prison

The new 36-bed self-care unit opened in March 2009 as stage two of the Ban-
dyup Women’s Prison site upgrade. The unit provides 28 general self-care beds 
and eight dedicated beds for pre-natal and/or mother/baby accommodation, 
doubling the facilities previously available. The design and construction is in 
line with the philosophical intent of the Women’s Custodial Services Directorate 
to provide facilities and routines that replicate (as near as possible) family and 
community responsibilities. 

The new accommodation assists with the transition to Boronia Pre-release 
Centre for Women and ultimately toward an offender’s release.

Management of Custodial Services Contractors

Re-entry Services

Re-entry services were expanded significantly across the State during 2008/09. 
A key initiative was the appointment of transitional managers located at each 
prison to coordinate the expansion of re-entry services provided to prisoners. 
During the year, transitional managers formed partnerships with government 
and non-government agencies to create opportunities for offenders and the 
community and address social exclusion factors and maximise successful 
reintergration.

Acacia Prison

Acacia Prison increased its operational capacity by 100 prisoners through 
the installation of double bunks into selected units. A further 100 beds will be 
installed by November 2009, taking capacity to 1000.

Prisoner Transport

The Department’s management of court security and custodial services con-
tractors was impacted by the death of an Aboriginal elder in a prisoner trans-
port vehicle in January 2008. Significant improvements have been made in the 
areas of: 

n duty of care policy and procedures

n monitoring processes

n vehicle fleet management

n vehicle fleet replacement standards.

The Department made progress with many of the key recommendations arising 
from the Custodial Transport Forum held in 2008, including the development of 
Departmental vehicle standards for the replacement of its secure fleet and duty 
of care principles.

The arrival of new secure fleet vehicles commenced in the year under review 
at the rate of approximately two vehicles per month. The first vehicles were long 
haul escort vehicles sent to regional areas to replace and supplement the exist-
ing fleet. In total, seven new vehicles were received in 2008/09 with a further 30 
to be delivered over the next 12 to 18 months. 

Future Directions
In 2009/10, the Department will:

n  continue its corporate-wide review of all offender employment policies and 
practices. The review is examining the synergy between all facets of em-
ployment including prison industries, work camps, work orders as well as 
vocational training and re-entry services. 

 n  place a greater strategic focus on prisoner management, specifically on 
areas such as prison accommodation, facilities, infrastructure, staffing, pris-
oner diversity and case management, to ensure professional prison serv-
ices continue to be delivered in light of unprecedented prisoner population 
growth. The Adult Custodial Division will progress improvements to its senior 
structure and governance frameworks to achieve this. 
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Key Achievements and Challenges 2008/09

During the year, the Department:

n  opened Regional Youth Justice Services centres in the Mid West and Gold-
fields

n  commenced realignment of the Community and Juvenile Justice (CJJ) divi-
sion to establish two distinct service delivery arms – one for adult community 
justice services and one for youth justice services

n  managed 5015 juveniles (including Juvenile Justice Team referrals) and 
12,229 adults on community justice orders

n  undertook a community work review to address high absenteeism rates 
among offenders and to help increase credibility of community work with the 
courts and public 

n    improved workforce stability by converting a number of contract positions to 
permanent positions

n  had 71 community corrections and juvenile justice officers complete the Core 
Operations Foundation Program (as at April 2009)

n  established a Memorandum of Understanding with WA Police to improve the 
level of information exchanges between government departments concern-
ing dangerous sex offenders

n  commenced a functional review of adult community corrections

n  developed the Interagency Public Protection Strategy concerning the man-
agement of community risks associated with high-risk offenders

n handled increasingly complex workload demands

n  established targets and measures for performance at the CJJ divisional 
level. 

Key Statistics

n  Some 12,229 adults and 1861 juveniles (exluding Juvenile Justice Team 
referrals) were managed in the community during the financial year.  

n  Some 4594 Aboriginal adults and 1113 Aboriginal juveniles (excluding Juve-
nile Justice Team referrals) were managed in the community.

n  As at 30 June 2009, 5629 adults and 779 juveniles were subject to commu-
nity corrections orders (2027 Aboriginal adults and 483 Aboriginal juveniles).

n  As at 30 June 2009 there were 1103 distinct individuals with Juvenile Justice 
Teams cases open of which 539 were Aboriginal juveniles.

Workload Management Strategy

On 20 April 2009, the Department and the Civil Service Association of Western 
Australia/Community and Public Sector Union returned to the Western Austral-
ian Industrial Relations Commission for a feedback conference in respect to 
workload management strategy. The union acknowledged the positive impact 
the strategy had demonstrated and suggested it had effectively addressed a 
number of issues preventing escalation. Both parties agreed to continue to as-
sess the impact of the strategy over the coming financial year.
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offending and encouraging offenders toward law-abiding lifestyles. It provides community-based justice services for both 
adults and juveniles across Western Australia.



Community Work

Community work orders enable offenders to repay their debts to WA for crimes 
committed by contributing to important not-for-profit community projects. In 
2008/09, more than 180,000 hours of community work were carried out with 
about 500 agencies benefiting. 

A current strategy includes transferring the line-management of all community 
work officers within the metropolitan area to ensure a more efficient scheduling 
of supervised work parties and closer scrutiny of offender absenteeism.

Other strategies being developed involve ‘swifter justice’ to refine the work suit-
ability assessment of offenders to minimise the time between order issue and 
work commencement. There was a significant improvement in compliance in 
the 2008/09 financial year.

Regional Youth Justice Services

In late August 2008, the Department opened the first of two regional youth 
justice centres in the Mid West Gascoyne (Geraldton) as a one-stop shop for 
young people who have offended or were at risk of offending. A second centre 
opened in the Goldfields (Kalgoorlie) in December. The  goal of the centres is 
to provide services and programs to help reduce the need for juvenile remand 
and detention while improving community safety in each region. The services 
offered at the centres include juvenile justice teams to help steer at-risk young 
people away from the justice system; an after-hours outreach family support 
service; and an after-hours seven-day-a-week bail service. While it was too 
early to judge their success of the centres by the end of the financial year, the 
early signs were very promising. 

Juvenile Justice Teams

Juvenile justice teams work with WA Police to divert young people who 
have committed minor offences, away from the formal justice system. This is 
achieved by involving them in a process of restorative justice. The teams pro-
mote victim participation and family involvement and encourage young offend-
ers to accept responsibility for their actions.
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Critical Response Team

In July 2007, the State’s Chief Justice formed the Indigenous Justice Taskforce 
(IJT), bringing together the judiciary and other relevant agencies to address the 
increasing number of sexual assault charges in the Kimberley region. As a result, 
the Department established a Critical Response Team (CRT) to respond to the 
increased demand for services and to engage with remote Aboriginal communi-
ties.

The multi-disciplinary team comprised staff from community corrections, juve-
nile justice, victim mediation, specialist Aboriginal advisors, a psychologist and 
program staff. The timely and informed advice provided by the CRT assisted the 
courts with faster processing and sentencing. 

As the IJT scaled back its activities, the CRT was reduced to a staff of three in 
April 2009, with any spare capacity utilised to support the day-to-day business of 
CJS in the Kimberley. The CRT retains the ability to build up its staff resources in 
response to any new demand. 

Interagency Public Protection Strategy

The Interagency Public Protection Strategy (IPPS) provided cross-agency col-
laborative case management for offenders who presented the highest risk to 
the community. IPPS collaboratively managed dangerous sexual offenders and 
other selected violent offenders at both senior management and local levels via 
information sharing and the focusing of appropriate resources.

A Memorandum of Understanding between the Department and WA Police was 
endorsed in June 2008 and the collaboration continued throughout the 2008/09 
financial year. 

As at 30 June 2009, 16 dangerous sexual offenders (DSO) were managed 
within the IPPS framework, with seven being supervised in the community and 
nine subject to continuing detention orders. One further dangerous sexual of-
fender remained remanded in custody pending agreement to undertake supervi-
sion order requirements.
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Victim Services

The Victim Notification Register (VNR) is an information service for 
victims of crime. It allows victims to receive information about the perpe-
trator of the crime against them, for as long as that person is under the 
supervision of the Department for that offence.

The Victim-offender Mediation Unit (VMU) received referrals for 3517 
offenders with 4529 associated victims during the financial year.

As at 30 June 2009 there were 762 victims registered to receive infor-
mation about 623 offenders. There were 292 applications to register 
with VNR to receive information during the year, with only 10 deemed 
ineligible.

Future Directions 2009/10

In 2009/10, the Department will:

n  consolidate the realignment of Community and Juvenile Justice and 
functional review of adult community-based services

n  continue the community work management review and implement 
recommendations

n  continue implementing occupational safety and health review recom-
mendations

n  work on managing expectations and procedures relating to the 
supervision and, in particular, enforcement of offenders in the com-
munity

n  relocate and concentrate efforts to distribute resources among the 
new youth and adult community justice centres.
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The Department’s goal to create a 
‘modernised community correc-
tions service’ resulted in a major 
realignment of the Community 
and Juvenile Justice division (CJJ) 
during the financial year.
CJJ Deputy Commissioner 

Heather Harker said the division 
had realised adult community 
corrections were swamping those 
of youth justice and something 
needed to be done to achieve a 
greater balance between the two.
“Following an extensive external 

review of the division’s structure 
and service delivery in late 2008, 
we decided the answer was to 
realign CJJ to provide two distinct 
arms of service with separate 
physical locations,” she said.
“The first arm is Adult Correc-

tions (for adult offenders in the 
community) and the other is Youth 

Justice Services (for young people 
in the community and juveniles in 
detention).”
The change will involve estab-

lishing several multi-disciplinary 
youth justice services centres in 
the metropolitan area to provide 
a complete through-care model 
for young offenders and their 
families.
“Their focus is to deal with 

young people holistically, includ-
ing consulting family and peers 
and providing after-hours and 
outreach services,” Heather said.
Extensive planning and consulta-

tion took place in the first half of 
2009 to determine centre loca-
tions and staffing requirements. 
Additionally, a change manage-
ment process was implemented to 
ensure a smooth transition to the 
new CJJ model.

From the news chronicles



Key Achievements and Challenges for 2008/09 

During the year, the Department: 

n  improved its recruitment practices netting 23 new juvenile custodial offic-
ers, including five Aboriginal and 12 female officers, taking JCO staffing 
levels to a full complement

n  commenced a capital works project at Rangeview Remand Centre includ-
ing the construction of a covered basketball court area and program 
rooms

n  commenced construction of a 24-bed unit at Banksia Hill Detention Centre

n  contributed to the development of an electronic interactive database of 
Juvenile Custodial Rules to improve accessibility and guidance

n  obtained Government endorsement for the development of a Young 
Adults Prison for 18 to 22-year-olds

n  completed a prevalence study on juvenile detainees with an intellectual 
disability

n  managed high remand numbers at Rangeview Remand Centre with ex-
cess numbers placed at Banskia Hill Juvenile Detention Centre 

n commenced a review of management of regional juvenile transport. 
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Through its juvenile custodial services, the Department provides 
young offenders with opportunities for rehabilitation, personal 
growth, education and skills development. The Department  
assists young offenders to successfully re-integrate into the 
community and develop law-abiding lifestyles.



Key Statistics

n  The average daily population of juveniles in custody in 2008/09 was 151, 
compared with 161 the previous year.

n  The State’s two juvenile detention facilities received a total of 1182
 juveniles on remand in 2008/09. The average length of stay on remand for 
juveniles discharged during 2008/09 was 24.7 days.

n   Three hundred juveniles received into the facilities were sentenced to a peri-
od of detention during the year. The average length in custody for sentenced 
juvenile detainees discharged during the year was 17 weeks, including time 
spent on remand.

n  Total admissions to Rangeview Remand Centre were 1883 in 2008/09, 
compared with 1857 the previous year. Rangeview had a daily average 
population of 61 juveniles (53.2 being unsentenced and 7.6 sentenced). The 
average stay in Rangeview as at exit or transfer from Rangeview during the 
year was 12.2 days.

n  There was an increase in unsentenced (arrest or remand) admissions at 
Rangeview to 1790 in 2008/09, compared with 1771 in 2007/08.

n  The daily average population at Banksia Hill for 2008/09 was 89.9 (66.3 be-
ing sentenced and 23.6 on remand).

 

Supervised Bail

In 2008/09 the Rangeview Supervised Bail and Liaison Unit placed 610 young 
people on the supervised bail program which aims to reduce unnecessary or 
overly long periods of custodial remand for young people. With the new Region-
al Youth Justice Services Centres and continued collaboration with, and support 
from, regional juvenile justice teams, the Department is now also able to limit 
the removal of young offenders from their regional communities.

The Regional Youth Justice Strategy aims to provide appropriate support 
systems and accommodation to increase the likelihood of young offenders suc-
cessfully completing bail while remaining in their local community. The average 
bail period was 29 days, saving 17,345 days that young people would have 
spent in custody.1

Aboriginal young people accounted for 372 (61%) of those placed on super

vised bail. Most supervised bail placements were in supported accommodation 
or with therapeutic intervention services.

1This figure is based upon the number of persons on supervised bail for the 12-month 
period (610) multiplied by the average bail period (28.5 days).

Juveniles on Remand

An ongoing challenge for juvenile detention services was the high proportion of 
Aboriginal young people in detention. They accounted for approximately 74.9% 
of all juvenile detainees. Of particular concern was the increase in the number 
of children on remand aged less than 13 years and those from remote locations. 
Juveniles in detention on remand made up 40.7% of juvenile detainees at 30 
June 2009. However, 86.3% of receptions resulted in release without a custo-
dial sentence. The Department, the judiciary, WA Police and other government 
agencies continue to work together to address this issue. 

Deferred Bench Warrants

The Deferred Bench Warrant Program began in November 2000, allowing the 
Children’s Court judiciary discretion to adjourn a matter following a defendant’s 
failure to attend court, avoiding the need to remand in custody. The offence 
is often at the lower end of the scale and does not warrant spending time in 
custody.

JUVENILES IN CUSTODY
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YEAR AVERAGE PLACEMENT 

DAYS

DAYS SAVED No. ABORIGINAL 

PLACEMENTS

% ABORIGINAL

2004 20 7161 214 59

2005 25 8959 205 58

2006 24 10,723 252 57

2007 30 15,206 299 58

2008 29 17,501 362 60

2009 29 17,345 372 61



The Rangeview Liaison Unit services the larger metropolitan courts of Freman-
tle, Joondalup, Midland, Perth and Rockingham. In 2008/09 a total of 338 de-
ferred bench warrants were facilitated at an average of 28 served each month.

Intensive Supervision Program

The Intensive Supervision Program (ISP) is a home and community-based 
intervention program for young people aged 10-17 years who commit serious 
and repeat offences or who are at high risk of escalating their offending. The 
majority of families involved in the program are among the most marginalised in 
the State, characterised by unemployment, poverty, mental illness and isolation.

Since February 2005, three ISP teams have operated in the metropolitan area, 
based at Midland, Maddington and Mirrabooka. The first regional team com-
menced in Kalgoorlie-Boulder in 2007 and a second regional team in Geraldton 
commenced operation in October 2008.

During 2008/09, 151 families were referred to the program. As a result, 53% 
(71 families) agreed to proceed, having understood the intensive home-based 
nature of the intervention and the demands on them as a family. Male offend-
ers represented 80% of the referrals, 38% were Aboriginal and the average 
age was 14, signifying an achievement in the ISP’s goal to increase younger 
referrals.

Offender Education

Education is provided to all young people in custody. Education is tailored to 
age as well as social and academic level. As most students are of Aboriginal 
descent, cultural matters are factored into education programs.

Where possible, detainees are awarded recognised vocational certificates for 
work completed within the detention centres. This is usually a Certificate of 
General Education for Adults (CGEA) for literacy and numeracy. Level two is 
completed through TAFE external studies. In 2008/09, certificates in art, 

computing, horticulture, woodwork and metalwork were awarded for specific 
work completed in the workshop at Banksia Hill Detention Centre. There were 
80 Safety Awareness Training Certificates (Blue Cards) awarded, 24 for coach-
ing and officiating courses and 85 Keys for Life Certificates for the Learner 
Driver Program.
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Banksia Hill/ Rangeview Capital Works Projects

The current capital works program at Banksia Hill is due for completion in 
December 2009. The new Turner Unit will provide 24 additional beds for male 
detainees. Minor works at Rangeview are due for completion early in 2009/10 
and will provide a program facility to ensure an equitable service for young 
women and girls. 

The long-term plan for both juvenile custodial facilities is currently being imple-
mented. The capacity of Banksia Hill will increase to 214 to accommodate all 
juveniles in detention (male and female) and Rangeview will be developed into 
an 80-bed young adults prison for 18 to 22-year-old male prisoners. This project 
will provide a unique opportunity to review and develop models of service de-
livery that balance the safety, security and integrity of the centre and meet the 
diverse needs of young people in detention. 

Programs and Psychological Services for Young Offenders

In 2008/09, Juvenile Psychological Services were part of a comprehensive 
review of the Young Offender Development branch.

Achievements included the development of a new group treatment program 
for young people who have sexually offended and a computerised version of 
the Young Offender Personal Development Program. The team also provided 
assessment and counselling to young people in the Kimberley as part of the 
Critical Response Team and developed a fly-in/fly-out psychological service to 
the Mid West and Goldfields Regional Youth Justice Services. 

A research project was conducted to identify and develop a screening process 
for young people in custody who have an intellectual disability. It is anticipated 
this will facilitate improved service to this group of young people.

Through the various custodial programs, 532 clients attended 170 sessions. In 
addition, within the custodial environment:

n  Some 202 clients attended the Young Offender Personal Development Pro-

gram developed by Psychological Services and delivered by trained juvenile 
custodial officers.

n Some 283 clients attended programs delivered by external providers.

n  Eight different types of programs developed by external providers were of-
fered to custodial clients.

Psychological Reports

JUVENILES IN CUSTODY
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PSYCHOLOGICALREPORTS COMPLETED 2008/2009 TOTAL

PSYCHOLOGICAL REPORTS FOR COURT 236

PSYCHOLOGICAL REPORTS FOR THE 

SUPERVISED REVIEW BOARD

140

TOTAL 376

Future Directions 2009/10 

n   Implement the agreed recommendations of the Intensive 
Supervision Program evaluation.

n  Investigate graduated release options for young people 
in custody.

n   Establish operational and philosophical guidelines in 
relation to the 18 to 22-year-old young adults prison.

n   Evaluate and review the operational model for Banksia 
Hill Detention Centre. 

n  Complete the construction and commission the new 24-
bed unit at Banksia Hill and to continue the redevelop-
ment of the centre.
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Key Achievements and Challenges for 2008/09 

In the past year, the Department:

n  introduced the Prisoner Employment Program (PEP) at eight minimum-
security prisons in September 2008

n  completed a comprehensive review of the business model for delivering 
treatment programs

n  significantly enhanced delivery of treatment programs through the
increased contracting and employment of new staff

n  introduced a new Medium Intensity Violence Program during 2008 with 
programs delivered at Wooroloo Prison Farm, Bunbury Regional Prison and 
Casuarina Prison. A total of six programs were conducted, including one in 
the community

n  developed a new Sex Offenders Deniers Program with three programs con-
ducted at Greenough Regional Prison

n  commissioned new education and program facilities for offenders at Bunbury 
and Broome regional prisons

n  achieved higher than State and national results for Aboriginal prisoner edu-
cation.

Key Statistics
n  A total of 4652 prisoners took part in accredited education and vocational 

training and were enrolled in 26,803 units.

n  Community programs targeting family and domestic violence, substance 
abuse, managing emotions and sexual offending were completed by 63 
groups of offenders.

n  Some 7543 counselling sessions were offered to offenders in community 
justice centres.

n  There were 8545 referrals to the Prison Counselling Service during 2008/09. 
In response, the service provided 11,588 counselling sessions and 8234 
brief contacts and consultations.

n  The Aboriginal Visitors Scheme conducted 11,019 visits to offenders.
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The Department provides effective direction for offender management and associated services, incorpo-
rating sentence management, education and vocational training, prisoner employment, program delivery, 
suicide prevention, specialist assessments and health services.
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Education and Vocational Training for Offenders

In 2008/09, 4652 prisoners enrolled in 26,803 units in accredited and voca-
tional training. The Education and Vocational Training Unit achieved significant 
Aboriginal completion rates. The Department’s completion rate for Aboriginal 
students was 88% compared with the State rate of 66.7% and the Australian 
rate of 71.8%.

Offender Programs

Increasing the offender programs on offer in prisons and the community was a 
priority for the Department during 2008/09 and significant resources were 

committed to achieving this. A comparison of program delivery during April 
2008 and April 2009 showed prison programs had increased by 128% and 
community-based programs had increased by 147%. In April 2009, 336  
offenders were engaged in programs compared to 144 in April 2008.

Community Interventions

Program delivery to offenders in the community increased significantly  
during 2008/09. A total of 82 group programs – targeting family and domestic 
violence, substance abuse, managing emotions and sexual offending – were 
delivered by staff and contractors.

The Community Interventions team received 882 referrals from Community 
and Justice Services for mainstream programs. Of these, 297 offenders were 
enrolled to commence a community program. The table on the  
adjoining page shows the completion rate for 2008/09 for the various programs 
offered as well as those programs which had commenced, but were not com-
pleted, as at 30 June 2009.
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SENIOR Curriculum Officer Amber 
Mountford received top individual 
honours at the Education and Voca-
tional Training Unit’s (EVTU) State 
Conference in Perth last month. 
In presenting the awards at the 

conference dinner, EVTU Manag-
ing Director Christine Laird said she 
admired Amber for her work ethic. 
“I admire Amber’s work style - she is 

methodical, measured and extremely 
knowledgeable,” Christine said. 
“She perfectly fits into her role and 

really is an asset to the Department.” 
Wooroloo Prison Farm picked up the 

team award for the prison education 
and vocational training program that 
best demonstrates innovation and the 
ability to manage change effectively. 

Christine said the group had under-
gone some considerable changes in 
2008, yet remained positive about 
their operations. 
“What has impressed me is the way 

the team has shown a real commit-
ment to innovation and always been 
open to piloting new projects. 
“They’ve moved into a new educa-

tion centre and remodelled their busi-
ness operation and staffing structures 
– it’s been a big year of changes but 
they’ve continued to not only provide 
a service but excel as well.” 
Hakea Education Centre Campus 

Manager Minakshi Grover collected 
the excellence in leadership award. 
The prison was also a finalist in the 
team excellence award. 

From the news chronicles



During the past 12 months, relevant staff received training in sex offender treat-
ment. The provision of a community-based treatment program for men convict-
ed of sexual offences is well underway, while a community-based maintenance 
program for sexual offenders commenced. Sex offender treatment is provided in 
Perth, Bunbury and Greenough.

Services offered to Aboriginal offenders have improved with the recruitment 
of key Aboriginal staff to deliver the Indigenous Family Violence Program. This 
program supports community offenders from the Family Violence Courts or via 
Community Justice Services referrals and is delivered in three metropolitan 
locations as well as Geraldton.

During the financial year, 7543 psychological sessions were offered to 
offenders in the community. These sessions were provided by Adult  
Community Psychological Services or contracted psychologists and  
delivered in community justice centres.

Prison Counselling and Peer Support

The Prison Counselling Service provides individual counselling sessions for 
prisoners and conducts risk-assessments for suicide and self-harm. This targets 
needs such as crisis or behavioural management, grief, anxiety and depression 
on entry to prison, during incarceration or prior to release.

There were 8545 referrals to the Prison Counselling Service during 2008/09. 
In response, the service provided 11,588 counselling sessions and 8234 brief 
contacts and consultations.

Prisoners were also provided assistance from prison support officers who man-
age teams of peer support prisoners at each prison.

The Department’s Support and Management System (SAMS) was  
developed during 2008/09 to provide a collaborative case management  
system for prisoners who are not at risk to self, but require intervention or ad-
ditional support and monitoring while in custody. The system  
complements the existing At Risk Management System (ARMS).

 Categories of prisoners who could be managed under SAMS include those:
n with sensitive, cultural and spiritual issues
n who are vulnerable, or at chronic risk of suicide
n  with Dangerous Sex Offenders Unit alerts and those held in custody under 

the Criminal Law (Mentally Impaired Accused) Act 1996.

Suicide Prevention

ARMS is a comprehensive suicide prevention strategy for offenders in custody 
which includes a whole-of-prison approach, incorporating primary, secondary 
and tertiary suicide prevention strategies as well as:

n intake screening of all offenders upon admission to custody

n  orientation/reception processes to reduce stressors upon entry into prison

n multi-disciplinary management of prisoners identified as at-risk to self.

Clinical staff (from the Prison Counselling Service and Health Services) are 
available at each facility to conduct risk assessments and provide  
counselling and clinical interventions.
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Program name
Groups 

completed
Groups current

Breaking Out (substance 
abuse) 2 3

Change and Emotions 
(emotions management) 9 2

Community-based Sex 
Offender Treatment 
Program 1 2

Sex Offender Maintenance* 1

Indigenous Family Violence* 5 5

Individual Counselling 1 19

Domestic Violence 2 46

Total 82

* Rolling format group with no defined completion date
1 Due to the change of this portfolio to Community Interventions Branch, at times individual 

counselling was undertaken in place of group work
2 Services for domestic violence perpetrators are contracted and provided by external agencies

October 2008



In 2008/09 a total of 1913 ARMS alerts were raised across the State’s adult 
custodial facilities.

Some 102 prisoners were trained in the Gatekeeper Suicide Awareness pro-
gram to assist them in identifying self-harm or suicide risk factors among other 
prisoners. In addition, 420 staff completed the same program and eight com-
pleted the Gatekeeper Train the Trainer program.

Dangerous Sexual Offender Psychology Team

The Dangerous Sexual Offender (DSO) Psychology team continued to be in-
volved in the assessment and management of offenders subject to the Danger-
ous Sexual Offender Act 2006.
The team is responsible for the provision of initial risk assessment reports on 

those being considered for Dangerous Sexual Offender applications with eight 
assessments completed in 2008/09.

Once an offender is subject to DSO court proceedings, a treatment options 
report is prepared. This initiative was introduced in October 2008 to provide the 
court with greater assistance in identifying treatment issues for offenders. Six 
treatment option reports were prepared in 2008/09.

The DSO psychology team is also involved in the case management of offend-
ers serving detention or community orders. There are currently 18 offenders 
under case management by the DSO psychology team. Of these, seven are 
also engaged in individual psychological counselling.

Aboriginal Visitors Scheme

The Aboriginal Visitors Scheme (AVS) provides support and counselling for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander detainees and prisoners in custody, includ-
ing police custody, in WA. Visitors are Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people committed to assisting and supporting detainees and prisoners in their 
local areas. The aim of the scheme is to reduce the likelihood of deaths or 
self-harm and to improve the conditions and circumstances of those in custody 
through consultation, advice and providing information to decision makers. It is 
also a mechanism for Aboriginal community groups to be properly informed of 
conditions of custody.

NUMBER OF VISITS 2007/2008 2008/2009

METROPOLITAN 2657 7546

REGIONAL 2549 3473

TOTAL 5206 11,019

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT
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Psychological Court and Release Authority Reports

Courts and releasing authorities often request psychological reports regard-
ing offenders to facilitate their decision making. The reports provide offender 
assessments that aid the sentencing process and enable informed decisions to 
be made when releasing offenders into the community. They take victim issues 
and community safety into account, as well as the offending behaviour needs of 
the individuals under consideration. 

During 2008/09, 1141 Court and Prisoners Review Board psychological reports 
were completed.

Health Services

The Department delivers health care in adult and juvenile detention facilities 
and work camps. In 2008/09, this included assessing the health of, and provid-
ing treatment to 7586 adult prisoners as they entered prison and 1883 juvenile 
detainees as they entered juvenile detention centres.

The Electronic Health Online (EcHO) system became operational in all prisons 
and detention centres on 1 April 2009. Offender medical records and health in-
formation are now recorded electronically, enabling instant retrieval and improv-
ing outcomes for patients.

The annual accreditation survey by the Australian Council of Health Services 
occured in July/August 2008 with accreditation retained for another year.  

There was a significant decrease in the number of complaints received from 
the Office of Health Review and there was also improvement in the time taken 
to resolve complaints.  

The Department’s pharmacy is responsible for the supply and dispensing 
of medication to prisoners. During  2008/09, the Health Services Directorate 
pharmacy dispensed approximately 59,600 prescriptions, packed approximately 
75,000 blister packs of medication, 16,457 urgent supply packs, 57,486 metha-
done pre-packs and reviewed 22,892 prescriptions. This high-value and high-
volume work provided for increased patient safety and health outcomes.

Updated telemedicine (video conferencing equipment) was procured and 
installed in most health centres. The increased use of telemedicine equipment 
means a patient does not have to leave prison for many external medical ap-
pointments, enhancing public safety and security and providing an improved 
outcome for the patient. 

Organising external medical appointments at public hospitals for prisoners has 
been improved with the introduction of a centralised medical bookings officer 
who coordinates appointments through direct communication with the Depart-
ment of Health’s Clinical Priority Access Nurse (CPAN).  
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COMPLAINTS FROM OFFICE OF HEALTH REVIEW

2007/2008 2008/2009

126 25

INTERNAL GRIEVANCES

2007/2008 AVERAGE TIME 

TO RESOLVE

2008/2009 AVERAGE TIME 

TO RESOLVE

44 15.43 DAYS 62 12.29 DAYS



Sentence Management

The Sentence Management branch is responsible for the provision 
of, and compliance with, sentence calculations of all adult prisoners, 
provision of timely and accurate information to sentencing and releas-
ing authorities, provision of legislative and policy advice, monitoring 
assessment, security classifications, and developing individual man-
agement plans and placement of prisoners.

It is also responsible for compliance with legislative requirements 
in relation to parole, re-socialisation programs and absence permits 
for the purposes of rehabilitation and reintegration on compassion-
ate grounds and the provision of Departmental representation on the 
Prisoners Review Board.

There are two distinct sections within the branch – Sentence  
Management and Release Planning.

The branch works to ensure offenders in custody are appropriately 
sentence-managed in line with legislative and policy requirements 
including the:

n  standards and quality control mechanisms for sentence
calculations

n  management of evidence-based standards to guide prisoner 
assessment during their sentence

n  assessment of suitability and development of re-socialisation 
programs for serious category prisoners in consideration for their 
release

n  application of guidelines for the consideration and processing of 
absence permits 

n  application of consistent, transparent and objective decision making 
in the consideration of all aspects of sentence  
management

n  review and continuous improvement of procedures and practices in 
sentence management.

The branch also contributes to major Departmental and divisional 
projects on matters relating to legislation and sentence management 
practices.
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Home Leave

The home leave program allows minimum-security prisoners within 12 months 
of their release date to leave prison under the supervision of an approved spon-
sor for set periods of time to re-establish family and community relationships 
and offset the effects of a reasonably lengthy time in prison. 

The number of home leave applications has steadily increased over the past 
three years. Some 48% of the 192 applications considered in 2008/09 were ap-
proved.

Funerals/Dangerous Illness

Prisoners are able to apply to leave the prison in the company of an officer on 
compassionate grounds ie for the purpose of attending a funeral or visiting a 
dangerously ill person.

These applications are assessed as to the significance of the relationship as 
well as security, safety to the community, logistics and victim issues.

During the 2008/09 financial year, 1504 applications to attend funerals/ visit 
dangerously ill persons were considered. Of these, 40% of applications were 
approved.

Re-Entry Release Orders

Prisoners subject to a finite term of imprisonment (those not eligible for parole 
release) who have served a minimum of 12 months in prison under sentence 
are eligible to apply for re-entry release in the last six months of their term.

The re-entry release program aims to facilitate the successful re-entry of pris-
oners into the community. It promotes a constructive self-supporting, law-abid-
ing lifestyle by re-establishing family relationships, community ties, exposure to 
employment and service to the community.

Re-entry release is only approved after an assessment for suitability and 
comprehensive consideration by the Prisoners Review Board. The number 
of applications has declined significantly in recent years due to the limitation 

of eligibility criteria as a result of the Sentence Administration Act 2003 being 
amended on 28 January 2007.

Re-Socialisation Programs

Tailored re-socialisation programs are designed for long-term prisoners, includ-
ing those with life and indefinite sentences, and aim to gradually reintegrate 
those prisoners into the community to reduce the likelihood of re-offending and 
improve community safety.

Life and indefinite sentenced prisoners are first assessed for their suitability 
for inclusion in the program two years prior to being eligible for parole and then 
at the request of the Prisoners Review Board. Approval to participate in the 
program is subject to consideration by the Department, the Prisoners Review 
Board and the Attorney General with final approval being required from the 
Governor.

The assessment is based on a range of factors, including the prisoner’s secu-
rity rating, completion of recommended treatment programs, general conduct 
and behaviour in prison, victim issues, the risk of reoffending and suitability for 
release into the community upon completion of the program.

A re-socialisation program generally consists of a number of stages and activi-
ties, with the prisoner expected to complete all requirements of each stage 
before being approved for progress to the next stage. 

The duration of a re-socialisation program is tailored to address the individual 
prisoner’s risks and needs and is generally between six and 18 months. 

New Initiative – Prisoner Employment Program

The Prisoner Employment Program (PEP) was introduced on 1 September 
2008. The program provides suitable prisoners with the opportunity to partici-
pate in employment-related activities, including education or vocational training, 
seeking employment, work experience or paid employment.

The program raises awareness among prisoners that employers are very keen 
to employ prisoners given the high skill levels gained in prison.
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The PEP operates from eight prison facilities and reflects the following:

n  Allows minimum-security prisoners to be eligible for the program once they 
have served half of their effective sentence and are within 12 months of 
release, irrespective of their sentence length.

n  The full program of employment-related activities may commence up to 12 
months prior to the prisoner’s eligible date for release on parole or to free-
dom. Paid employment (at commercial rates) will only be available in the last 
three months of the prisoner’s sentence.

n  Prisoners will be linked to job network providers for assistance.

The Offender Management and Professional Development Deputy Commis-
sioner is the approval authority for prisoners and employers to participate in the 
program.

An employment coordinator was employed at each of the minimum-security 
facilities to assist with the assessment process.

The following statistics relate to applications received from prisoners to partici-
pate in the PEP since the program’s inception. Applications were considered 
by the Director Sentence Management, the Deputy Commissioner Offender 
Management and Professional Development or the Commissioner.

 

On average, nine PEP applications were considered each month. It is 
anticipated the number of applications will continue to increase in the short term 
as per the general trend.

OFFENDER MANAGEMENT

Number of Prisoner PEP Applications Considered
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The above graph show the number of prisoner applications for PEP consid-
ered and the outcomes. From 1 September 2008 to 20 June 2009 the total 
number of prisoners considered for participation in PEP was 91. Of these, 44 
(48%) were approved, 39 (43%) were not approved, seven (8%) were deemed 
not to proceed and one (1%) was deferred for consideration.

From 1 September 2008 to 30 June 2009, four prisoners participating in the 
PEP had programs cancelled. Three were as a result of prison drug convic-
tions and one was for breach of PEP conditions.

Assessment and Classification of Adult Offenders

Following a review of the Department’s assessment and classification proc-
esses in relation to adult offenders, the Inspector of Custodial Services tabled 
his report of the review in Parliament on 3 June 2008. Report 51 ‘Report into 
the Review of Assessment and Classification within the Department of Cor-
rective Services’ made a number of recommendations which the Department 
started addressing in the 2008/09 financial year.

The Department’s Assessment and Classification of Adult Offenders project 
adopts a phased approach to developing and implementing modified and/or 
new assessment processes in relation to security classifications, 

reintegration needs assessment and programmatic interventions. It also exam-
ines the training accreditation and deployment of prison officers.

The project is currently in its developmental phase, which is expected to be 
completed by June 2010. The sub-project relating to the modification of secu-
rity classification tools was completed and implemented in June 2009.
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Future Directions 2009/10 

n   The overall aim of the Assessment and Classification of 
Adult Offenders project is to provide the mechanisms to 
achieve the Department’s objective of integrated offender 
management across custody and the community.

n  The establishment of a new structure will further increase 
the delivery of treatment programs to offenders in prison 
and the community.

n  The Department will undertake an evaluation of the Pris-
oner Employment Program.

Outcome of Prisoner Applications for PEP 
1%

48%

43%

8%

Approved Not Approved Not to Proceed Defer



n  developed, promoted and implemented the Aboriginal Impact Statement 
(AIS). The AIS aims to ensure appropriate Aboriginal consultation and ne-
gotiation processes have been undertaken and that the needs, issues and 
circumstances of Aboriginal people are addressed in policy and program 
development and review. This was endorsed by the Equal Opportunity Com-
mission as a best practice process for identifying and addressing substantive 
equity issues in corrective services

n  progressed development of a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with the 
Aboriginal Legal Service of WA (ALSWA). The aim of the MoU is to estab-
lish open communication channels between the Department and ALSWA on 
policy and program development and review, service development and provi-
sion, information exchange and areas for joint action

n  represented Aboriginal interests on key interagency and inter-jurisdictional 
committees including the Directors General Group on Indigenous Affairs 
(Kimberley), Aboriginal Justice Agreement Steering Committee, Senior Offic-
ers Group on the Commonwealth-State Bilateral Agreement (Law and Order 
and Safe Places for People) and the Regional Youth Justice Strategy Steer-
ing Committee 

n  established the Aboriginal Youth Justice Working Group as part of the Com-
munity and Juvenile Justice realignment to define an effective Aboriginal 
youth justice service model 

n coordinated and facilitated the 2008 Perth NAIDOC celebrations in July

n  established a process for analysing annual jurisdictional reports on Aboriginal 
issues in corrective services in line with the Corrective Services Ministers’ 
Conference (CSMC) resolution in 2008. A paper identifying three national pri-
ority areas was developed and endorsed by the Corrective Services Adminis-
trators’ Conference (CSAC) and CSMC in 2009. The priority areas are:

•	 the development and delivery of appropriate rehabilitation programs, par-
ticularly for Aboriginal offenders from regional and remote areas

The Aboriginal Justice Directorate:

n consults with internal and external stakeholders

n  advocates change within the Department to improve service delivery by tak-
ing into consideration Aboriginal culture and issues

n  assists directorates to implement relevant change in service delivery to take 
into consideration Aboriginal culture and issues

n monitors implementation and evaluation of programs and services.

Key Achievements and Challenges 2008/09

n  established the Senior Aboriginal Reference Group (SARG) comprising senior 
Aboriginal staff from across the Department. SARG provides direction and 
advice on Aboriginal issues within corrective services. In the past 12 months it 
advised on policies, procedures and issues including:

•	 Smoking reduction strategy

•	 Grievance policy

•	 Recruitment and selection policy

•	 Associations policy

•	 Workforce strategic framework

•	 Community and Juvenile Justice realignment strategy report

•	 Reintegration leave policy

•	 Policy governance framework

•	 Conflict of interest policy

•	 Offender Management and Professional Development professional practice 
standard report

•	 Victim offender policy.

ABORIGINAL JUSTICE
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Since its establishment in 2007/08, the Aboriginal Justice Directorate has worked with a range of internal and external stakeholders to influ-
ence Aboriginal justice issues and service delivery. Through the Directorate, the Department aims to reduce the re-offending of Aboriginal 
people in the justice system by embedding the needs of Aboriginal offenders into existing programs and services. 



•	 through-care and reintegration and 
transitional services

•	 diversion from prison, particularly for 
Aboriginal offenders with mental health 
problems.  

Key Statistics

The level of Aboriginal incarceration 
remains unacceptably high. As at 30 June 
2009, 41.6% of all adult prisoners and 74% 
of all juvenile detainees were Aboriginal.

Future Directions 2009/10

During 2009/10, the Department will:

n continue to liaise with external and 
internal stakeholders with the aim of ensur-
ing the needs, issues and circumstances 
of Aboriginal people are addressed in the 
development and delivery of corrective 
services

n develop policy and procedures for 
contracting non-government organisations 
to provide correctional services to address 
current service gaps and ensure the deliv-
ery of appropriate services

n review the current prisoner complaints 
system to identify ways of making it more 
appropriate for Aboriginal prisoners.
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Key Achievements and Challenges 2008/09

During the year, the Department:

n  conducted training for 3885 staff members through 354 scheduled courses at 
the Department’s Training Academy

n  successfully rebranded and launched the Department’s recruitment program 
in September 2008

n  implemented activities to attract applicants from diverse backgrounds and 
regional locations

n  undertook a successful recruitment campaign targeting experienced prison 
officers from New Zealand

n  launched a ‘Super School’ initiative to boost prison officer numbers
n commenced a regional-specific recruitment campaign in the West Pilbara
n launched the Career Development Program
n increased its internal training capability to offer diverse training 

n consolidated the Department’s Workforce Planning and Strategy branch
n continued ongoing review of the Department’s human resources policies.

Key Statistics

n  The number of Public Service employees increased by 157, including extra 
psychologists, social workers and other counselling professionals, commu-
nity corrections officers and juvenile justice officers. 

n  The number of prison officers increased by 200, reducing prison officer 
shortages and managing increasing prisoner numbers.

n  Most of the increase in employee numbers was in the area of service provi-
sion for prisoners and offenders in the community and to improve administra-
tion of the Department.
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AWARD/OCCUPATIONAL GROUP JUNE 2008 JUNE 2009

HEAD COUNT PERCENTAGE TOTAL HEAD COUNT PERCENTAGE TOTAL

F M F M F M F M

PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES 1113 601 65% 35% 1734 1260 631 67% 33% 1891

PRISON OFFICERS 334 1213 22% 78% 1547 383 1364 22% 78% 1747

JUVENILE CUSTODIAL OFFICERS 53 124 305 70% 177 63 135 32% 68% 198

NURSES 85 11 89% 11% 96 93 17 85% 15% 110

ABORIGINAL VISITORS 13 8 62% 38% 21 9 13 41% 50% 22

TEACHERS 11 6 65% 35% 17 7 10 41% 59% 17

MEDICAL OFFICERS 7 9 44% 56% 16 10 6 63% 38% 16

HOSPITAL WORKERS 6 1 86% 14% 7 8 2 80% 20% 10

SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES TRIBUNAL 1 2 33% 67% 3 2 2 50% 50% 4

GARDENERS 0 2 0% 100% 2 0 1 0% 100% 1

TOTAL 1643 1977 45% 55% 3620 1835 2181 46% 54% 4016

The Department continues to expand its human resource management framework, strategies and practices in line with industry stand-
ards and best practice. To support this, the Human Resources Directorate comprises the key branches of Workforce Planning and 
Strategy, Strategic Recruitment, Employee Relations and Employee Welfare. Professional Development within the Training Academy 
provides strategic policy advice and professional development and training opportunities to Department staff.

Employee By Award/ 
Occupational Grouping 

Note: Head count figures 
are for those employees 
paid on the last pay date 
of the financial year, In 
presvious annual reports, 
the number of Aboriginal 
Visitors was under reported 
as they were being paid 
retrospectively. The figures 
have been adjusted in this 
year’s report.
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Recruitment

In 2008/09 the Department utilised employment branding to promote recruit-
ment activities across a range of occupation-specific recruitment campaigns.

A number of promotional activities, including print and radio advertisements, 
exhibitions, university open days and information sessions further enhanced the 
Department’s image as a potential employer.

The rebranding of prison officer recruitment, using the slogan “You just can’t 
help yourself can you?” focused on staff supporting offenders in getting their 
lives back on track and, in turn, improving community safety. This marketing 
brand defines the Department’s goals for the attraction and recruitment of offic-
ers and will drive future campaigns and strategies.

The September 2008 prison officer recruitment campaign attracted 470 ap-
plicants, 16% more than any previous campaign. A total of 126 recruits were 
selected and commenced the Entry Level Training Program (ELTP) in January 
and February 2009.

Additionally, a successful overseas recruitment campaign targeting experi-
enced prison officers from New Zealand also contributed to the pool of eligible 
candidates.

Regional recruitment initiatives were trialled in difficult-to-recruit locations, 
including the Pilbara. Nine applications were received from local residents and 
are currently undergoing assessment. 

Due to improved recruitment initiatives, Juvenile Custodial Services filled all 
substantive juvenile custodial officer vacancies resulting in a full staffing com-
plement.

Leadership Development

The Department’s Leadership Development Program, designed to develop 
leadership skills of staff and assist in succession planning, was reviewed in 
2009 to broaden its purpose and rebadged as the Career Development Pro-
gram (CDP). The CDP is designed specifically for highly motivated individuals 
who demonstrate a commitment to the Department and consists of internal and 
external training and professional development activities to enhance leadership 
and management ability.

Training

The Department’s Training Academy provided training for 3885 staff mem-
bers through 354 scheduled courses to enhance and maintain the proficiency 
of Department staff during the year. This included the provision of training in 
workplace skills such as business writing, computing, suicide prevention, selec-
tion panel training and first aid skills. Training continued to be provided to prison 
and detention centre staff to maintain proficiency in a variety of skills including 
emergency procedures and self defence.

The Academy trained 244 trainee prison officers (including 58 experienced 
officers returning to Corrective Services), 51 trainee community corrections of-
ficers, 29 juvenile justice officers and 41 juvenile custodial officers undertaking 
12 weeks of foundation training, plus a nine or 12-month probationary period 
respectively, resulting in a record number of graduates.

Additionally, the Academy supported leadership development through the 
delivery of its First Line Supervisor Program and the Correctional Supervisors 
Course.
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Corrective Services Award Winners 2008

Minister’s Exceptional Service 
Statistics Team Leader Adrian de Graaf

Adult Custodial Achievement Award 
Emergency Support Group Assistant Superintendent Jonathon 
Kavanagh

Community and Juvenile Justice Achievement Award 
Mandurah Community Justice Services Ruth Goss, Rebecca Hort 
and Graham McPherson

Offender Management and Professional Development  
Achievement Award 
Educational and Vocational Training Unit

Executive Division Achievement Award 
Statistics Team Leader Adrian de Graaf

Corporate Support Achievement Award 
Acacia Prison Contract Manager Brian Lawrence

Aboriginal Justice Achievement Award 
Prisoner Education Campus Manager Merrilee Lands

Professional Standards Achievement Award 
Juvenile Education Services

Teamwork and Collaboration Award 
Community Justice Services Mid West Meekatharra Relief

Innovation Award 
Young Offender Development Program Emma Bacon
and James Dent

Commissioner’s Award for Support and Respect
Casuarina Prison Officer James Holborn

Commissioner’s Commendation for Bravery
Pardelup Work Camp officers Ron Beltrama and Glen Clode

RIGHT: Award winner Adrian de Graaf with 
Commissioner Ian Johnson



Employee Engagement and Communications

Communication with employees across the Department was a priority in 
2008/09. The Department communicates with its people through the intranet, 
internet and print materials and through line management communication to 
equip staff with information on Department activities, services and functions.

The Department’s bi-monthly magazine, insideOUT, is now produced in-house 
to reduce design costs. A fortnightly electronic newsletter is also produced as 
well as a daily intranet news service.

During the year the Department continued to host the Joint Development Day 
– a twice yearly senior management forum designed to share knowledge of 
corporate programs and projects and to improve understanding and integration 
of the organisation’s strategic direction.

The Department also continued to take decisive steps to increase employee 
engagement through recognition and rewards such as the annual Corrective 
Services Awards and Long Service Awards.

Workforce Planning 

The Workforce Planning and Strategy branch was consolidated in 2008/09 fol-
lowing a Mahoney recommendation, with staff recruited to progress workforce 
planning initiatives for the Department. 

The Workforce Strategic Framework 2009-2011 will guide workforce planning 
at various levels across the Department.

Volunteers

In 2008/09, the Department continued to deliver and recommend good practice 
principles and strategies for working in partnership with volunteers. The Depart-
ment recognises volunteers are an invaluable link between the Department 
and the community, providing support to individual offenders, which is vital to 
reintegrate them into the community.

Boronia Pre-release Centre for Women made use of up to 20 volunteers at any 
one time to assist prisoners with a variety of skills and activities.

Community Justice Services also received applications from volunteers includ-
ing students wanting to gain experience in the justice field, teachers wanting to 
educate offenders about lifestyle changes and community members wanting to 
share their life experiences.

Additionally, the Community Work Management Unit acted as a recruitment 
and referral point for volunteers looking to shadow community work officers.

Awards and Agreements

n Public servants

In September 2008 a new replacement industrial agreement, the ‘Public Serv-
ice General Agreement 2008’, was registered in the Western Australian Indus-
trial Relations Commission. This new agreement expires in April 2011.

n Prison officers

In June 2009, prison officers received the third and final installment of pay in-
creases available to them under the ‘Department of Corrective Services Prison 
Officers’ Enterprise Agreement 2007’.

n Nurses

A new industrial agreement called the Department of Corrective Services Reg-
istered Nurses (ANF) Industrial Agreement 2008 was registered in the Western 
Australian Industrial Relations Commission in September 2008. This agreement 
expires in June 2010. Negotiations for a new agreement will be progressed over 
the course on 2009/10.

Policies and Guidelines

During 2008/09, the ongoing review of Department human resource policies, 
procedures, guidelines and systems continued with the following updated:

•	 Commencement salary policy

•	 Housing policy and housing manual

•	 Workplace grievance policy and procedures

•	 Recruitment and selection policy and procedures

•	 Purchased leave policy and procedures
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•	 Higher duties allowance policy and procedures

•	 Deferred salary scheme policy and procedures

•	 Personal files policy

•	 Parental leave policy (further review of 2007 policy)

•	 Study leave policy (further review of 2007 policy).

A review of the Performance Appraisal Development System (PADS) was 
completed in May 2009, with the reported figures indicating 90% of permanent 
employees having recorded completion of their PADS agreement.

Equity and Diversity

During the year, progress on the Equity and Diversity Improvement Plan 
2009/10 included:

n  Equal Employment Opportunities (EEO)/Diversity outcomes were 
incorporated into the Commissioner’s and Deputy/Assistant  
Commissioners’ performance agreements

n  EEO and Diversity initiatives were linked to the Department’s Strategic Plan

n  Aboriginal protocols were promoted and applied across Departmental busi-
ness and events

n  induction courses became standard practice for all incoming employees, 
incorporating Aboriginal cultural awareness

n  the recruitment policy and guidelines were adopted to reflect EEO and diver-
sity principals, criteria and procedures.

Industrial action

There was no industrial action taken during the year under review.

Unions

Department employees are covered by a range of unions including the Com-
munity and Public Sector Union/Civil Service Association of WA, WA Prison 
Officers Union and the Australian Nurses Federation. 

Formal joint consultative committees within each Department division met regu-
larly to address key workplace issues. Other informal consultative groups were 
undertaken at workplace levels. These informal groups discussed issues such 
as disciplinary process and employee transfer issues.

Support for the Security Manager’s Review and Restructure

The Human Resources directorate took a lead in the development and im-
plementation of the Security Manager and the Superintendents’ Work Value 
reviews. HR developed templates, communication and implementation plans, 
reviewed job descriptions and provided advice and recommendations.

Occupational Safety and Health

The 2008/09 financial year was one of substantial development in the Depart-
ment’s Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Management System that com-
plies with the requirements of the WorkSafe Plan. The Corporate OSH Commit-
tee endorsed the OSH framework and key policies to guide safety management 
throughout the Department, including policies outlining OSH rules and respon-
sibilities, audit and hazard inspection practices, incident and hazard reporting 
practices and OSH induction and training requirements.

Workers’ Compensation

The Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management policy was implemented 
in 2008/09. Comprehensive training and information sessions were presented to 
all business areas to help ensure compliance in accordance with the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management ACT 1981.
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I

Prison Offi cer - Pos No: 9098
www.correctiveservices.wa.gov.au

                      yourself,

You just
Helpcan’t

or it’s just who you are.

       Maybe you get on really well          

               with people or you know how    

      to handle situations.

Whatever the reasons,               

    you can help people who have 

         committed offences to make 

            the right choices in life. 

Maybe it’s something
you’ve done with your life

You’ll find you can’t help 

  but want to make their lives 

             better.

can you?

Your difference... 

To hear more about life as a Prison Offi cer, come to one of 
our Information Sessions to be held at the following venues 
on Thursday, 25 September and Thursday, 2 October 2008:

Technology Park Function Centre (Perth)
6.30pm | T: 9212 3991
Albany Regional Prison (25 September ONLY)  
7.30pm | T: 9842 4497
Broome Regional Prison | 7.00pm | T: 9193 8536

Bunbury Regional Prison | 7.00pm | T: 9795 2155
Greenough Regional Prison | 6.00pm | T: 9923 6500
Eastern Goldfi elds Regional Prison | 6.30pm | 9093 5108

For information on the recruitment process 
or to obtain a recruitment pack visit 
www.correctiveservices.wa.gov.au; phone 9212 3991; 
email porecruitment@correctiveservices.wa.gov.au
Applications close: 4:30pm, Monday, 6 October 2008

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, women and people from diverse cultural backgrounds are strongly encouraged to apply.

Employee Assistance

On 1 January 2009, the Department contracted PPC Worldwide to deliver the 
Employee Assistance Program. The past six-month annualised report from the 
previous provider, Prime, saw 252 staff and family members access the serv-
ice, representing a referral rate of 7.2%. Prison officers accounted for 43% and 
community corrections officers accounted for 28% of the occupations referred for 
counselling. The gender split of referrals was 64% female and 36% male, an in-
crease in the female usage from last year. Most critical incidents in the past year 
were handled internally with PPC and Prime acting as back-up to the internal 
service.

Staff Support Officers (Prisons)

The staff support teams provide an important service in assisting staff at prison 
sites. Over the past year, the Department trained 40 new staff support officers 
and refresher training was provided to 25 existing support officers.

Future Directions 2009/10 

In 2009/10, the Department will:

n  maintain the recruitment effort for critical occupation groups to keep pace with 
the growth in the offender population

n  streamline and improve internal communication on HR issues

n  negotiate and finalise the 2010 Prison Officers Enterprise Bargaining Agree-
ment.
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WORKERS COMPENSATION CLAIMS 2007/08 2008/09

NO. WORKERS COMPENSATION CLAIMS 269 307

LOST-TIME FREQUENCY RATE 21.08 DAYS 22 DAYS

INCIDENT RATE 4.87 DAYS 5.2 DAYS

TOTAL WORKING DAYS LOST 7927 9492.6

LOST-TIME CLAIMS 166 191

NO. OF STRESS CLAIMS 29 43

NO. OF FATALITIES NIL NIL



In September 2008, the Standards and Review Directorate commenced Opera-
tional Initiative One, involving the development of a suite of governance stand-
ards for implementation through an appropriate review framework. In total, six 
standards were developed. The suite of standards are being incorporated into 
the existing Custodial Standards and Review framework which is expected to 
be completed by December 2009. A similar process is planned for the existing 
Community Standards and Review framework upon completion of the Commu-
nity Justice Services realignment.

Key Achievements and Challenges for 2008/09

During the year, the Department:

n  established a high-profile corruption prevention function through a range of 
initiatives and activities

n  conducted 327 integrity assessments on prison officer applicants through its 
Employee Screening Unit

n  undertook compliance and business reviews within the Department 
resulting in more than 30 recommendations

n  received approximately 1430 calls from prisoners through its complaints, 
compliments and suggestions service (ACCESS)

n  raised staff awareness of the role and authority of the Department’s 
Internal Investigations Unit.

Risk Management and Governance

Risk management and governance is managed corporately through the Depart-
ment’s Risk Management and Audit Committee and the Management Assur-
ance Governance and Improvement Branch.

Corruption Prevention

The focus of the corruption prevention function this year was to establish a rec-
ognisable presence within the Department as well as policy development and 
staff training and education. The activities included:

n  adoption of a comprehensive staff conflict of interest policy and procedures

n  delivery of presentations about corruption prevention and conflict of inter-
ests to all juvenile custodial staff. Presentations were included as part of the 
induction process for custodial and community corrections staff

n  hosting a full-day workshop on accountable and ethical decision making for 
all senior managers

n  development of local corruption prevention plans for prisons, using a risk 
management framework

n  Department representation on the public sector Integrity and Misconduct 
Practitioners’ Network.

Pre-employment and Probity Screening

A pre-employment integrity assessment policy was adopted in June 2008. 
When combined with the staff criminal record screening policy, it provides the 
Department with a comprehensive set of tools to ensure new staff are selected 
appropriately.

The Employment Screening Unit conducted 327 integrity assessments in the 
year under review including 29 for international applicants who commenced 
employment with the Department in June 2009.

Some 2454 screenings were conducted in 2007/08 increasing by 62% to 3944 
in 2008/09.
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The Department strives to achieve the highest level of professionalism in all areas of practice, behaviour and service delivery. It does this through corruption 
prevention, internal witness support, compliance testing, complaints administration, investigations, corporate risk and governance, pre-employment screening 
and discipline coordination. It also coordinates reforms associated with recommendations from external and internal reviews. 



Standards and Review

During 2008/09 the Department continued to improve its operational practice 
and standards of professionalism. This was achieved through the Standards 
and Review Directorate’s compliance testing and business improvement re-
views across the Adult Custodial and Community Justice Divisions.

In all, more than 30 recommendations were made during 2008/09, predomi-
nantly focused towards Community and Juvenile Justice (CJJ) business im-
provement opportunities.

Critical Review Unit

The Standards and Review Directorate’s Critical Review Unit coordinated the 
Department’s involvement in five inspections of prisons and detention centres 
undertaken by the Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services (OICS). Reports 
were tabled in Parliament for two of the inspections conducted in this financial 
year. These reports included 14 recommendations.

 A further six reports from OICS were tabled in Parliament this financial year, 
making a total of eight reports, with a total of 68 recommendations released.

The Critical Review Unit made a significant contribution to embedding a compli-
ance culture across the agency. There has been significant positive feedback 
from business areas that underwent review identifying a high degree of con-
fidence in the process and the manner in which it was conducted. A major 
achievement was the completion of the Directed Review of Broome Regional 
Prison in February 2009.

Complaints Handling

ACCESS (Administration of Complaints, Compliments and Suggestions) is a 
dedicated Department service that handles all complaints, compliments and 
suggestions and monitors their progress for action.This financial year, ACCESS 
received 1430 calls from prisoners.

The custodial ACCESS telephone line (free service), promoted at all WA pris-
ons, supplements other ACCESS services that involve the handling of compli-
ments, complaints and suggestions by staff, visitors and the general community.

The ACCESS unit has been operating since September 2007 and continues to 
gain greater recognition from stakeholders.
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ACCESS - Received Complaints, Compliments and Suggestions
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Prisoner Grievance

The prisoner grievance process resolves complaints made by prisoners. 

Some 342 prisoner grievances were received in 2008/09, representing a 23% 
increase from 2007/08.

Prisoners who choose to lodge a formal grievance must first discuss the con-
tent of the complaint with a prison unit officer, with the objective of resolution. If 
discussion cannot achieve an outcome the prisoner can request the complaint 
be escalated to a higher authority leading to the Prisoner Review Panel.

Resolution of the prisoner’s grievance can be at any stage of grievance escala-
tion.

A prisoner can withdraw the grievance at any stage of the process.

Internal Witness Support Services

Internal Witness Support Services (IWSS) provides advice and support to 
employees who witness, provide information or report suspected unethical or 
improper conduct within the Department. Staff can report misconduct by calling 
a confidential and secure hotline. Staff can also report suspected misconduct 
externally to the Corruption and Crime Commission, WA Police, or make a dis-
closure under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003.

In the 2008/09 financial year, 209 employees utilised the IWSS and more than 
49 presentations were conducted across the State, reviewing the services 
provided.

Internal Investigations

The Department’s Internal Investigations Unit (IIU) continued to conduct inves-
tigations within the Department for suspected breaches of discipline.

It was identified in 2008, through trend and theme analysis, that Department 
employees may have been unaware of their responsibilities regarding compli-
ance with some Departmental policies, given the number of matters referred to 
IIU.

The IIU developed opportunities to raise the awareness of employees’ compli-
ance responsibilities as well as raising the profile of IIU.

In August 2008, the IIU developed a training program for staff that provided 
information in the following areas:

n the role of the IIU

n the authority to investigate matters and the investigation process

n Policy Directive 41 – reporting incidents and other matters

n reporting of suspected misconduct and/or criminal activity by staff

n Policy Directive 40 – internal investigations

n ethical behaviour

n common matters investigated by the IIU.

As at 30 June 2009, the IIU had delivered 34 presentations to staff within their 
workplaces. In addition, the IIU delivered an awareness presentation to all 
prison officer training courses, prison officer bridging courses and correctional 
supervisor courses held at the Corrective Services Training Academy.

The table on the following page identifies the number and location of staff who 
have received IIU awareness training, excluding presentations delivered at the 
Corrective Services Training Academy.

Prisoner Grievance Lodgement
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DIVISION NO. OF ATTENDEES

ADULT CUSTODIAL DIVISION STAFF 425

COMMUNITY AND JUVENILE JUSTICE DIVISION STAFF 267

PUBLIC SERVICE (NON-CJS) 67

JUVENILE DETENTION CENTRE STAFF 30

MISCELLANEOUS (HEAD OFFICE) 70

ACACIA PRISON (ADMINISTRATION) 24

TOTAL 883

The result of this initiative has been a significant increase in matters reported to 
the IIU. The table below depicts the reporting trend analysis.

Number of Matters Reported to the IIU

2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/ 08 2008/09

142 173 129 172 279

Investigation Statistics for 2008/09

NEW INVESTIGATIONS 2008/09 335

INVESTIGATIONS CARRIED OVER FROM 2007/08 80

TOTAL 415

INVESTIGATIONS OUTSTANDING AT 30 JUNE 2009 80

ALLEGATIONS OF MISCONDUCT 335

MISCONDUCT INVESTIGATIONS COMPLETED 222

MISCONDUCT MATTERS REFERRED FOR FURTHER ACTION 93

PERCENTAGE OF MATTERS REFERRED FOR FURTHER ACTION 22%

INvESTIGATIONS 
COMPLAINTS 2008/09 SUBSTANTIATED COMPLETED CARRy 

OvER

ASSAULTS THREATENING 
BEHAVIOUR

52 29 29 23

ESCAPE 0 0 0 0

BREACH OF STANDARDS, 
POLICIES

64 51 57 7

DISHONESTY 17 13 12 5

CRIMINAL INJURIES 0 0 0 0

CRITICAL REVIEWS 0 0 0 0

RESOURCES 0 0 0 0

TRAFFICKING 6 1 3 3

UNLAWFUL RELEASE 0 0 0 0

As well as conducting disciplinary investigations, a primary function of the IIU is 
to identify opportunities for positive change and improvement within the De-
partment. For example, a number of matters were recently reported to the IIU 
regarding controlled prisoner medication that had been misplaced, lost or stolen 
at prison sites within the State. 

Discipline Management

The Professional Conduct Unit (PCU) provides expert advice, adjudication and 
management of the various discipline processes applicable to all employees, on 
behalf of the Commissioner.

These processes include the legislative provisions of the Prisons Act 1981, 
Public Sector Management Act 1994 and the Young Offenders Regulations 
1995 together with the common law process.

The following table identifies matters referred to the Professional Conduct Unit 
for consideration and action in the 2008/09 financial year.
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TyPE NO. OF MATTERS

MISCONDUCT (UNDER THE PSMA – INCLUDES BREACH 
OF CONFIDENTIALITY, IMPROPER ASSOCIATION AND 
INAPPROPRIATE BEHAVIOUR

45

MISCONDUCT (ASSAULT) 4

MISCONDUCT ( IMPROPER ASSOCIATION) 1

MISCONDUCT (FITNESS TO HOLD OFFICE AS A PRISON 
OFFICER)

7

MISCONDUCT (HINDER INVESTIGATION/ BREACH OF POLICY 
DIRECTIVE 40)

3

FALSIFICATION OF RECORDS 2

MISCONDUCT (PERFORMANCE OF DUTIES) 28

BREACH OF COMPUTER AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
FACILITIES POLICY, INCLUDES BREACH OF CONFIDENTIALITY, 
UNDER PRISOnS ACT 1981

15

MISCONDUCT (FAILURE TO REPORT AN INCIDENT/ BREACH OF 
POLICY DIRECTIVE 41

4

SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT 2

TOTAL 111

Future Directions 2009/10

In 2009/10, the Department will:

n deliver accountable and ethical decision making training to all staff

n review and update the Department’s Code of Conduct

n provide an online local corruption prevention plan 

n develop an Integrity Risk Management and Governance framework

n  develop an educational and prominent intranet presence for integrity and 
accountability

n  review the complaints and grievance processes, in particular the ability to 
facilitate complaints from Aboriginal offenders

n review the pre-employment screening processes and policies

n review the Custodial Standards and Review framework

n  review the Death in Custody (DIC) Policy Statement and implement a DIC 
Practice and Procedure Manual.

GOVERNANCE AND STANDARDS
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FINANCIALS

Statement of Certification

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIVE SERVICES

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2009

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Corrective Services have been prepared in compliance with the provi-
sions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the 
financial year ending 30 June 2009 and the financial position as at 30 June 2009. 

At the date of signing the Department is not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the finan-
cial statements misleading or inaccurate.

M.Kuzminski      I.Johnson

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER    COMMISSIONER

16 September 2009     16 September 2009



INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION

To the Parliament of Western Australia

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIVE SERVICES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

For the year ended 30 June 2009

I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators of the Department of Corrective 
Services.

The financial statements comprise the Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2009, and the Income Statement, Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities 
by Service and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, a sum-
mary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators

The Commissioner is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions, and the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining 
internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and key performance indicators 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting poli-
cies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and complying with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and other relevant written law.

AUDITOR GENERAL
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Summary of my Role

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements, con-
trols and key performance indicators based on my audit. This was done by testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I 
believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further 
information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. Refer “http://www.audit.wa.gov.au/pubs/Audit–
Practice–Statement_Feb09.pdf”.

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements and key performance indicators is 
error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises that an audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. 
However, my audit procedures should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of users 
of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

Department of Corrective Services
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2009

Audit Opinion

In my opinion,

i. the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the financial position of the Department of 
Corrective Services at 30 June 2009 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They 
are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions

ii. the controls exercised by the Department provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions

iii. the key performance indicators of the Department are relevant and appropriate to help users assess the Department’s 
performance and fairly represent the indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Colin Murphy
AUDITOR GENERAL
21 September 2009
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Note 2009 2008

 $000  $000 

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses 

Employee benefits expense 8  317,183  268,674 

Supplies and services 9  167,243  155,354 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 10  16,137  15,315 

Finance costs 11  18  - 

Accommodation expenses 12  10,114  7,685 

Grants and subsidies 13  7,346  6,035 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 14  13  - 

Other expenses 15  60,844  44,842 

Total cost of services  578,898  497,905 

Income

Revenue

User charges and fees 16  50  52 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 17  1,018  1,195 

Other revenue 18  33,483  31,710 

Total Revenue  34,551  32,957 

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 14  -  27 

Total Gains  -  27 

Total income other than income from State Government  34,551  32,984 

NET COST OF SERVICES  544,347  464,921 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 19 

Service appropriation  522,868  456,056 

Resources received free of charge  14,158  12,916 

Total income from State Government  537,026  468,972 

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  (7,321)  4,051 

INCOME STATEMENT for the year ended 30 June 2009

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FINANCIALS
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Note 2009 2008

 $000  $000 

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 29  31,289  51,325 

Receivables 21  11,525  8,985 

Amounts receivable for services 22  11,333  16,144 

Total current assets  54,147  76,454 

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20  3,548  2,299 

Amounts receivable for services 22  19,825  12,125 

Property, plant and equipment 23  822,252  773,465 

Intangible assets 24  7,795  8,170 

Total non-current assets  853,420  796,059 

TOTAL ASSETS  907,567  872,513 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 25  21,871  23,956 

Borrowings 26  159 -

Provisions 27  56,448  45,313 

Total current liabilities  78,478  69,269 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 26  873 -

Provisions 27  21,784  16,970 

Total non-current liabilities  22,657  16,970 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  101,135  86,239 

NET ASSETS  806,432  786,274 

EQUITY 28 

Contributed equity  611,193  601,953 

Reserves  213,576  195,337 

Accumulated deficiency  (18,337)  (11,016)

BALANCE SHEET as at 30 June 2009

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes

TOTAL EQUITy  806,432  786,274 
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Note 2009 2008

 $000  $000 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation  503,835  437,320 

Capital contributions  9,240  53,817 

Holding account drawdowns  16,144  25,751 

Net cash provided by State Government  529,219  516,888 

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  (276,618)  (235,547)

Finance costs  (18)  - 

Supplies and services  (248,230)  (217,980)

Accommodation  (10,114)  (7,685)

GST payments on purchases  (23,537)  (22,204)

GST payments to taxation authority  (2,393)  (2,732)

Receipts

Sale of goods and services  31,736  27,561 

Commonwealth grants and contributions  579  947 

GST receipts on sales  2,204  3,182 

GST receipts from taxation authority  23,676  23,168 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 29 (c)  (502,715)  (431,290)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  64  52 

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (45,331)  (49,743)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (45,267)  (49,691)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of borrowings  (24)  - 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  (24) - 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (18,787)  35,907 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  53,624  17,717 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 29 (a)  34,837  53,624 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT for the year ended 30 June 2009

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY for the year ended 30 June 2009

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note 2009 2008

 $000  $000 

Balance of equity at start of period  786,274  719,103 

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 28 

Balance at start of period  601,953  549,284 

Capital contributions  9,240  53,817 

Distributions to owners  0  (1,148)

Balance at end of period  611,193  601,953 

RESERVES

Asset Revaluation Reserve 28 

Balance at start of period  195,337  184,886 

Gains/(losses) from asset revaluation  18,239  10,451 

Balance at end of period  213,576  195,337 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 28 

Balance at start of period  (11,016)  (15,067)

Surplus/(deficit) for the period  (7,321)  4,051 

Balance at end of period  (18,337)  (11,016)

Balance of equity at end of period  806,432  786,274 

Total income and expenses for the period a  10,918  14,502 

(a) The aggregate net amount attributable to each category of equity is: deficit $7,321,000 
plus gains from asset revaluation $18,239,000 (2008: surplus $4,051,000 plus gains from as-
set revaluation $10,451,000)
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2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

 Service 1  Service 1  Service 2   Service 2  

 Adult  
Offender 
Services 

 Adult  
Offender 
Services 

 Juvenile 
Offender 
Services 

 Juvenile 
Offender 
Services 

 Total  Total 

 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense  265,011  228,106  52,172  40,568  317,183  268,674 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  13,700  13,924  2,437  1,391  16,137  15,315 

Finance costs  18  -  -  -  18 -

Loss on disposal of non-current assets  8  -  5  -  13 -

Other expenses  219,764  196,478  25,783  17,438  245,547  213,916 

Total cost of services  498,501  438,508  80,397  59,397  578,898  497,905 

Income

User charges and fees  50  52  -  -  50  52 

Commonwealth grants and contributions  858  1,012  160  183  1,018  1,195 

Other revenue  31,707  30,989  1,776  721  33,483  31,710 

Gain on disposal of non-current assets  -  29  -  (2)  -  27 

Total income other than income from State Government  32,615  32,082  1,936  902  34,551  32,984 

NET COST OF SERVICES  465,886  406,426  78,461  58,495  544,347  464,921 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 

Service appropriation  447,140  401,070  75,728  54,986  522,868  456,056 

Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Resources received free of charge  11,825  10,788  2,333  2,128  14,158  12,916 

Total income from State Government  458,965  411,858  78,061  57,114  537,026  468,972 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  (6,921)  5,432  (400)  (1,381)  (7,321)  4,051 

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE for the year ended 30 June 2009
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2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

 Service 1  Service 1  Service 2   Service 2  

 Adult  
Offender  
Services 

 Adult  
Offender  
Services 

 Juvenile  
Offender  
Services 

 Juvenile  
Offender  
Services 

 Total  Total 

 $000  $000         $000  $000  $000  $000 

Assets

Current assets  47,302  68,033  6,845  8,421  54,147  76,454 

Non-current assets  697,216  670,389  156,204  125,670  853,420  796,059 

Total Assets  744,518  738,422  163,049  134,091  907,567  872,513 

Liabilities

Current liabilities  66,880  60,474  11,598  8,795  78,478  69,269 

Non-current liabilites  18,982  14,408  3,675  2,562  22,657  16,970 

Total liabilites  85,862  74,882  15,273  11,357  101,135  86,239 

NET ASSETS  658,656  663,540  147,776  122,734  806,432  786,274 

SCHEDULE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY SERVICE for the year ended 30 June 2009

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FUND APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES for the year ended 30 June 2009

The summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations, Variance to Budget and Actual should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2009 2009 2009 2008

 Estimate  Actual  Variation  Actual  Actual  Variation 

 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

DELIVERY OF SERVICES

Item 63 net amount appropriated to deliver services  508,131  527,095  18,964  527,095  442,991  84,104 

Section 25 transfer of service appropriation  -  (5,007)  (5,007)  (5,007)  12,326  (17,333)

Amount authorised by other statutes

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  752  780  28  780  739  41 

Total appropriations provided to deliver services  508,883  522,868  13,985  522,868  456,056  66,812 

CAPITAL

Item 176 capital contribution  46,129  9,240  (36,889)  9,240  53,817  (44,577)

GRAND  TOTAL  555,012  532,108  (22,904)  532,108  509,873  22,235 

DETAILS OF EXPENSES BY SERVICES

Service 1 - Adult Offender Services  462,346  498,501  36,155  498,501  438,508  59,993 

Service 2 - Juvenile Offender Services  66,620  80,397  13,777  80,397  59,397  21,000 

Total appropriations provided to deliver services  528,966  578,898  49,932  578,898  497,905  80,993 

Total income other than income from State Government  (16,917)  (34,551)  (17,634)  (34,551) (32,957)  (1,594)

Net cost of services  512,049  544,347  32,298  544,347  464,948  79,399 

Adjustments  (3,166)  (21,479)  (18,313)  (21,479)  (8,892)  (12,587)

Total appropriations provided to purchase services  508,883  522,868  13,985  522,868  456,056  66,812 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Purchase of non-current physical assets  50,512  45,331  (5,181)  45,331  49,743  (4,412)

Adjustment for other funding sources  4,383  36,091  31,708  36,091  (4,074)  40,165 

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION (APPROPRIATION)  46,129  9,240  (36,889)  9,240  53,817  (44,577)

GRAND TOTAL  555,012  532,108  (22,904)  532,108  509,873  22,235 
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1. Department of Corrective Services Mission and Funding

The Department of Corrective Services (the Department) mission is   
to reduce re-offending, assist victims, protect staff and the community and 
encourage offenders towards law-abiding lifestyles.

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations.
The Department’s financial statements encompass all funds through which 
it controls resources to carry on its functions.

2. Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting  
Standards

The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2009 
have been prepared in accordance with Australian Equivalents to Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), which comprise a Frame-
work for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the 
framework) and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
Accounting Interpretations). 

In preparing these financial statements the Department has adopted, where 
relevant to its operations, new and revised standards and interpretations 
from their operative dates as issued by the AASB and formerly the Urgent 
Issues Group (UIG).

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or 
Australian Accounting Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronounce-
ments’. No standards and interpretations that have been issued or amended 
but are not yet effective have been early adopted by the Department for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2009. 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement
The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which 
has been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions 
(TI’s). Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary 
application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legisla-
tive provisions governing the preparation of financial statements and take 
precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements 
of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
AASB.

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial ef-
fect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting 
financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation    
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of ac-
counting using the historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of 
land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial state-
ments have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented 
unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000).

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the 
Department’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed at note 4 
‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’.

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed at note 5  ‘Key sources 
of estimation uncertainty’.   

(c) Reporting entity    

The reporting entity comprises the Department and no other related bod-
ies. 

(d) Contributed equity    
“AASB interpretation 1038 (Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-
Owned Public Sector Entities) requires transfers, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, in the nature of equity contribu-
tions to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by 
owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers 
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can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropria-
tions) have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 (Contri-
butions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities) and have 
been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 

Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions 
by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. 
Refer to note 28 ‘Equity’.”     

(e) Income    
Revenue recognition    
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receiv-
able. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of Goods      
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets 
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership control transfer to the 
purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Rendering of services    
Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by refer-
ence to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Service Appropriations    
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which 
the Department gains control of the appropriated funds.  The Department 
gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited 
into the Department’s bank account or credited to the holding account held 
at Treasury. See note 19 ‘Income from State Government’ for further detail.

Net Appropriation Determination    
“The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts 
to be retained for services under the control of the Department.  In accord-
ance with the determination specified in the 2008-2009 Budget Statements, 
the Department retained $35.67 million in 2009 ($33.0 million in 2008) from 
the following: 

n sale of prison industry goods

n commonwealth recoups

n prison canteen sales recoups

n workers compensation recoups

n criminal injuries awards

n other miscellaneous revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control 
over the assets comprising the contributions which is usually when cash is 
received.    

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are 
recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised 
when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be 
purchased if not donated.     
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net 
basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and 
some revaluations of non-current assets. 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment and Infrastructure
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets    
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or 
more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising asets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct 
to the Income Statement (other than where they form part of a group of 
similar items which are significant in total).   

Initial recognition and measurement    
All items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially 
recognised at cost.     

For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no 
cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement    
After recognition as an asset, the Department uses the revaluation model 
for the measurement of land, buildings and infrastructure and the cost 
model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings and infra-
structure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation on build-
ings and infrastructure and accumulated impairment losses. All other items 
of property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumu-

FINANCIALS

76



lated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and build-
ings is determined on the basis of current market buying values determined 
by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued 
by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net 
amount restated to the revalued amount.   

Where market-based evidence is not available, the fair value of land and 
buildings is determined on the basis of existing use.  This normally applies 
where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted.  Fair value 
for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing 
the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, ie. the de-
preciated replacement cost.  Where the fair value of buildings is dependent 
on using the depreciated replacement cost, the gross carrying amount and 
the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately.

Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and 
recognised with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does 
not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the balance sheet date.  

Derecognition    
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure, any revaluation reserve relating to that asset is retained 
in the asset revaluation reserve.    

Asset Revaluation Reserve     

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements 
on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in note 23 ‘Property, 
Plant and Equipment’.     

Depreciation of non-current assets    
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreci-
ated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consump-
tion of their future economic benefits.    

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using 
the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Estimat-
ed useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:  

n Buildings - 50 years    

n Leasehold improvements - 10 years    

n Information technology systems - 5 years    

n Plant, equipment and vehicles - 4 –15 years     

Building and information technology projects are reported as Works In 
Progress until commissioned.    

(g) Intangible assets    
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets    
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5000 or more and internally gen-
erated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost 
of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs 
incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the 
Income Statement.       

All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recog-
nised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is 
their fair value at the date of acquisition.    

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset 
to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.      

“Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for 
the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the straight line 
basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets control-
led by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The 
expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

n Software - 3– 5 years

n Website costs - 3– 5 years    

Computer Software    
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as prop-
erty, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related 
hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than 
$5000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.   

Website costs    
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless 
they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset when they may be 
capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies 
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during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance 
during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or 
enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future eco-
nomic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised.      
 

(h) Impairment of assets    
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are 
tested for any indication of impairment at each balance sheet date. Where 
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. 
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset 
is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and 
an impairment loss is recognised. As the Department is a not-for-profit en-
tity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreci-
ated replacement cost.  

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an as-
set’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost 
is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant 
class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated deprecia-
tion/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s 
future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling 
replacement costs.       

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet 
available for use are tested for impairment at each balance sheet date ir-
respective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

(i) Leases    
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised at the com-
mencement of the lease term as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the 
fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payments determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are 
disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciat-
ed over the period during which the Department is expected to benefit from 
their use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the 
interest rate implicit in the lease.    

The Department has entered into a number of operating lease arrange-
ments: 

•	 for buildings through the Department of Housing and Works

•	 for passenger and light commercial motor vehicles through the State 
Supply Commission    

•	 for office equipment.    

Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

(j) Financial instruments    
In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instru-
ment:    

•	 Loans and receivables; and    

•	 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

These have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

Financial Assets     

•	 Cash and cash equivalents    

•	 Restricted cash and cash equivalents     
Receivables    

•	 Amounts receivable for services    

Financial Liabilities    

•	 Payables    

•	 Finance lease liabilities    

•	 Accrued expenses    

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value 
which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subse-
quent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost 
or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subse-
quent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not mate-
rial.       

(k) Cash and cash equivalents    
For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents 
includes restricted cash and cash equivalents. These are comprised of cash 
on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or 
less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are 
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subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Accrued salaries    
The accrued salaries suspense account (refer to note 20 Restricted cash 
and cash equivalents) consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense 
account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional 
cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur in that year 
instead of the normal 26.  No interest is received on this account.  

Accrued salaries (refer to note 25 payables) represent the amount due to 
staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the pay date for the last 
pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the finan-
cial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year 
end.  The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to 
be equivalent to its net fair value.

The last pay day in 2008/09 was 25 June. Therefore, an accrual of 3 days 
was necessary in this financial year.

(m) Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
The Department receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis that 
recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of services. The appro-
priations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account 
receivable) that is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding require-
ment to cover items such as leave entitlements and asset replacement. 

(n) Receivables    
Receivables are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount less 
an allowance for any uncollectable amounts (ie.impairment). The collect-
ability of receivables is continually reviewed and any receivables identified 
as uncollectable are written off. The allowance for uncollectable amounts 
(doubtful debts) is raised where there is objective evidence that the Depart-
ment will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent 
to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  

Refer to note 21 Receivables. 

(o) Payables    
Payables are recognised when the Department becomes obliged to make 
future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carry-
ing amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 
days. See note 25 Payables.

(p) Provisions    
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised 
where there is a present legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a re-
sult of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. See 
note 27 ‘Provisions’     

(i) Provisions - Employee Benefits
 Annual Leave and Long Service Leave   
The liability for annual leave is expected to be settled within 12  
months after the balance sheet date is recognised and measured at  
the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. Annual leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after 
the balance sheet date is measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are 
in respect of services provided by employees up to the balance sheet 
date.

 When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary compo-
nents such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the 
long service leave liability also considers the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.     

 A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has 
completed four years of service. An actuarial assessment of long serv-
ice leave undertaken by Price Waterhouse Coopers Actuaries in 2008 
determined that the liability measured using the short hand method was 
not materially different from the liability measured using the present 
value of expected future payments.      

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an un-
conditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the balance sheet date.     

 (ii) Provisions - Other    
 Employment on-costs    
 Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are 
not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and 
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expenses when the employment to which they relate, has occurred. 
Employment on-costs are included as part of Other expenses and are 
not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. 
The related liability is included in Employment on-cost provision. See 
notes 15 and 27.     

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers 
the following superannuation schemes. 

Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pen-
sion scheme now closed to new members or the Gold State Superannua-
tion Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new 
members. The Department has no liabilities for superannuation charges 
under the Pension or the GSS Schemes as the liability has been assumed 
by the Treasurer.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not 
members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes became non-contribu-
tory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employ-
ees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumula-
tion schemes. The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB on 
behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s 
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These contributions 
extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS 
and GESBS Schemes. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS 
Schemes, and is recouped by the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

(q) Superannuation expense
The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation ex-
pense in the Income Statement: 

(i) Defined Benefit plans - For 2007/08, the change in the unfunded 
employer’s liability (i.e. current service cost and, actuarial gains and 
losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of current employees who 
are members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who ac-
crued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the Gold State Super-
annuation Scheme (GSS); and

(ii) Defined contribution plans - employer contributions paid to the GSS 
(concurrent contributions), the West State Superannuation (WSS) 
Scheme, and the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).

Defined benefit plans - For 2007/08, the movements (i.e. current service 
cost and, actuarial gains and losses) in the liabilities in respect of the Pen-
sion Scheme and the GSS Scheme transfer benefits are recognised as 
expenses directly in the Income Statement. As these liabilities are assumed 
by the Treasurer (refer note 3(q)(i)), a revenue titled ‘Liabilities assumed 
by the Treasurer’ equivalent to the expense is recognised under Income 
from State Government in the Income Statement. See note 19 ‘Income from 
State Government’. Commencing in 2008/09, the reporting of annual move-
ments in these notional liabilities has been discontinued and is no longer 
recognised in the Income Statement. 

The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to 
retirees as this does not constitute part of the cost of services provided in 
the current year.

Defined contribution plans - in order to reflect the Department’s true cost of 
services, the Department is funded for the equivalent of employer contribu-
tions in respect of the GSS Scheme (excluding transfer benefits). These 
contributions were paid to the GESB during the year and placed in a trust 
account administered by the GESB on behalf of the Treasurer. The GESB 
subsequently paid these employer contributions in respect of the GSS 
Scheme to the Consolidated Account.

The GSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employ-
ees and whole of government reporting. However, apart from the transfer 
benefit, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the 
concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the agency to 
GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation 
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liability.      

(r) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost 
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably 
measured are recognised as income and as assets or expenses as appro-
priate, at fair value.    

(s) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable 
with the figures presented in the current financial year.    
   

4. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 
      

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements include:  

Operating Lease Commitments    
The Department has entered into a number of commercial lease arrange-
ments and has determined that the lessor retains all the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the property. Accordingly, the leases have been 
classified as operating leases.    

      

5. Key sources of estimation uncertainty    
 

The key estimates and assumptions made concerning the future, and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:  

n Impairment of Intangible Assets    

The Department assesses impairment of intangible assets at each bal-
ance sheet date. Where there is an indication of impairment (such as falling 
replacement costs), the recoverable amount (depreciated replacement cost) 
of the intangible asset is estimated. Calculations performed in assessing 
recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates.   
 

6. Services of the Department  
Information about the Department’s services is set out in the Schedule of 
Income and Expenses by Service. The services of the Department are:  
  

(i) Adult Offender Services    
The custody, containment, care, wellbeing and rehabilitation of adult 
offenders and their reintegration into, and reparation to, the community 
is managed through prisons and the supervision of offenders in the 
community. This includes the provision of remedial programs; further 
education and employment skills; sentencing reports; assessment 
reports outlining offenders’ suitability for release or their progress in 
the community to releasing authorities such as the Prisoners’ Review 
Board; providing policy advice; infrastructure management; and plan-
ning and collaborating with other agencies.  

(ii) Juvenile Offender Services    
Juvenile offenders are managed in custody and in the community to 
fulfil the orders of the courts and through diversion from court programs.  
Juveniles participate in remedial, educational and rehabilitation pro-
grams that address their offending behaviour. 

CORPORATE  SERVICES    

Corporate services costs have been allocated on a service level agreement 
basis to services.  

7. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates  
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard  

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards 
and Australian Accounting Interpretations effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008 that impacted on the Department: 
  

n Review of AAS 27 ‘Financial Reporting by Local Governments’, AAS 29 
‘Financial Reporting by Government Departments and AAS 31 ‘Financial 
Reporting by Governments’. The AASB has made the following pronounce-
ments from its short term review of AAS 27, AAS 29 and AAS 31:

•	 AASB 1004 ‘Contributions’;
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•	 AASB 1050 ‘Administered Items’;

•	 AASB 1052 ‘Disaggregated Disclosures’;

•	 AASB 2007-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arisinfrom the review of AASs 27, 29 and 31 [AASB 3, AASB 5, 
AASB 8, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 116, AASB 127 & AASB 
137];

•	 Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-
Owned Public Sector Entities’.

•	 The existing requirements in AAS 27, AAS 29 and AAS 31 have 
been transferred to the above new and revised topic-based Stand-
ards and Interpretation. These requirements remain substantively 
unchanged. The new and revised Standards and Interpretation 
make some modifications to disclosures and provide additional 
guidance (for example, Australian Guidance to AASB 116 ‘Property, 
Plant and Equipment’ in relation to heritage and cultural assets has 
been introduced), otherwise there is no financial impact.

•	 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or 
Australian Accounting Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronounce-
ments’. Consequently, the Department has not applied early the following 
Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations 
that have been issued and which may impact the Department but are not 
yet effective. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Stand-
ards and Interpretations from their application date:

   

operative for 
reporting peri-
ods beginning 
on/after

AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (Sep-
tember 2007). This Standard has been revised and will 
change the structure of the financial statements. These 
changes will require that owner changes in equity are pre-
sented separately from non-owner changes in equity. The 
Department does not expect any financial impact when 
the Standard is first applied.

1 January 
2009

AASB 2008-13 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 17 – Distribu-
tions of Non-cash Assets to Owners [AASB 5 & AASB 
110]. This Standard amends AASB 5 ‘Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’ in respect 
of the classification, presentation and measurement of 
non-current assets held for distribution to owners in their 
capacity as owners. This may impact on the presentation 
and classification of Crown land held by the Department 
where the Crown land is to be sold by the Department of 
Regional Development and Lands (formerly Department 
for Planning and Infrastructure). The Department does 
not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first 
applied prospectively.

1 July 2009

AASB 2009-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Improving Disclosures about Financial Instru-
ments [AASB 4, AASB 7, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]’. 
This Standard amends AASB 7 and will require enhanced 
disclosures about fair value measurements and liquidity 
risk with respect to financial instruments. The Department 
does not expect any financial impact when the Standard 
is first applied. 

1 January 
2009
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8. Employee benefits expenses     

 2009 2008

$000 $000

Wages and salaries (a)  249,358  216,065 

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 
(b)

 23,708  20,004 

Superannuation - defined benefit plans (c)(d)  -  - 

Long service leave (e)  12,424  8,325 

Annual leave (e)  31,693  24,280 

 317,183  268,674 
     

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe ben-
efits tax component.   

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super 
Scheme (contributions paid).   

(c) Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme and Gold State (pre-transfer 
benefit). 

(d) An equivalent notional income is also recognised (see note 19 ‘Income from 
State Government’). Commencing in 2008/09, the reporting of notional superan-
nuation expense and equivalent notional income has been discontinued.  
 

(e) Includes a superannuation contribution component.   

Annual leave and long service leave expenses were significantly increased 
during 2008/09 due to a reassessment of long service leave short hand fac-
tors (thought necessary in the current economic environment of low interest 
rates), and a one off adjustment to leave balances to add back leave booked 
in advance and erroneously excluded from the HR system as at 30 June 09. 
The increases to leave expenses were as follows: annual leave $5.3m and long 
service leave $4.7m.

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included 
at note 15 ‘Other Expenses’. The employment on-costs liability is included at 
note 27 ‘Provisions’ 

9. Supplies and services      

2009 2008

$000 $000

Services and contracts  105,327  95,472 

Resources free of charge (a)  14,158  12,916 

Goods and supplies purchased  32,697  33,431 

Electricity and water  4,998  4,275 

Communication expenses  6,397  5,727 

Plant, equipment and vehicle operating lease 
expenses

 3,666  3,533 

 167,243  155,354 
     

Electricity and water, communications, and plant, equipment and vehicle 
operating lease expenses have been included under the Supplies and services 
classification (note 9) from 2008/09 onwards. These were included under Other 
expenses (note 16) in previous financial years. The 2007/08 figures have been 
restated for comparative purposes.

(a) refer to note 15 for detailed breakdown   

10. Depreciation and amortisation 
  

Depreciation

Buildings  12,565  12,178 

Property, plant, equipment and vehicles  951  884 

Leased Vehicles  56  - 

Total depreciation  13,572  13,062 
Amortisation

Leasehold improvements  240  243 

IT systems  2,325  2,010 

Total amortisation  2,565  2,253 
 16,137  15,315 
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11. Finance Costs      

2009 2008

$000 $000

Finance lease finance charges  18  - 

 18  - 
The Department entered into numerous finance leases during 2008/09 for the 

purchase of replacement vehicles for the Department’s secure fleet. Leasing 
was the preferred option for the purchase of these vehicles    
    
12. Accommodation expenses

     

Building rental operating lease expenses  10,114  7,685 

10,114 7,685 
     

13. Grants and subsidies     

  

Offenders gratuities  6,332 5,989

Other grants and subsidies 1,014 46

7,346 6,035
     
14. Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-current assets
      

Costs of Disposal of Non-Current Assets

Plant, equipment and vehicles  77  25 

Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets

Plant, equipment and vehicles  64  52 

Net gain / (loss)  (13)  27 
     

  
15. Other expenses    

    

2009 2008

$000 $000

Building repairs and maintenance  10,462 9,405

Plant, equipment and vehicle repairs and main-
tenance

 3,139  2,940 

Vehicle hire, fuel, registration and management 
fees

 4,795  3,720 

Insurance  1,321  1,063 

Employment on-costs  9,906  3,767 

Other staff costs  21,381  14,401 

Other expenses  9,840  9,546 

 60,844  44,842 

16. User charges and fees

Miscellaneous fees and charges  50  52 

50  52

17. Commonwealth grants and contributions

Commonwealth recoup other  1,018  1,195 

 1,018  1,195
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18. Other revenue      

2009 2008

$000 $000

Sale of produce and goods  3,444  2,426 

Canteen sales  6,050  5,391 

Recoup of salaries and workers compensation  7,329  3,456 

Recoup of telephones, postage and other reim-
bursements

 2,426  2,180 

Other miscellaneous revenue (1)  2,504  2,595 

Recoup of CS&CS contract costs from  
Department of the Attorney General

 11,730  15,662 

 33,483  31,710 
     

Recoup of CS&CS contract costs commenced July 2008   
19. Income from State Government    

      

Appropriation revenue received during the year 
(1)

Service appropriations  522,868  456,056 

522,868  456,056
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer during the 

financial year (2)
  

Superannuation - employees - -

- -

   

2009 2008

 $000  $000 

Resources received free of charge (3)

Determined on the basis of estimates provided by 
agencies as follows:

Department of Treasury and Finance

 - provision of integrated procurement services 223 236

Department of the Attorney General

  - provision of bureau and legal services 13,100 11,786

Treasury / Housing & Works (Commercial Property 
Branch)

 - notional management fee  204  140

Department of Land Information

 - valuation services, land registration and informa-
tion

 2  2

Health Department of Western Australia

 - provision of medical, health, dental services and 
forensic services for post mortems

 629  752

 14,158  12,916 
     

(1) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of 
services delivered.  The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component 
and a receivable (asset).  The receivable (holding account) comprises the de-
preciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during 
the year.   

 (2) The requirement for agencies to report a notional superannuation 
expense (and an equivalent notional income) where the Pension scheme and 
the pre-transfer benefit component of the Gold State Superannuation (GSS) 
scheme liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer has been discontinued 
commencing with agencies whose annual reporting periods are on or after 31 
December 2008.   
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(3) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for 
nominal cost, the Department recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value 
of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably meas-
ured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated, and 
those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable. 

   
20. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

         

2009 2008

$000 $000

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense account  3,548  2,299 

 3,548  2,299 
Amount held in the suspense account is to be only used for the purpose of 

meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.    
     
21. Receivables  

     

Current

Receivables  6,861  6,014 

GST receivable  2,904  2,740 

Prepayments  473  219 

Accrued Revenue  1,287  12 

 11,525  8,985 
     

The Department does not have any significant exposure to any individual cus-
tomer or counterparty.   

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit en-
hancements relating to receivables.   

     

     

22. Amounts receivable for services    

2009  2008

 $000  $000 

Current  11,333  16,144 

Non-current  19,825  12,125 

 31,158  28,269 
Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  See note 3(o) 
‘Amounts receivable for services (Holding account)’ .It is restricted in that it can 
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.   
  
23. Property, plant and equipment    

   

Land

At fair value (1)  103,206 95,889

103,206 95,889
Buildings   

At fair value (1) 647,220 607,668

647,220 607,668
Leasehold improvements   

At cost  3,963  3,963

Accumulated depreciation (2,610) (2,370)

1,353 1,593
Plant, equipment & vehicles   

At cost  15,545 15,162

Accumulated depreciation  (9,482)  (9,073)

6,063 6,089
Leased Vehicles

At cost  1,056 -

Accumulated depreciation (56) -

1,000 -
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2009 2008
$000 $000

Work in progress   

Buildings 61,986 61,016

IT systems  1,424  1,210

Total property, plant and equipment & vehicles  63,410  62,226 

Total  822,252  773,465
     

(1) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2008 by the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were 
performed during the year ended 30 June 2009 and recognised at 30 June 
2009. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference 
to market values for land: $8,870,000. For the remaining balance, fair value of 
land and buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement 
cost.       

Reconciliations    

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and 
vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below.

  

Land

Carrying amount at start of year  95,889  80,675 

Revaluation increments  7,317  15,214 

Carrying amount at end of year  103,206  95,889 
Buildings

Carrying amount at start of year  607,668  602,681 

Additions  41,196  21,926 

Revaluation increments  10,921  (4,761)

Depreciation  (12,565)  (12,178)

Carrying amount at end of year  647,220  607,668 
Leasehold improvements

2009 2008

$000 $000

Carrying amount at start of year  1,593  1,836 

Depreciation  (240)  (243)

Carrying amount at end of year  1,353  1,593 
Property, plant and equipment & vehicles

Carrying amount at start of year  6,089  5,448 

Additions  998  1,550 

Disposals  (73)  (25)

Distributions from owner  -  - 

Depreciation  (951)  (884)

Carrying amount at end of year  6,063  6,089 
Leased Vehicles

Carrying amount at start of year  -  - 

Additions  1,056  - 

Disposals  - 

Depreciation  (56)  - 

Carrying amount at end of year  1,000  - 
Work in progress

Carrying amount at start of year  62,226  37,729 

Additions  44,330  49,286 

Distributions to owner  -  (1,148)

Transfers to non-current assets  (43,146)  (23,641)

Carrying amount at end of year  63,410  62,226 
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment at 30 

June 2009.
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24. Intangible assets  

  

2009 2008

$000 $000

Computer software

At cost  23,376  21,426 

Accumulated amortisation  (15,581)  (13,256)

 7,795  8,170 
Reconciliations    

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of Intangible assets at the beginning 
and end of the reporting period are set out below.    

IT systems

Carrying amount at start of year  8,170  8,463 

Additions  1,950  1,717 

Distributions from owner  -  - 

Amortisation  (2,325)  (2,010)

Carrying amount at end of year  7,795  8,170 
     

There were no indications of impairment to intangible assets at 30 June 2009. 
The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life during the reporting period and at balance sheet date there were no intangi-
ble assets not yet available for use.

25. Payables    

  

Current

Trade and other creditors  9,205  11,857 

Accrued salaries and wages  3,340  4,854 

Accrued expenses  9,326  7,245 

Total  21,871  23,956 
See also note 3(p) and note 37 ‘Financial Instruments’

26. Borrowings    
  

2009 2008

$000 $000

Current

Finance lease liabilities-motor vehicles  159 

 159  - 
Non-current

Finance lease liabilities-motor vehicles  873 

 873  - 

Total finance lease liability  1,032  - 
     
The Department entered into numerous finance leases during 2008/09 for the 

purchase of replacement vehicles for the Department’s secure fleet. Leasing 
was the preferred option for the purchase of these vehicles.  

27. Provisions 

Current

Employee benefits provisions

Annual leave (a)  22,498  20,085 

Long service leave (b)  24,498  20,934 

Superannuation  8,126  3,114 

 55,122  44,133 
Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c)  1,326 1,180

 56,448  45,313 
Non-current    

Employee benefits provisions

Long service leave (b)  19,962  15,536 

Superannuation 1,255 967

21,217 16,503
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2009 2008

$000 $000

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c)  567 467

 21,784  16,970 
     

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet 
date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows:   

Within 12 months of balance sheet date  22,498  20,085 

More than 12 months after balance sheet date - - 

22,498  20,085

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where 
there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities 
will occur as follows:      

  

Within 12 months of balance sheet date  24,498  20,934 

More than 12 months after balance sheet date 19,962  15,536

44,460  36,470
     

(c) The settlement of annual and long services leave liabilities gives rise to 
the payment of employment on-costs including workers compensation insur-
ance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The 
associated expense is disclosed in note 15 ‘Other expenses’.

28. Equity    

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department.  
The Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the 
community.  The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity 
from the revaluation of non-current assets.   

       

2009 2008

$000 $000

Distribution to Government

Assets

Work in Progress  -  (1,148)

 -  (1,148)
Contributed equity

Balance at start of year  601,953  549,284 

Capital contributions  9,240  53,817 

Distributions to owner (a)  -  (1,148)

Balance at end of year  611,193  601,953 
     

(a) Distribution to owner represents the accumulated costs relating to the 
development of a prisoner transport/custody tracking system called the C3S 
contract. Costs of this project have been incurred by both the Department of 
Corrective Services and the Department of the Attorney General.  When the 
project becomes operational it will ultimately become part of the Central Law 
Courts infrastructure and therefore belong to the Department of the Attorney 
General. These costs were therefore transferred to the Department of the At-
torney General via a distribution to owner.
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 2009 2008

$000 $000

Reserves    

Asset revaluation reserve

Land

Balance at the start of the year  39,611  24,397 

Net revaluation increments  7,317  15,214 

Balance at the end of the year  46,928  39,611 
Buildings

Balance at the start of the year  155,726  160,489 

Net revaluation increments  10,922  (4,763)

Balance at the end of the year  166,648  155,726 

Total asset revaluation reserve  213,576  195,337 
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decre-

ments on the revaluation of non-current assets, as described in accounting 
policy note 3 (g).

Accumulated surplus / (deficit)

Balance at the start of the year (11,016) (15,067)

Result for the period (7,321) 4,051

Balance at the end of the year (18,337) (11,016)

Total equity 806,432 786,274
  
29. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement    

(a) Reconciliation of cash   

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is 
reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:  
 

     

     

  

2009 2008

$000 $000

Cash and cash equivalents - operating account  30,981 50,624

Cash and cash equivalents - permanent and 
temporary advances

 308  701 

 31,289  51,325 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 20)  3,548  2,299 

 34,837  53,624 
(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities   

During the financial year there were no assets/liabilities transferred/assumed 
to/from other government agencies not reflected in the cash flow statement.

(c) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operat-
ing activities      

Net cost of services (Income Statement)  (544,347)  (464,921)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation  16,137  15,315 

Resources received free of charge  14,158  12,916 

Net loss on sale of property, plant and equip-
ment

 13  (25)

Distributions to owner  -  (1,148)

Increase in assets:

Receivables  (2,540)  (3,064)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Wages and salaries accrued  (1,514)  3,972 

Provisions  15,949  6,972 

Other current liabilities  (571)  (1,307)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activi-
ties

 (502,715)  (431,290)
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(d) At the Balance Sheet date the Department had fully drawn on all 
financing facilities, details of which are disclosed in the financial statements.  
    
30. Resources provided free of charge    

     

During the year the following resources were provided to other agencies free of 
charge for functions outside the normal operations of the Department:  
  

2009 2008

$000 $000

Department of the Attorney General for contract 
management and administrative costs in regard 
to the Court Security and Custodial Services 
contract.

- 1,505

     

The Department now recoups CS&CS contract operational costs from the De-
partment of the Attorney General. Refer to note 18.    
   

31. Commitments    

(a) Capital expenditure commitments   

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure ad-
ditional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as 
follows:      

Within 1 year  52,974  22,325 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  5,000  5,000 

 57,974  27,325 
The capital commitments include amounts for:

Land and buildings  55,921  26,173 

Other  2,053  1,152 

 57,974  27,325 
 

    

 (b) Lease commitments     

The Department leases certain premises, motor vehicles and items of plant and 
office equipment. The lease expenditure is expensed as it is incurred. These 
are commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but 
not recognised as liabilities payable. At reporting date the Department had the 
following obligations under operating leases.

The Department entered into numerous finance leases during 2008/09 for the 
purchase of replacement vehicles for the Department’s secure fleet. Leasing 
was the preferred option for the purchase of these vehicles.  

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the balance sheet date but 
not recognised in the financial statements are payable as follows:   
  

2009 2008

$000 $000

Within 1 year  9,696 8,743

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  23,852  20,954 

Later than 5 years  24,929  27,143 

 58,477  56,840 
Representing:

Non cancellable operating leases  58,245  56,840 

Future finance charges on finance leases  232  - 

 58,477  56,840 
(i) Finance lease commitments   

Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases are payable 
as follows: 

  

Within 1 year 215

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  800 

Later than 5 years  249 

Minimum finance lease payments  1,264  - 

Less future finance charges  (232)

Present value of finance lease liabilities  1,032  - 
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The present value of finance leases payable is as follows:  

  

2009 2008

$000 $000

Within 1 year 159

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  651 

Later than 5 years  222 

Present value of finance lease liabilities  1,032  - 

Included in the financial statements as:

Current (refer note 26)  159  - 

Non-current (refer note 26)  873  - 

 1,032  - 
 

(ii) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments   

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:   
  

Within 1 year  9,640 8,744

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  23,703  20,954 

Later than 5 years  24,902  27,142 

 58,245  56,840 
     

(c) Other expenditure commitments   

Contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities are as fol-
lows:      

  

Within 1 year  66,355  62,608 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  64,633  128,409 

 130,988  191,017 
     

Other expenditure commitments include the CS&CS and Acacia Prison con-
tracts.     

     

     
32. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets    

Contingent liabilities   

In addition to the liabilities incorporated into the financial statements the De-
partment has the following contingent liabilities.   

2009 2008

$000 $000

Claims against the Department of Corrective 
Services from the general public and offenders.

350 550

     

Contaminated sites   

  

Site Remediation - contaminated and suspected 
contaminated sites

 3,191  1,249 

     

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, The Department is required to report 
known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of the Environment 
and Conservation (DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites 
on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental 
values. Where sites are classified as contaminated, remediation is required. 
Where sites are possibly contaminated, investigation is required. The Depart-
ment may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses. 
     

Contingent assets   

The Department has no contingent assets.   
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33. Remuneration of senior officers    

The number of senior officers whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, 
non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the 
following bands:    

  

2009 2008

$000 $000

$ 120,001 - $ 130,000 1

$ 130,001 - $ 140,000  2 

$ 140,001 - $ 150,000  1  - 

$ 150,001 - $ 160,000  2  2 

$ 160,001 - $ 170,000  2 

$ 170,001 - $ 180,000  1 

$ 180,001 - $ 190,000  1  1 

$ 190,001 - $ 200,000

$ 200,001 - $ 210,000  1 

$ 230,001 - $ 240,000  1 

$ 240,001 - $ 250,000  1 

$ 280,001 - $ 290,000  1 

$ 290,001 - $ 300,000

$ 340,001 - $ 350,000  1 

$ 350,001 - $ 360,000  1 

 11  8 
The total remuneration of senior officers is: 2,057 1,663 

     

Senior officers are those who take part in the management of the organisation 
and are members of the Commissioner’s Executive Team. Deemed to be the 
Commissioner, Deputy Commissioners and Assistant Commissioners.  

No senior officers are members of the Superannuation and Family Benefits Act 
Scheme (Pension Scheme).   

       

34. Related and affiliated bodies  

 

 2009 2008

 $000  $000 

The Department had no related bodies during 
the financial year.

   

35. Supplementary financial information    

  

Write-Offs

Revenue and debts to the State written off in ac-
cordance with Section 48 of the Financial Man-
agement Act.

Accountable Officer  -  - 
     
36. Remuneration of Auditor    

     

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in 
respect of the audit for the current financial year 
is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
performance indicators

 80  85 
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37. Financial Instruments
a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, 
finance leases, restricted cash and cash equivalents and receivables and 
payables. All of the Department’s cash is held in the public bank account (non-
interest bearing) apart from restricted cash held in a special purpose account. 
The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s 
overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified 
below. 

Credit risk exposure 

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables 
defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the De-
partment.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance sheet date in relation to each 
class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those as-
sets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as shown in the table at Note 
37(c) ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ and Note 21 ‘Receivables’. 

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal 
because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding 
account). For receivables other than government, the Department trades only 
with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in 
place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with 
an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is 
minimal. At the Balance Sheet date there were no significant concentrations of 
credit risk. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obliga-
tions as they fall due. The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its 
trading in the normal course of business. 

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including 
drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that 
sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Market Risk       

The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially ex-
posed to other price risks (for example, equity securities or commodity prices 
changes). The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all cash 

and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing.The Depart-
ment has no borrowings. 

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments    

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2009 2008

Financial Assets $000 $000

Cash and cash equivalents  31,289 51,325 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  3,548 2,299 

Receivables  8,621 6,245 

Amounts receivable for services  31,158 28,269 

Financial Liabilities

Payables 9,205 11,857

Accrued expenses 12,666 12,099

Finance lease 1,032 0

Receivables exclude GST receivable from the ATO (statutory receivable) 
AASB132.AG12

(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures    

 Credit Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposures   

 The following tables disclose the Department’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk, interest rate exposures and the ageing analysis of financial assets. 
The Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date 
is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses 
the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired 
financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior manage-
ment of the Department.

AASB 7.36(b) The Department does not hold any collateral as security or 
other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.

AASB 7.36(d) The Department does not hold any financial assets that had to 
have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in them being 
past due or impaired.
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Contractual Maturity Dates

 Weighted 
average 

effective in-
terest rate 

 Variable 
interest 

rate 

Non inter-
est bearing

Within 1 
year

1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years More than 
5 years

Impaired 
financial 

assets

Carrying

Amount

 %  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

Financial assets

2009

Cash and cash equivalents  31,289  31,289 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

 3,548  3,548 

Receivables (a)  8,621  8,621 

Amounts receivable for services  31,158  31,158 

 0  74,616  0  0  0  0  0  74,616 

2008

Cash and cash equivalents  51,325  51,325 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

 2,299  2,299 

Receivables (a)  6,245  6,245 

Amounts receivable for services  28,269  28,269 

 0  88,138  0  0  0  0  0  88,138 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).



Liquidity Risk      

The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts are representative of the undiscounted 
amounts at the balance sheet date. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. An adjustment has been made where material.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial liabilities

 Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 

 Variable 
interest rate 

Non inter-
est bearing

Within 1 
year

1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years More than 
5 years

Impaired 
financial 

assets

Carrying

Amount

 %  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

Financial liabilities

2009

Payables  9,205  9,205 

Accrued expenses  12,666  12,666 

Finance Lease Liabilites 5.96%  1,032  1,032 

 1,032  21,871  0  0  0  0  0  22,903 

2008

Payables  11,857  11,857 

Accrued expenses  12,099  12,099 

Finance Lease Liabilites  0  0 

 0  23,956  0  0  0  0  0  23,956 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis   

The Department does not account for any fixed or variable rate financial assets or liabilities. Therefore a change of 100 basis points in interest rates would 
have no effect on the Department’s surplus or deficit, or on equity.

   

Fair Values   

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a 
reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

FINANCIALS
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38. Explanatory Statement
The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates 

discloses appropriations and other statutes expenditure estimates, the actual 
expenditure and revenue estimates and payments into the Consolidated 
Fund, on an accrual basis.

The following explanations are provided in accordance with Treasurer’s In-
struction 945. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 
5% and $300,000.

2009

$000

Delivery of services appropriation limits were increased 
for:

Secure vehicle fleet 131 

GA 4 Wage Increase 4,966 

Funding for adjusted DAP (Daily Average Prisoner 
Numbers) (3,900)

10,513 

Doctors’ AMA Pay Increase 1,093 

Increase in Pharmaceutical Items 346 

“NGHSS Indexation - Adjustment 35 

GROH rental costs 4,435 

Final DAP funding  5,228 

Salaries & Allowances Act - SAT Determination  28 

These increases were offset by: 

3% Efficiency Dividend  (7,631)

Media & Marketing, Consultants & Advertising Savings  (152)

Section 25 Transfer of EP Watchhouse to Police  (5,007)

Increase in net amount appropriated to deliver outputs  13,985 

Capital contribution limits were increased for:

New Young Men’s Prison  1,000 

These increases were offset by: 

Overdrawn from prior year - 2007-08  (11,000)

Derby Prison reflows  (26,889)

Decrease in capital contribution  (36,889)

Decrease in net amount appropriated to deliver outputs (22,904)

2009

 $000 

A Details of authorisation to expend in advance of appropriation

To meet initiatives approved during the financial year and other unavoid-
able costs, supplementary appropriation requests were approved.

Delivery of services 13,985

Capital contribution (36,889)

(22,904)



B Significant variations between actual expenditure and 
budget estimates for 2008/09

2009

Recurrent $000

Service 1 - Adult Offender Services  Excess 36,155

Variance was mainly due to:

Funding for increased offender numbers

Transfer of functions from the Department of 
the Attorney General

Increase in employee benefits expense

Service 2 - Juvenile Offender Services  Excess 13,777

Increase in employee benefits expense

Additional costs of operating custodial serv-
ices, including an increase in FTE’s.

Capital

The 2008/09 capital works program budget of $50.512 million was to 
be financed from:

Appropriation for services  9,240 

Drawdowns from holding account  16,144 

Capital contribution  25,128 

50,512

Total payments in 2008/09 for the Depart-
ment of Corrective Services were $46.45 
million (2007/08 $49.74 million). These were 
financed from:

Drawdowns from the holding account 16,144

Capital contribution 9,240

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
during 2008/09

21,066

46,450

Details of significant variances in capital expenditure from budget

Condition Upgrade Existing Broome Re-
gional Prison

 Saving 1,754

Construction of this project is at practical 
completion. Some underspend is due to de-
lays in invoicing. Funding is fully committed. 

Building Maintenance/Infrastructure (Adult 
Custodial Services)

 Saving 783

Underspend caused by delays in the 
processing of tenders and high musters, 
preventing access to prison sites. This has 
resulted in flowing the projects across finan-
cial years. Non-essential projects have also 
been delayed due to the efficiency dividend.  
The infrastructure program has been fully 
approved and the funding fully allocated. 
Programs are provisionally scheduled for 
completion in 2009/10. 

Kimberley Prison 1/Work Camp 1  Saving 3,050

Project delayed due to issues with site ac-
quisition. Funds reflowed to 2009/10

CJS - Office Establishment & Refurbish-
ment

 Saving 597

This project was rescoped during the mid-
year review and reflowed to out years. This 
was mainly due to a conflict between scope 
and budget which delayed the implemen-
tation of various office accommodation 
upgrades. An improved governance frame-
work has now been established to address 
this issue.

New Young Men’s Prison  Saving 960

Project delayed due to issues with consoli-
dation of scope. Funds reflowed to 2009/10

FINANCIALS
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Infrastructure & Upgrade & Replacement 
Programs

 Saving 779

Underspend caused by delays in the 
processing of tenders and high musters 
preventing access to prison sites. This has 
resulted in flowing the projects across finan-
cial years. Non-essential projects have also 
been delayed due to the efficiency dividend.  
The infrastructure program has been fully 
approved and the funding fully allocated. 
Programs are provisionally scheduled for 
completion in 2009/10. 

Additional Temp Accommodation Bunk 
Beds

 Saving 2,617

Funds were not fully expended due to 
delays in tenders for site services across 
Hakea and Bunbury prison. Funds have 
been reflowed to 2009/10

Wooroloo Refurbishment  Saving 575

Delays in awarding the contract have 
delayed the timeframes for this project. 
Funding for the project is fully committed. All 
tenders have been awarded and construc-
tion is underway.

Acacia Contract Retender  Saving 763

Funds were not expended due to tender re-
sults returning at substantially more that the 
project budget. Funds have been reflowed 
to 2009/10 and the project will be re-defined. 

Safety & Security Upgrade Program  Saving 504

This project experienced delays due to 
minor scope changes. Expected to be fully 
expended in 2009/10.

Bunbury Minimum Security Excess (1,417)

Excess due to liquidated damages being 
withheld from Builder. To be retuned to 
budget 2009/10

Fire & Emergency Services  Excess (520)

Project funds reflowed to 2009/10. Project 
will be returned to budget 2009/10

C Significant variations between actual services for the financial year 
and services for the immediately preceding financial year 

Recurrent

Service 1 - Adult Offender Services  Excess (59,993)

Variance was mainly due to:

Funding for increased offender numbers

Transfer of functions from the Department 
of the Attorney General

Increase in employee benefits expense

Service 2 - Juvenile Offender Services  Excess (21,000)

Increase in employee benefits expense

Additional costs of operating custodial serv-
ices, including an increase in FTE’s.

Capital

Variations between actual expenditure for 
the current and previous financial years is 
due to the nature of the capital works pro-
gram in that allocations and project scope 
vary from year to year. An explanation on 
variations does not provide information that 
is useful for decision making and has there-
fore not been provided.



Jun-09 2008

Opening Receipts Payments Closing Opening Receipts Payments Closing

Balance Balance Balance Balance

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

1 Prisoners Private Cash Trust Account (1)  91  4,765  4,670  186  141  3,958  4,008  91 

2 Juveniles’ Private Cash Trust Account  4  1  5  0  5  5  6  4 

39. Special Purpose Accounts

(1) This does not include Acacia Prison which is managed under contract by 
Serco.

1 Prisoners’ Private Cash Trust Account

 To hold monies for and on behalf of prisons

2 Juveniles’ Private Cash Trust Account

 To hold monies in trust for children under the care of the Juvenile  
 Justice Program

2009 2008

 $  $ 

Opening balance  61,848  19,920 

Income

Commonwealth reimbursements  -  106,578 

Total receipts  0  106,578 

Expenses

Operating costs  34,051  55,794 

Additional services for prisoner costs  86,785  8,856 

Total payments  120,836  64,650 

Closing balance  (58,988)  61,848 

40. Commonwealth Grant - Christmas and Cocos Island

Operating costs are based on both actuals plus identified estimated 
services provided as agreed in the standard delivery service agree-
ment signed by the Commonwealth and the State.
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CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

For the year ended 30 June 2009 

We hereby certify the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the perform-
ance of the Department of Corrective Services and fairly represent the performance of the Department for the financial year 2008/2009.

Mark Kuzminski    Ian Johnson
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER   COMMISSIONER
Department of Corrective Services  Department of Corrective Services

  2 September 2009     14 September 2009
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MEASURING OUR PERFORMANCE

The Department measured its performance through statistically-based infor-
mation in both outcome and service areas. The use of in-house statistical data 
complements Australian Bureau of Statistics demographic population data and 
adds scope and objectivity to the sources of information used in measuring our 
performance.

Relationship to Government Goals

Government Goal(s) Desired DCS 
Outcomes Services

Outcomes Based 
Service Delivery:

Greater focus on 
achieving results in key 
service areas for the 
benefit of all Western 
Australians.

A safe, secure and 
decent corrective 
services which 
contributes to 
community safety and 
reduced offenders’ 
involvement in the 
justice system. 

1. Adult Offender 
Services

2. Juvenile Offender 
Services



Adult Offenders

The custody, containment, care, wellbeing and rehabilitation of offenders and 
their re-entry into the community is a critical element affecting the community’s 
sense of safety and security. The quality and effectiveness of Western Austral-
ia’s prison system and the rehabilitation programs it offers has a direct bearing 
on the perception of a safe and orderly community.

Service 1 Adult Offender Services

Service Description: Adult offenders are managed in custody and in the 
community to fulfil the orders of the courts and releasing authorities. This is 
achieved through the provision of case management, remedial programs, fur-
ther education and employment skills, sentencing reports, assessment reports 
outlining an offender’s suitability for release of their progress in the community 
to releasing authorities such as the Prisoner Review Board, providing policy and 
advice and collaborating with other agencies.

Effectiveness Indicators: 1.1 Abscond/Escape Rate

This indicator measures the abscond/escape rate for prisoners in the custody 
of prisons by security rating – maximum, medium and minimum. It is a measure 

of the protection provided to the community through safe and secure custodial 
systems. It is also indicative of effective management and assessment policies 
and practices. The indicator is derived by calculating the number of absconds/
escapes, by security rating, as a percentage of the average daily population by 
security rating.

The graph shows the escape rates from custody and transport vehicles. 
Despite significant growth in the prisoner population, this rate was at its lowest 
for three years and included no escapes from maximum- or medium-security 
prisons.

Enhancements to security made during 2008/09 had a positive impact on the 
number of escapes, reducing the number by 54%. Of the 11 unlawful absences 
from the Department’s facilities, six were from work camps. 

Actions take to address the underlying causes of unlawful absences during 
2008/09 included:

n  improving the standard of perimeter security at Albany, Bunbury and Broome 
regional prisons

n improving the maximum-security unit at Broome Regional Prison

n assessing prisoners as minimum-security against strict criteria

n  providing structured activities at key times of the year such as Christmas, 
when prisoners are more likely to abscond.
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1.2. Imprisonment Rate – Adults/ 100,000 Population

This indicator measures the number of prisoners per 100,000 people in the 
corresponding adult population. Care should be taken when interpreting this 
indicator as imprisonment rates are also impacted upon by police operations, 
court efficiency and welfare services.

The indicator is calculated by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). The 
Department provides prisoner population data to the ABS that calculates the 
rate based on national population estimates. It is published in Corrective Serv-
ices Australia (Cat 4512.0) each quarter.

Assumptions apply to the estimated resident population (ERP) that the ABS 
use to calculate the rates. The population used is a sub-population of the ERP 
and further assumptions therefore also apply. The assumptions can be found in 
the Explanatory Notes of the ABS publication Australian Demographic Statis-
tics (Cat 3101.0), the additional assumptions underpinning the population sub-
set used in the calculation of the rates can be found in the Explanatory Notes of 
Corrective Services Australia (Cat 4512.0).

There is a three-month lag between the publication of the ABS report and the 
Department’s reporting requirement. The June 2009 quarter figures are not 
available in time for the Department’s reporting process and as a result March 
2009 quarter figures are used. As at that quarter, the rate was 240.6.

1.3 Rate of Return – Adults

The rate of return is defined as the rate of return to the offender management 
system, by distinct adult offenders within two years of release from custody 
or the termination of a community-based order. Changes in the rate of re-
offending provide some indication of the effectiveness of personal development 
activities and rehabilitation programs but effectiveness also depends on other 
factors such as sentencing legislation, changes in the nature of offences com-
mitted, the rate at which community orders are breached for non-compliance, 
and factors outside the direct control of the Department such as policing prac-
tices, housing availability and other social issues.

Research has shown offenders are most likely to re-offend within two years of 
their release from corrective services. The two-year cut-off period is consist-
ent with standards developed by all national correctional jurisdictions and the 
independent review and advisory body, the Industry Commission.

The rate of re-offending excludes fine default sentences, exits to and com-
mencements of post-prison community corrections orders, conditional/moni-
tored bail orders and work and development orders.

This indicator has shown marginal variation from the previous financial years 
and is above the target for 2008/09.

Note: Distinct offender means an offender is counted only once, even if the offender 
re-enters the corrective services several times.
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1.4 Successful Completion of Community Corrections – Adults 

This indicator measures the completion rate of community corrections orders. It 
is an indicator of offenders’ responsible and law-abiding behaviour while under 
the supervision of the Department.

The 2008/09 figure is 62.1% and shows a promising increase from previous 
years. 

Generally, the higher the completion rate the better the performance. However, 
where offenders are non-compliant and pose a risk, breach action is warranted 
and contributes to community safety. As a result, a decrease in the completion 
rate may not necessarily be poor performance. It may reflect tighter responses 
to breaches by offenders and in fact may reflect more accountable supervision 
practices by community corrections officers.

Orders are considered successfully completed if they run their full course with-
out breach action finalised or pending. Types of community corrections orders 
include: intensive supervision, CEO parole, parole, work release, re-entry, con-
ditional bail, monitored bail, pre-sentence and work and development.

Intensive supervision and community-based orders were established as a 
result of the Sentencing Act 1996 to replace probation and community service 
orders. CEO parole and re-entry orders (which replace the work release orders), 
as well as pre-sentence orders, were established as a result of the sentencing 
legislation effective from August 2004. Home detention bail and community bail 
were replaced by monitored bail and conditional bail.

The indicator is derived by calculating the number of orders completed as a 
proportion of all orders validly terminated, completed or expired.

1.5 Average Out-of-Cell Hours

This performance indicator is measured according to national standards. 
Providing a secure, safe and decent custodial environment includes manag-
ing prisoners in a manner that minimises the risks they pose to the community 
while enabling them to achieve an acceptable quality of life. Time spent out of 
cells provides a greater opportunity for prisoners to participate in activities such 
as work, education, wellbeing, recreation and treatment programs, visits and 
interacting with other prisoners and staff.

Higher average out-of-cell hours per day indicates better performance toward 
achieving this outcome.

The average out of cell hours per day for 2008/09 was 11.81. This figure is 
above the target of 11.70 hours.

105

AUDITED KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Successful Completion of Community 
Corrections Orders - Adults

50

55

60

65

70

A c t ual
2006/ 07

A c t ual
2007/ 08

A c t ual
2008/ 09

T arget
2008/ 09

P
e
rc

e
n

t

Average Out of Cell Hours

10

11

12

13

A c t ual
2006/ 07

A c t ual
2007/ 08

A c t ual
2008/ 09

T arget
2008/ 09

H
o

u
rs

 O
u

t 
o

f 
C

e
ll

p
e
r 

D
a
y



1.6 Serious Assault Rate per 100 Prisoners

This performance indicator is measured according to national standards. 
Providing a safe, secure and decent custodial environment includes providing a 
prison environment where there is a low level of violence, whether perpetrated 
by prisoners on other prisoners or on staff.

The rate is per 100 prisoners and is calculated based on the number of as-
saults classified as serious by prisoners on prisoners and prisoners on staff.

Low assault rates indicate better performance towards achieving the objective.

The serious assault rate of 0.9 per 100 prisoners is above the target for 2008 
– 09. A total of 31 assaults classified as serious with the prisoner as victim and 
five with staff as victim were recorded for 2008/09. The increased rate can be 
indexed against the growth in prisoner population. 

1.7 Community Corrections Rate – Adults/ 100,000 Population

The community corrections rate represents the number of offenders managed 
by community corrections per 100,000 people in the corresponding adult popu-
lation. The indicator is a measure of levels of community corrections activity. 

Care should be taken when interpreting this indicator as, just like the imprison-
ment rate, community corrections rates are also impacted upon by police opera-
tions, court efficiency and welfare services.

DCS provides community corrections population data to the ABS that calcu-
lates the rate based on national population estimates. It is then published in 
Corrective Services Australia (Cat 4512.0) each quarter. There is a three-month 
lag between the publication of the report and the Department’s reporting re-
quirements, therefore, each quarter, the previous quarter’s rate is reported.

Assumptions apply to the estimated resident population (ERP) that the ABS 
uses to calculate the community corrections rate. The population used to calcu-
late the rates is a sub-population of the ERP and further assumptions therefore 
also apply. The assumptions underpinning the ERP can be found in the Ex-
planatory Notes of the ABS publication Australian Demographic Statistics (Cat 
3101.0), the additional assumptions underpinning the population subset used in 
the calculation of the rates can be found in the Explanatory Notes of Corrective 
Services Australia (Cat 4521.0).

This indicator was new for 2006/07. Previous years’ data are based on the ABS 
publication Corrective Services Australia (Cat 4512.0).

The community corrections rate has continued to decrease with a rate of 336.4 
per 100,000 adult population in the March 2009 quarter. Recent data trends 
towards imprisonment rather than diversion can go some way to explaining this.
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Efficiency Indicators: 1.8 Cost per Day of Keeping an Offender in Custody

This indicator measure the full accrual cost of managing an adult offender in 
custody per day. It is calculated by dividing the total accrual cost of managing 
an adult offender in custody by the average daily number of adult offenders, 
divided by 365 days.

The actual cost per prisoner per day of keeping an offender in custody for 
2008/09 was $273.17 which is well within the 2008/09 target. The year-to-date 
total average daily population was 4012. Cost per day remained stable due to 
a combination of changes in allocations between sub-outputs and fixed costs 
being allocated over a greater prisoner population off-setting general cost 
increases.

1.9 Cost per Day of Managing an Offender through Community Supervision

This indicator measures the unit cost of managing an adult offender per day 
through community supervision. It is calculated by dividing the total accrual cost 
of managing an adult offender through community supervision by the average 
daily number of offenders supervised, divided by 365 days.

The increase of 33% from 2007/08 is driven by an increase in costs attributed 
to service agreements. There was an increase of $12m in corporate overheads 
reflecting a full service provision compared to 2007/08 including welfare serv-
ice provider costs of $6.2m. Costs within Community and Juvenile Justice also 
rose by $2m which can be partly attributed to increasing salary costs from pay 
increases, back pay and increased leave liability provisions.
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Juvenile Offenders

Service 2 Juvenile Offender Services

Service Description Juvenile offenders are managed in detention and in the 
community to fulfil the orders of the courts and through diversion from court 
programs. Juveniles participate in remedial, educational and rehabilitation pro-
grams that address their offending behaviour.

Effectiveness Indicators: 2.1 Rate of Return to Detention

The rate of return to detention is defined as the proportion of juvenile offenders 
who return to sentenced detention within two years of release. This indicator is 
measured over two previous financial years.

The rate of return to detention provides an indication of the effectiveness of 
personal development activities and rehabilitation programs. It is also depend-
ent on other factors such as sentencing legislation, changes in the nature of 
offences committed and the rate at which offenders on community orders are 
breached for non-compliance.

Note: A detainee is counted only once, even if the detainee re-enters the system several 
times.

The year-to-date rate of return to detention of 51.32% is below the 2008/09 
target but marginally higher than 2007/08. It should be noted that due to the 
small number of juveniles involved in calculating the rate of return to detention, 
an increase or decrease in the juvenile population has a significant impact on 
the rate.

2.2 Escape Rate

This indicator measures the escape rate from all juvenile detention centres. It is 
a measure of the protection provided to the community through the provision of 
safe and secure custodial systems. It is also indicative of effective management 
and assessment policies and practices.

This indicator is derived by calculating the number of escapes as a percent of 
the average daily population.
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2.3 Successful Completion of Community Corrections Orders

This indicator measures orders having run their full course without breach 
action finalised or pending. It provides an indication of the completion rate or 
community corrections orders, and an offender’s responsible and law-abiding 
behaviour, while under the supervision of the Department.

Generally, the higher the completion rate the better the performance. However, 
as in the adult system, where offenders are non-compliant and pose a risk, 
breach action can be warranted which, when actioned, contributes to commu-
nity safety. As a result, a decrease in the completion rate may not necessarily 
indicate poor performance but may reflect more stringent supervision of offend-
ers.

It is derived by calculating the number of orders successfully completed as a 
proportion of all orders validly terminated, completed or expired.

Types of community corrections orders include: youth community-based, inten-
sive youth supervision, intensive youth supervision (with detention) and super-
vised release orders.

Successful completion of community corrections orders for juveniles stood at 
66.16% and was above the target range of 66% for 2008/09. The implementa-
tion of a number of workload management changes may be contributing factors 
to the increase in successful completions.

Efficiency Indicators: 2.4 Cost per Day of Keeping a Juvenile in Detention

This indicator measures the unit cost per day or managing a juvenile offender 
in detention.

It is calculated by dividing the total accrual cost of managing a juvenile offender 
in detention by the average daily population, divided by 365 days.

The costs for 2008/09 include an allocation of corporate overheads ($42.8m) 
to reflect a full service provision. In 2007/08, these costs were not allocated to 
juveniles in detention. There was also significant increase in workers’ compen-
sation insurance and depreciation charges ($1.1m) during 2008/09 along with 
the increased leave liability provisions. 
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2.5 Cost per Day of Managing a Juvenile Offender through Community  
Supervision

This indicator is calculated by dividing the total accrual cost of managing a 
juvenile offender through community supervision by the average daily number 
of offenders supervised, divided by 365 days.

 

The increase of 65% in the cost per day can be attributed to an increase in the 
2008/09 corporate allocation and an increase in the 2008/09 expenditure on Re-
gional Youth Justice Services ($4.5m). As with juveniles in detention, there was 
significant increase in allocations from corporate support areas ($5.1m) of which 
$3.7m related to the costs of service agreements. The remainder of the cost 
increase can be attributed to increased salary and related on-costs that include 
the impact of pay increases, back pay and increased leave liability provisions. 
In addition, there was no major variation in the number of juveniles managed 
between the two years.
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Advertising

The Department’s 2008/09 advertising expenditure is detailed in the table 
below

ADvERTISING ExPENDITURE 2007/08 ($) 2008/09 ($)
ADVERTISING AGENCIES - -

DIRECT MAIL ORGANISATIONS - -

MARKET RESEARCH ORGANISATIONS - -

MEDIA ADVERTISING ORGANISATIONS

ADCORP AUSTRALIA - 117,506

ALBANY ADVERTISER - 105

COUNTRYWIDE MEDIA 420 -

MARKETFORCE ADVERTISING LTD - 797

MARKETFORCE EXPRESS 69,612

MARKETFORCE PRODUCTIONS 480,350

MEDIA DECISIONS OMD - 57,985

MEDIA DECISIONS WA 86,775 -

MITCHELL AND PARTNERS - 108,934

PEMBERTON PRESS - 360

STATE LAW PUBLISHER 4,035 3,553

TMP WORLDWIDE 11,831 49,153

WA NEWSPAPERS LTD 83 522

TOTAL $583,494 $408,527 

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

The Department continued its commitment to ensuring the provision of profes-
sional and appropriate services for stakeholders with a physical, intellectual, 
sensory or cognitive disability, their carers and families. The range of measures 
to support access for people with disabilities are reported against the key stand-
ards outlined in the Disability Services Act 1993 and the Department’s Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2007-2010.

Standard 1 - People with a disability have the same opportunities as others to 

access the services of, and any events organised by, the Department.

The Department’s Disability Services Unit provides support and advice to pris-
oners, their families, carers and staff on the needs of prisoners with an intellec-
tual disability or impairment and the services available to them.

Programs provided by the Department to ensure people with a disability are 
able to access its services include the:

n  Legal and Social Awareness program and the Intellectually Disabled Sex Of-
fenders program, which have been specifically adapted for prisoners with an 
intellectual impairment

n  transitional Accommodation and Support Service which provides pre- and 
post-release services for offenders with a cognitive disability

n  frequent offenders program that continues to provide pre- and post-release 
services for offenders with a recognised intellectual disability

n  Victorian Offending Needs Indicator for Youth assessments are completed 
for young offenders to identify their needs, inform case management plan-
ning, enhance case practice and provide a profile of juvenile justice clients.

The Department completed a review to identify the prevalence of intellectual 
disability in young people and their associated needs at Banksia Hill Detention 
Centre. The review identified significant gaps in services and the need for en-
gagement with the Disability Services Commission to develop strategies to meet 
the needs of this disadvantaged group. Recommendations from the review will 
be considered in the near future.

As part of its Equity and Diversity Improvement Plan 2007-2010, the Depart-
ment made improvements to the quality of data collection to enable the iden-
tification of employees with a disability. This has been achieved through the 
establishment and promotion of a HR Kiosk census collection system to allow 
employees to self-identify details relating to any disability, should they wish to 
do so. During the staff recruitment and selection process, the use of special-
ist services is available if required, to ensure the needs of employees with a 
disability are met. Employees with sight, hearing or hand movement difficulties 
have access to accessibility options in the Department’s standard computing 
environment and to specific software or equipment if required.
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Standard 2 – People with a disability have the same opportunities as other peo-
ple to access the buildings and facilities of the Department.

The Department ensures the requirements of the building code are met as part 
of the planning for all major upgrades and new works in relation to providing 
access for people with a disability. When leasing accommodation, access for 
people with a disability is included in the brief for a property search.

Standard 3 – People with a disability receive information from the Department 
in a format that will enable them to access the information as readily as other 
people are able to access it.

The Department produces brochures for offenders, carers and court employees 
to explain some of the processes within the corrections system. Specialist staff 
provide advice and advocacy for victims, offenders and carers with literacy dif-
ficulties, in custody and the community. 

Standard 4 – People with a disability receive the same level and quality of serv-
ice from Department staff as other people receive.

The Department’s staff training and induction programs include modules about 
the needs of people with a disability and the services and facilities available to 
them. All new prison officers receive specific disability awareness training to 
help them identify and manage prisoners with intellectual impairment.

The Department and the Disability Services Commission have developed a 
Partnering Charter to improve service outcomes for people with a disability 
through open communication, information sharing, effective working relation-
ships, collaboration and continuous improvement through shared learning.

The Department continues to manage the Intellectual Disability Diversion 
Program (IDDP) in partnership with the Department of the Attorney General, 
through the Magistrates Court. The program aims to divert offenders with a 
disability, when charged with minor offences, from court to community-based 
interventions. Consultancy, training and support are also provided to juvenile 
justice officers and community corrections officers supervising offenders with an 
intellectual disability.

The Department and the Disability Services Commission have appointed dedi-
cated officers in prisons, courts and within the Commission to improve systems 
and modify programs to provide for the needs of people with a disability.

Standard 5 – People with a disability have the same opportunities as other peo-
ple to make complaints to the Department.

The Department continues to provide ACCESS, a central registry for offenders, 
staff and members of the public who wish to raise issues relating to the Depart-
ment. ACCESS has a 24-hour, seven-day-a-week telephone system where 
complainants with a disability can leave a recorded message or speak directly 
with a complaints officer during business hours. The service is available from 
anywhere in the State for the cost of a local call.

The Department has implemented the following arrangements to assist people 
with a disability to make complaints or comments:

n   An on-site interpreter or a telephone interpreter from the Translating and 
Interpreting Service (TIS) or the Deaf Society is available free of charge.

n   Prisoners with a disability can discuss their issue in confidence with a 
complaints officer. Calls to ACCESS are not recorded or monitored. Alterna-
tively, prisoners can use a confidential mailbox if preferred.

n   Face-to-face interviews can be made by appointment for people with a dis-
ability who are not prisoners or their carers.

The Department reviews its grievance process annually to identify strategies 
to address any issues or obstacles that may prevent prisoners, including those 
with a disability, from participating.

Standard 6 – People with a disability have the same opportunities as other peo-
ple to participate in any public consultation with the Department.

The Department will review its processes over 2009/10 to ensure people with  
a disability have equal opportunity to participate in public consultation.
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes

The Department endeavours to provide an honest, transparent and account-
able workplace that strives to deliver a safe, secure and decent corrective 
services which contributes to community safety and reduced offender involve-
ment in the justice system. Underpinning these efforts is the adherence to high 
standards of ethical conduct.

The Department’s Code of Conduct (the code) clearly outlines its ethical princi-
ples, obligations and standards. It is consistent with the WA Public Sector Code 
of Ethics and:

n promotes professionalism and excellence

n supports employees in understanding the Department’s values

n informs employees of the standards to which they are entitled

n clarifies expected standards of behaviour

n provides guidance on employee responsibilities

n clearly defines employees’ obligations.

The code is binding on all employees and is reviewed regularly and updated in 
line with new and amended legislation as an integral accountability element in 
keeping with government standards.

The code covers professional integrity, personal behaviour, external employ-
ment and associations, conflicts of interest, offers of gifts or other incentives, 
public comment, release of information, use of government information and 
resources, contact with lobbyists and dress standards.

In 2008/09 the Department’s Professional Conduct Unit investigated the follow-
ing breaches of the code:

TyPE No. of matters

MISCONDUCT (UNDER THE PSMA – INCLUDES BREACH 
OF CONFIDENTIALITY, IMPROPER ASSOCIATION AND 
INAPPROPRIATE BEHAVIOUR

45

MISCONDUCT (ASSAULT) 4

MISCONDUCT ( IMPROPER ASSOCIATION) 1

MISCONDUCT (FITNESS TO HOLD OFFICE AS A PRISON 
OFFICER)

7

MISCONDUCT (HINDER INVESTIGATION/ BREACH OF POLICY 
DIRECTIVE 40)

3

FALSIFICATION OF RECORDS 2

MISCONDUCT (PERFORMANCE OF DUTIES) 28

BREACH OF COMPUTER AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
FACILITIES POLICY, INCLUDES BREACH OF CONFIDENTIALITY 
, UNDER PRISOnS ACT 1981

15

MISCONDUCT (FAILURE TO REPORT AN INCIDENT/ BREACH 
OF POLICY DIRECTIVE 41

4

SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT 2

TOTAL 111

The code is explained to all new staff at induction and is available on the De-
partment’s intranet.

During 2008/09 all executive and other senior staff attended a one-day work-
shop on ethical decision making, based on a training framework offered by the 
Public Sector Commission, which will be rolled out to all staff in 2009/10.

The Department’s Code of Conduct will be reviewed in 2009/10.
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Freedom of Information

The Western Australian Freedom of Information Act 1992 allows access to 
information held by the Department. Under the Act, the Department must deal 
with applications for information within 45 days of receipt.

The Freedom of Information (FOI) branch manages all requests made to the 
Department for information under the Act and issues decisions on access to 
documents under authority delegated by the Commissioner. In some cases, 
section 23 of the Act may apply and applicants can be refused access on a 
range of grounds. In these cases applicants have the right of review – first inter-
nally to the Department and then externally to the Government’s independent 
Information Commissioner. 

All FOI applications made to the Department are coordinated by an FOI man-
ager, who can also help with requests for documents available for purchase or 
free of charge. Arrangements to inspect Department information available to the 
public can be made by telephoning the FOI manager on 9264 1133. Access is 
from 8am to 4pm, Monday to Friday at 141 St Georges Terrace, Perth.

In 2008/09, the Department received 376 FOI applications, of which 350 were 
finalised. Six applications for internal review were completed, four original deci-
sions were confirmed, one was varied and one overturned. One external review 
was finalised by the Information Commissioner who upheld the Department’s 
decision.

Freedom of Information applications made to the Department

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09

Personal information requests 400 322 323

Non-personal information requests 16 17 19

Amendment of personal information requests 0 0 0

Applications transferred in full 16 34 34

Total applications received 432 373 376

Applications completed 428 380 350

Applications withdrawn 30 15 24

Internal reviews completed 11 3 6

External reviews completed 8 1 1

Applications outstanding 12 3 29

Recordkeeping Plans

In accordance with the requirements of the State Records Act 2000, the De-
partment reported against the following in 2008/09:

The efficiency and effectiveness of the Department’s recordkeeping systems is 
evaluated at least once every five years.

In 2008/09:

n  The Offender Records branch was relocated to Westralia Square and an 
amalgamated with the Department’s administrative records service.

n  A subsequent restructure was conducted with the branch renamed the Cor-
porate Records Management (CRM) branch. Positions in the new structure 
are being filled and staff will have more responsibilities for enterprise record-
keeping practices, training of staff, providing consultancy, compliance and 
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meeting the Department’s obligations under the State Records Act 2000.
n  The development for an audit plan for 2009/10 to evaluate the effectiveness 

of the recordkeeping program and maintain compliance with the Record-
keeping Plan (RKP) was commenced. This will incorporate a ‘health check’ 
of all the recordkeeping practices throughout the Department.

n  A project to upgrade to a new version of TRIM records management system 
commenced and will be implemented in December 2009. The upgrade will 
enhance the Department’s capacity to manage records electronically and 
more efficiently.

The Department conducts a records training program.

Online records management and awareness training, introduced in 2008, con-
tinued to be conducted and is mandatory for all staff to complete with 228 staff 
completing the course in 2008/09.

The Department continued to keep staff informed of its recordkeeping require-
ments through its intranet. This will be reviewed in 2009/10 to improve the 
Department’s ability to deliver relevant recordkeeping information and aware-
ness to staff.

The development of a training plan commenced to identify specialised training 
needs for CRM branch staff.The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeep-
ing training program is reviewed periodically.

The online training package is being reviewed and will be promoted in 2009/10 
to increase participation and compliance under the RKP.

A new condensed version of the training will be offered as a complementary 
form of training for all staff. More formal and frequent training of staff in records 
management and TRIM is proposed for 2009/10.

The organisation’s induction program addresses employee roles and responsi-
bilities in complying with the organisation’s recordkeeping plan.

The recordkeeping roles and responsibilities of staff are communicated to all 
new staff at corporate induction sessions and via the online records manage-
ment and awareness training package.

The CRM branch intranet page is maintained and updated regularly to ensure 
new staff have access to current and relevant recordkeeping information.

Future Directions in Information Management

Information management

The issues of proliferation of disjointed electronic document storage and dif-
ficulty in accessing complete, accurate and reliable hard copy documents are 
being addressed through the implementation of an electronic document and 
records management system (EDRMS). A simplified, scalable and user-centric 
EDRMS has been designed in consultation with key stakeholders.

The CRM branch has been restructured to provide better support to staff in 
meeting their business requirements through access to information using inno-
vative technology and good practice records management.

Department website

The entire content and structure of the Department’s website is under review 
and progress is being made to provide better structured and easy-to-use infor-
mation for the public, prospective employees, researchers and the media.

Corruption Prevention

The Department’s Corruption Prevention Strategy 2007-2010 articulated how 
the Department will identify, manage and prevent misconduct through a series 
of initiatives. Through presentations, workshops and articles on the intranet and 
in internal publications both the Internal Investigations Unit (IIU) and the Cor-
ruption Prevention Coordinator have informed staff how to report misconduct. 
A new policy on the requirement for staff to report suspected misconduct or 
criminal activity was implemented and revised policies and procedures on staff 
criminal screening and integrity declarations were also promulgated.

The high risk of conflict of interests for staff was addressed through the devel-
opment of a new policy and procedures and a series of management briefings, 
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staff presentations and training sessions. Conflict of interest has been included 
in the induction syllabus for all new custodial and community and juvenile cor-
rections officers. Further work is being done to develop aspects of policy and 
practice relating to staff associations with offenders and the offer and accept-
ance of gifts. Executive level and other senior staff attended accountable and 
ethical decision-making training based on the training framework offered by the 
Public Sector Commission.

Workshops were conducted with senior management teams in most prisons to 
identify, evaluate and propose treatment plans to manage misconduct risks.

Substantive Equality

The Department continued to demonstrate its commitment to the Government’s 
policy framework for substantive equality. This policy framework is part of the 
public sector anti-racism and equality program to ensure equitable outcomes for 
all clients of public sector services.

The Department’s substantive equality steering committee was established in 
2008/09 to oversee the implementation of the policy framework throughout all 
business areas while considering the impact of policies on service users. The 
steering committee includes a senior Aboriginal member and representatives 
from the Aboriginal Justice Division.

Achievements during the year included a review of the Department’s substan-
tive equality policy and the associated implementation plan 2006/07 to 2010/11 
with the development of a communication, consultation and professional educa-
tion strategy to ensure substantive equality is incorporated into the Depart-
ment’s mainstream operations.

A needs and impact assessment of Bandyup Women’s Prison, which com-
menced in 2007/08, was subject to further joint analysis with the Equal Op-
portunity Commission and further work will be carried out in the coming year 
to finalise the project. The Department is in the process of identifying further 
projects for needs and impact assessments to be undertaken in the future.

Occupational Safety and Health

The Department is committed to promoting a safe and healthy environment for 
work in accordance with the Occupations Health and Safety (OSH) Act 1984; 
AS/NZS 4801:2001 Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems – 
specifications with guidance for use and the Code of Practice: Occupational 
Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector.
The Department’s OSH policy applies to all staff, offenders, contractors and 

visitors to Department workplaces, Department controlled activities and equip-
ment.

The Department strives, through a process of continuous improvement, to inte-
grate safety and health into all aspects of its activities. This is achieved by:

n  implementing, maintaining and reviewing an OSH system that ensures the 
systematic management of safety and health throughout all Department-
controlled work environments

n  setting objectives and targets aimed at measuring the success of its safety 
and health performance

n  directors, managers, superintendents and supervisors demonstrating leader-
ship and commitment to health and safety

n  ensuring all staff receive appropriate training and are aware of and accept 
their responsibility to achieve a safe work environment

n  implementing a system that enables effective communication and consulta-
tion throughout the Department on OSH issues

n  implementing procedures and practices that enable a systematic and effec-
tive approach to identifying, reporting, assessing and controlling hazards

n  helping staff achieve full recovery through prompt treatment and active reha-
bilitation where injury or illness does occur

n allocating resources to meet the commitments of this policy 

n  complying with all applicable safety and health statutory requirements as a 
minimum.

The Department’s OSH policies are communicated to all staff on induction and 
are available on the intranet and displayed on all Departmental noticeboards.
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Indicator Target 2008/09

INDICATOR TARGET 2008/09 ACTUAL 2008/09

NUMBER OF FATALITIES 0 0

LOST TIME INJURY/DISEASE 
INCIDENCE RATE

0 OR 10% 
REDUCTION ON 

PREVIOUS YEAR
3.7% DECREASE 

LOST TIME INJURY SEVERITY RATE
0 OR 10% 

IMPROVEMENT ON 
PREVIOUS YEAR

4.5% INCREASE

PERCENTAGE OF INJURED 
WORKERS RETURNED TO WORK 
WITHIN 28 WEEKS

76% 76%

PERCENTAGE OF MANAGERS 
TRAINED IN OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY, 
HEALTH AND INJURY MANAGEMENT 
RESPONSIBILITIES

GREATER THAN OR 
EQUAL TO 50%

130 MANAGERS 
AND SUPERVISORS 

COMPLETED 
TRAINING AT THE 

TRAINING ACADEMY 

 

Collaboration with other Government Agencies and Industry

During 2008/2009, the Department continued to foster relationships with local, 
State and federal government agencies through various programs, committees 
and community networks.

The Department is a leader in developing and maintaining working relation-
ships with key departments. This includes joint executive meetings with the 
Department of Education and Training, Department of Child Protection, Disabil-
ity Services Commission and WA Police.

Through regular meetings, the Department shares an open dialogue with these 
agencies and works towards agreement on key issues.
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Achievements

West Kimberley Prison

Planning and design continued in close consultation with the indigenous people 
of the Kimberley, the community of Derby and other key stakeholders. The 
purpose–built prison will provide work and living conditions for prisoners that are 
regionally and culturally appropriate. The prison will have all security classifica-
tions and allow offenders to serve their sentences close to their communities.

The Forward Works tender has closed with works due to commence shortly. 
The prison will meet both the offending and cultural needs of prisoners from the 
region and will set new standards for the management of Aboriginal prisoners in 
Western Australia. The community is highly involved in this major works project 
and the aim of making the prison part of the community was well on the way 
to fruition at year’s end. Initiatives such as a community reference group, open 
community meetings and regular information to the general community kept 
West Kimberley residents fully briefed on the project’s unique ethos and status. 
Additionally, the creation of the Kimberley Cultural Advisory Group will ensure 
that the prison design and operation meet the desired objectives of breaking the 
cycle of offending and improving the wellness of Kimberley Aboriginal people 
and communities.

Security

As part of the Department’s safety and security program, an upgrade to the pe-
rimeter of Albany Regional Prison was completed. This included the installation 
of a new early–warning external detection system and replacement of perimeter 
detection monitoring and recording technology.

Construction of a new entry building at Bandyup Women’s Prison has improved 
security procedures for visitors and staff accessing the prison. An upgrade to 
the perimeter of Bunbury Regional Prison has been completed. This included 
installation of new electronic security procedures. 

The introduction of iris–scanning technology as a means of identification within 
the prisons was completed at the four maximum–security facilities, Hakea, Cas-
uarina, Albany and Bandyup Prisons. 

Youth Justice

A new strategy to reduce youth offending in regional Western Australia aims 
to provide a range of outreach–based support programs and new bail services 
for young people. Two new centres incorporating all youth justice services were 
opened in the Gascoyne and Goldfields with contemporary office fitouts incor-
porating safety and security standards as part of the Regional Youth Justice 
Services strategy. The strategy was developed and implemented in partnership 
with local communities, largely through the establishment of highly productive 
community reference groups.

Workcamps

The Department commenced implementation of a new model of work camps 
that introduces a higher degree of flexibility in managing work camp and prison 
musters. New work camps will be established in Wyndham, Warburton and the 
Wheatbelt. The design of the workcamp has been finalised and site selection is 
underway for Wyndham and Warburton.
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Other works

The Department finalised installation of 307 ligature–reduced bunk beds at Aca-
cia, Hakea and Casuarina prisons. Associated infrastructure upgrades provide 
further secure accommodation.

The process is underway to acquire the site and planning is underway for the 
replacement of the Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison. A procurement analysis 
has been undertaken to examine the potential for private sector participation.

The Department completed works on infrastructure to support improved pro-
grams and services at Rangeview and commenced construction of an additional 
24-bed unit at Banksia Hill to provide additional accommodation for juveniles 
held in detention.

The Department has continued work across the State to expand office accom-
modation and improve safety conditions for community justice staff.  Additionally, 
construction commenced on the Community Justice Services component of the 
Pilbara Justice Complex in Karratha.  This is expected to be completed in August 
2009.

Replacement of the Eastern Goldfields Regional Prisons remains a high priority 
for the Department. The Department was provided with a $1.8 million budget to 
plan a new facility and has developed schematic designs for future development. 
Key stakeholders have been consulted to ensure the prison design meets the 
specific needs of the Eastern Goldfields community. For example, through the 
development of a cultural advisory group, senior members of Aboriginal commu-
nities from the Goldfields and Lands areas are providing guidance to the Depart-
ment’s project team and contracted architects.

$11.22 million was approved to upgrade Broome Regional Prison. The works 
are completed and include new and relocated health services, education and 
programs buildings, women’s facilities, improved facilities and capacity for male 
maximum–security prisoners and a new perimeter fence.

Construction completed on the 72–bed minimum–security unit at Bunbury 
Regional Prison at a cost of $17.6 million including internal works at the prison. 
The unit provides a range of improved services aimed at reducing recidivism.
Construction was completed on the new secure 36–bed group living units and a 
new entry building at Bandyup Women’s Prison. 
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Future directions

In May 2009 the Government announced funding for the Custodial Infrastructure 
Program. The program is the most significant custodial accommodation pro-
gram in the history of the State. It will build or install 1,657 prisoner beds across 
the Western Australian prison system, and is funded at $655 million across the 
Forward Estimates.  A significant proportion of the program will be completed by 
the end of 2011 to address the urgent need for additional prison capacity via a 
number of significant projects. 

The custodial infrastructure program consists of:

n  the Eastern Goldfields Regional Prison – a new 350-bed prison will be built 
adjacent to the existing prison – the existing prison will then be demolished 

n  the young adults prison – an 80-bed prison for young adults is being created 
at Rangeview through the construction of an additional 80 beds at Banksia 
Hill Detention Centre and the transfer of all juveniles in detention to this site

n Acacia Prison – an additional 387 beds will be added to the existing prison 

n  work camps – two new work camps (total of 50 beds) will be constructed at 
Warburton and in the Wheatbelt

n  additional prisoner accommodation (double bunking) to add or install 600 
beds across the system including the expansion of Pardelup Prison Farm by 
an additional 64 beds and Karnet Prison by an additional 120 beds

n  the West Kimberley Regional Prison – to add 150 beds to the prison capacity 
of this region - this project is scheduled for completion by the end of 2011 at a 
total cost of $150 million

n the 40-bed Wyndham work camp at a cost of $10.8 million 

n  the refurbishment of an additional unit at Wooroloo prison to add 74 beds at a 
cost of $5.7 million.

In addition to the projects listed in the custodial infrastructure program, the De-
partment is also progressing the construction of:  

n an additional 24-bed unit at Banksia Hill at a cost of $5.3 million 

n  the replacement and upgrade of the radio communications system which will 
be rolled out over the next two years at a cost of $14.1 million. 

2009/10 Focus

To support the delivery of the Department’s services, a total of $194 million is 
budgeted for 2009/10 including the following:

n  commence the custodial infrastructure program including extensive works 
to be undertaken on the West Kimberley Regional Prison, the Wyndham 
Work camp and the completion of the urgent and immediate accommodation 
expansion element

n  complete the redevelopment of a 74-cell accommodation unit at Wooroloo 
Prison Farm

n  complete site selection and finalise planning for two additional work camps in 
Warburton (30 beds) and the Wheatbelt (20 beds)

n complete the 24-bed unit at Banksia Hill Detention Centre

n  commence the roll-out of the replacement and upgrade of the radio commu-
nications system throughout the greater metropolitan area in partnership with 
the Western Australia Police

n  complete the remaining six Community Justice Office (CJS) upgrades in the 
CJS office establishment and refurbishment program

n  continue the ongoing maintenance and infrastructure upgrade program across 
all of the Department’s owned and leased facilities.
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WORKS IN PROGRESS

Adult Custodial

Kimberley Prison 1 and Work Camp - Stage 1 

Male Prisons: Increased temporary modified capacity 307 Beds - various 
locations 

New young adults prison 

Wooroloo Unit 3 refurbishment – add 50 beds 

Community and Juvenile Justice

Juvenile accommodation strategy 

Replacement CJS Centre Pilbara 

Corporate

Physical infrastructure

Building infrastructure and maintenance 

Replacement office equipment 

System management

ICT infrastructure upgrade 

Prison Services

Additional prisoner accommodation - infrastructure and systems upgrade 
and replacement programmes 

Condition upgrade existing Broome Regional Prison 

Radio replacement 

Site acquisition - prisons - metro site acquisition - prisons 

COMPLETED WORKS

Adult Custodial

Acacia contract retender 

Community and Juvenile Justice

CJS office establishment and refurbishment 2008-2009 

Juvenile Justice

IT replacement - juvenile offender management 

Regional juvenile justice strategy - Geraldton 

Regional juvenile justice strategy - Kalgoorlie 

Prison Services

Bandyup facilities redevelopment 

Bunbury Regional Prison additions and upgrades 

Eastern Goldfields Prison replacement (planning) 

Prison industries - mobile plant 2008-2009 

Prison reform strategy 

Safety and security upgrade program 

NEW WORKS

Adult Custodial

Custodial infrastructure program - administered equity 

Community and juvenile justice

CJS office establishment and refurbishment 2009/10 

CJS office establishment and refurbishment 2010/11 

CJS office establishment and refurbishment 2011/12 

CJS office establishment and refurbishment 2012/13 

New CJS office accommodation - North 

Prison Services

Fire and emergency services 

Prison industries - mobile plant 2009/10 

Prison industries - mobile plant 2010/11 

Prison industries - mobile plant 2011/12 

Prison industries - mobile plant 2012/13 

Removal of cell ligature points 2009/10



DCS Contracts Awarded 2008/09 (greater than $150,000)

Number Description Recommended Vendors Value $

DCS2975 EOI - Accommodation and Related Services for Geraldton Drug-Arm WA Inc $914,871

DCS3066 EOI - Accommodation and Related Services - Kalgoorlie Drug-Arm WA Inc $1,091,277

DCS1106 Provision of the Community Based Education Program (NFP) Armadale Gosnells & Districts 
Youth Resources Inc

$152,325

WAPOL92008 Cleaning Services for the Albany Police and Justic Complex CGS Quality Cleaning $377,160

DCS0252008 Hire and Distribution of Audio Visual Entertainment (DVD and VHS movies) to Pris-
ons and Work Camps

1. Amalgamated Movies      
 2. Jaffa Room

$250,000

DCS0292008 Provision of Medium Intenstiy Violence Program for Offenders in the Metropolitan 
Area

Communicare $300,000

DCS0302008 Provision of Optical Services for Offenders in Custody Luxottica Retail Australia Pty Ltd $390,000

DCS0332008 Provision of Security Services to Community Justice Services Centres for the De-
partment of Corrective Services

1.  Echo Security              
 2. Epic Security                
 3. ISS Security

$3,031,000

DCS0372008 Community Transitional Accommodation and Support Services (TASS) to Intellectu-
ally Impared Offenders throughout the Metropolitan Area

UnitingCare West $381,162

DCS0462008 Panel Contract for the Supply, Delivery and Installation of Commercial Kitchen and 
Bakery Equipment and Accessories within Prisons and Institutions

1. Caterlink                       
 2. JL Lennard Equipment    
 3. National Foodservice Equipment

$2,000,000

DCS0552008 Provision of Psychological Assessment and Counselling Sevices for Adult Offenders Numerous $3,000,000

DCS0582008 Provision of Moving on From Dependencies (MOFD) Program to Selected Prisons in 
Western Australia

1. Cyrenian House            
 2. Holyoake                       
 3. Regional Counselling     
 4.South West Psychology                    
 5. Womens Health Care          

$1,003,274

DCS0592008 Provision of Visa Processing Services KPMG Australia $216,224

DCS0632008 Provision of Pre-Employment Psychmetric Assessment Services Work Solutions $275,000

DCS0652008 Provision of a Drug and Alcohol Through-care Services (DATS) for Offenders in the 
Metropolitan Area

1. Cyrenian House         
 2. Holyoake

$1,368,621
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Contract Summary

Value Number

$0-$19,999 0

$20,000-$149,999 24

$150,000-$499,999 14

$500,000-$999,999 1

$1 million + 7

DCS Contracts Awarded 2008/09 (greater than $150,000) continued

Number Description Recommended Vendors Value $

DCS0672008 Supply, Delivery and Installation of Commercial Laundry Equipment for Various 
Prison Sites

Veeco Pty Ltd $174,042

DCS0032009 Provision of Medical and Fitness Assessments for Prison Officers and Juvenile Cus-
todial Officers

Health Services Australia $414,000

DCS0132009 Supply, Delivery and Installation of X-ray Equipment for Hakea and Casuarina pris-
ons

DRS Medical $262,330

DCS0282009 Provision of Financial Advisor/Due Diligence Services for the Court Security and 
Custodial Services Project

KPMG Australia $300,000

DCS0292009 Provision of Probity Auditor Services for the Court Security and Custodial Services 
Project

Stantons International $200,000

DCS0382009 Purchase of Transportable Accommodation for Greenough Regional Prison Ausco Modular $318,450

DTF48108A-1 Supply of electricity to Department of Corrective Services Alinta Gas $20,628,901

Total $37,048,637
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